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GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Chronology ef Ordinary Processes

In order to facilitate their reading, it is fitting that the publishing
of the ordinary processes be preceded by some chronological details of their
development, The information contained in this chronology has been taken
directly from the acts of the processess: I omit the source, this general note
being sufficient. As to details concerning havpenings in Rome, nanuscripts
were used. Acts and report for the cause of the beatification of the Vene-
rable Servant of God, Jerome Miani, founder of the Congregation of Somasca,
are kept in the archives of the Proctor General of the Somascan Fathers in
Rome,

SOMASCAN PRIMARY SOURCES

1. As a whole, the ordinary processes of the beatification of St.
Jerome comprise a period of about five years,

One can discern three phases in their development., The first, from 1611
to the end of 1613, is a period of rerearch: proceeding without any clear
idea, with difficulty, more by individual initiative than otherwise, meeting
obstacle in seeking the right way.

The starting point is from Somasca., August 10th, 1610, at the request
of the Fathers of Somasca, the Vicar General of Milan, Andrea Perbenedetto,
delegated Antonio Vimercati, Forensic Vicar of Clginate, to introduce a cano-
nical process to gather information concerning the graces obtained and mi-
racles performed by St. Jerome Miani, The 9th of September following, in
Somasca, the first two witnesses were questioned: eighty~five-year-old Ber-
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nardino Fontana from Carenno and eighty-two-year-old Antonio Ondei from Somas-
ca, Both had known Blessed Jerome, The initiative was taken by the Somascan
Father Bartolomeo Brocco. Then months went by before the process was resumed,
July 19th, 1611, Bernardino Fontana was again questioned and with him four
others testified,

A few days later, August 7th, 1611, in Vicenza, Father Francesco Zoia,
Superior of the religious house of Saints Filippo and Giacomo, had asked the
Vicar General to question the Somascan Brother Giovanni Melone from Como.

In 1612, they began to be oriented., In February, the Father General in
Milan sent the process of Olginate to the General Procurator in Rome, Father
Alessandro'Boccolo, who had it examined by Monsignor Pegna, The latter noted
that the procedure was not correct and he undertook to draw up .a better way
in which to establish the prosesses. Unfortunately he died at the end of Au-
gust without having fulfilled his wish,

By order of the Republic, the Venetian Ambassador in Rome had an inter-
view with the Fope on the subject, He spoke kindly about it., In October,
the General Procurator suceeded in receiving from Cardinal Federico Borromeo's
agent a copy of the articles concerning the cause of the beatification of
Saint Charles.

Meanwhile, the first of October, 1612, in Olginate, the process was re~
sumed and it continued to the first half of the month., Ten witnesses were
questioned, among whom was eighty-two-year-old Anastacia De Bassi who had
known Miani, October 15th, the process was sent to the Vicar General in Milan,

Three months later, the 8th of January, 1613, in Treviso, before the Vi-
car General Cirstoforo Baldo, two Lateran canons were questioned about the
marvelous liberation at Castelnuovo. They were the prior and the sacristan
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of the monastery of Santa Maria Maggiore. On this occasion, two documents
were added to the process: the story included in the fourth book of miracles
of the Madonna Grande and in the votive tablet preserved at the same shrine,

Meanwhile, January Zth and February 1st, 1613, two memorials were senv
to the Pope: one from the Somascan Congregation, the other from the Venetian
embassy that had examined the process and granted the title of Blessed to
Miani, The process was delivered the 9th of Fetruary:to the Congregation of
Rites which had entrusted reexamination to Cardinal Capponi. The answer was
received in September; there were substantial omissions in the process. A
1ist of these was prepared by Signor Pellegrino Puglia and sent to the Father
General and to Father Giovanni Calta that they might complete the process by
examination of other witnesses.

2. At the end of 1613 came another important phase of the processes
that lasted all through 1614, In great part, credit is attributed to Father
Calta,

From November 21st to the 30th, the process was held in Bergamo, in the
presence of the Vicar General Orazio de Federici, Father Calta was duly ap-
pointed Procurator. The tribunal met in three different places: in the choir
of the converts of the Maddalena Church, where three witnesses living in that
sacred place were examined; in the church of the Annunciation, where four nuns
were questioned; and finally, in the parlor of fthe monastery of Matris Domini
for the interrogatisn of other three nuns, Simultaneovslywith the informa-
tive process, there was questioning concerning a grace attributed to Miani,
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obtained by a certain Sister Veronica Manenti from the Matris Domini convent.
This process was held during various hearings, the 23rd, 27th, 30th of Novem-
ber, 1613, and the 9th and 13th >f January, 1614. Another phase of the pre-
cess of Somasca was the two hearings, the 28th of November, 1613, and the 18th
of February, 1514, concerning a grace obtained by the intercession of Miani
for Caterina Volpi., The process of Somasca was closed April 2nd, 1514, with
the questioning of the last witness, the pastor of Carenno, Roberto Colleoni,

During the process of Bergamo, the 27th of November, 1613, Father Calta
went to Como where, before the Vicar General, Nicola Cocquin, a very impor-
tant witness, was questioned: the Somascan Brother Giovanni Psolo della Torre,
ninety years old, who, as a child, had been cared for by Saint Jerome,

From Janvary 28th to February 6th, 1614, there was also the ordinary pro-
cess held in Pavia before Filippc Leone, Vicar General of the Diocese. The
Procurator was always Father Calia, appointed by Father General de Domis with
power of Attorney for Francesco Ferario of Milan, dated January 7th, 1614,

In this process, one finde the interrogation prepared with three questions for
witnesses: the life and holiness, miracles of Saint Jerome, identification cf
writing, of integrity of Father Ivangelista Dorati, whose La Breve Instrut-
tione della vita di Messer Girolamo Miari should be obtaired for the process,
The four witnesses cuestioned were the ‘omascan priests Agostino Valerio, the
30th September, Biario Ganna, February 4th, Giovanni Battista Perego, February
6th, and the Cleric Marino de Marini, January 20th,

A process was necessary io show the integrity of the Salodian Stefano
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Bertazzoli, priest and friend of Miani, from whom Dorati had heard directly
the news related in his Breve Instruttione. Father Calta was therefore gran-
ted another very unreserved power of attorrney to help the cause of Maurizio
de Domis, Superior General. Dated March 19th, 1614, it was drawn up in Bres-
cia by Lelio de Nobile, notary. The following day, March 20th, from the Vi-
car General of Brescia, Antonio Alberio, Father Calta obtained permission to
hold a process in Salo!'. It was held in two sessions before the forensic
vicar of Salo', Ippolito Barozzi, on April 16th and September 20th, 1614,
Three witnesses were heard in the first as well as in the second session. Oc-
tober 1st., the process was closed and sent to Brescia.

June 3rd, 1614, there was another brief process in Bergamo concerning a
cure of Iucia Brigida de Pelegrinis from the orphans' home, Besides her,
two other women from the  same home were questioned-

July 26th, therz was another hearirg in Bergamo before the Vicar General,
Orazio Federico. Ir the name of the atsorney, Father Calta, Father Nicola
Salvoldo asked that a copy of the lette- from Brother Girolamo from Molfetta
be inserted with the deed: To the bclioved in Christ, Fathers and Brothers,
Servants of the To:zr and their orphaned children in the homes in Lombardy.
This letter was in introduction to The Dialogue of the Spiritual Union of
God with the Soul by the Capuchin Bartolomeo from the city of Castello, prin-
ted in “ilan in 1539,

November 18th, 1614, the process of Bergamo ended with the questioning
of Antonio da Gromo. witness.

September 11th, 1614, the Vicar General of Brescia, Antonio Alberio, de-

legated the archpriest of Cemmo, Antonio Ricci, to hear some of the witnesses

| from Garda. The process was held September 14th and three witnesses were : -
heard, They told of the bread miraculously kept by Martino Martellini as tes-
tified to at the proccss of Pavis, September 15th, Calta went to Brescia with
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a copy of the proceedings,

The 20th of September Father Calta held the second session of the pro-
cess of Salo'. He was in Padus the first of October., He had the Vicar, Mar-
co Antonio Zamboni, open the process. The only witness heard that day was a

seventy-one-year-old clergyman, pastor of the cathedral, Bartolomeo Crivelli,
who had been in Somasca,

The process of Venice ended October 17th, It was held in the parlor of
the Sisters of St, Alvise, before the vicar general Roberto Cusano. Testimony

was given by the prioress of the monastery, Sister Corona Venier and tvo nuns,
Sara Barbaro and Michela Malipiero,

Meanwhile, in Genova, November 20th, before the Vicar General Lelio Tasti,

the Genoese process sas held, at which tae lay Somascan Brother Bernardino
Aquila was questioned,

3. At the ernd of 1614, the proceedings werz considered closed, Mean-
while, legal copies had been obtained for further development: February 73th,
1614 for the process of Pavia, September 18th, for that of Como, October 18t, ,
" v that of Ealo', October 2nd, that of Padva, COctober 15th, that of Treviso,
Cctober 20th, that of Venice and November 24th, that of Genova. The first six
months of 1615 were given over to securing copies of the other proceedings:
April 25th, for that of Somasca, April 30th, of Bergamo, June 17th, of Como
and June 27th, of Vicenza.

There 61111 remained two rather important witnesses to be questioned in
Milan, July 6th, 1615, Father Calta gave the Vicar General Mario Antonio the
articles on which he was to base the proceedings. The following day, Don
Bernardino Borroni, pastor of Santa Maria at Vicenza, was questionsd and Au-
gust 4th, the Somascan Father Girolamo Novelli, witness, who contributed the
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the most precious information of the entire ordinary process., On September
28th, an authenticated copy of this process was obtained.,

From this moment began the long task concluded May 26th, 1623, by the
introduction for canonisation of Miani by Pope Gregory XV.




CHRONOLOGICAL ORDER OF ACTS AND PROCESSESS

1. SOMASCA ( 9 September 1610 - 12 April 1614 )
2. VICENZA ( 7 August 1611 )

3. TREVISO ( 8 January 1613 )

4. BERGAMO ( 21 November 1613 =~ 3 June 1614 =~ 8 November 1614 )
5, COMO ( 27 November 1613 )

6., PAVIA ( 28 January 1614 )

7. CEMMO ( 14 September 1614 )

8, PADUA ( 1 October 1614 )

9, VENICE ( 17 October 1614 )

10, GENOVA ( 20 November 1614 )

11, MTIAN ( 6 July 1615 )




( 9 September 1610 - 12 April 1614 )




ORDINARY PROCESS OF SOMASCS
(Sept. 9, 1610 - fpril 12, 1614)

INTRODUCTION

1. MMUSCRIPTS
The menuscripts at our disposition are four.

The first is codex D 202 of the general archive of the Somascan fathers
of Genova: icte et Processus sanctitatis vitae et miraculorum venerabilis pe-
tris Hieronymi femiliani /nno Domini MDCYV. It contrins copy of gll the ordi-
nary processes made . by the milanese notory Carlo Francesco Ferrerio in 1615.
The manuscript is taken from a copy made on the original by the notery Marino
Cole, the same of the process, and legalized by Francesco Cola cn [pril 25, 16
15. It occupies the f. 43r-59r. The second occupies f. 37r-41v end is taken
from a copy made by notary Giacomo intonio Cerutti and legalized on November
29, 1614 by the Vicar general of Milano /ntiloco frcengelo. The numeraticn
of the peges indicated in our edition refers to this manuscript.

The second codex is kept also in the general archive of Genova end is
marked T 208. Because the last foglio fell, it's not possible to know the
name of the notery by which it was made. It is certainly coming from the copy
of the proccss that was sent to the Milanese curiz, because it's the only" ma-
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nuscript reporting also the letter with which the vicar forane of Olginszte
accompenied the mail of the testimonies to the vicaer general. It contains
only the first of the two processes. It's made of f. 20,

The third manuscript is contained in codex 1350 of the Correr Library of
Venices Varia ad b, Hieronymi femilieni congregationis Someschae fundatoris
cancnizationem spectantia. This codex is on the typo of manuscript D 202 of
the Genove archive and carries the sipgnature of the same notery Carlo Frencesco
Ferrsrio. The first process is found in 1350/3 f. 1r=-15v; there are two co-
pies of the second: one in 13%50/3, f. 65v-69v and the other in 1350/1, f. 55r-
59v.

Some testimonies given to the ordinary process of Somasce were inserted
in the acts of the apostolic processes. It's about the depositions of the
witnesses Eernardino Fontana, fntonio Ondei, fndrea Volpi, Roberto Colleoni,
Martino Moioli(see Mediolenensis Canonizationis Beati Hieronymi femiliani
Patritii Veneti et Congregationis Somaschae Fundetoris, Processus Remissoria-
les fabriceti Mediolani et Somaschae; processo di Somasca, f.61r-64r; irch.
delle procura genersle del Padri Somaschi, Roma). Wwhile the apostolic pro-

i cess of Somesca was celebrated, on October 26, 1627, the procurator Giovanni C
Calta recquired the remissorial judges to receive the depositions of said wit-
nesses nlraady dead. futhentic copy of their testimony was furnished by the
notary Eonctto Arrigoni of Caprino, who wos keeping the acts of notary Marino

| Cole, The codex of the erchive of the general procuration is authentic copy

| of the apostolic process, it was executed by the notary of the sucred congre-

| gation of the Rites Clearco Busco and legalized on fpril 1629.

Fxcept for the chenge of some words, due almost always to evident errors
of trenscription, among the different manuscripts there are no relevent diffe-
rences. The dictation is the ssme; the differences in the orthography reflect
the different culture of the copyists.




The text of the two processes of Somasce has never becn edited and it was
alrest not exploited by the Seint's biographers.

2. THF PROCTESS

The one of Somasca was the first of the ordinery procicses for the cause
of beatificstion of St. Jerome Miani. It was sclicited by the Somascans with
direct request (supplica) to the genersl vicer of Hileno /ndreca Perbenedetto,
who on ‘ugust 30, 1610 wrote to the parish priest snd forsane vicar of Olginete,
5o thst he would provide to satisfy the request,

The questioning of the witnesses started on September 9 in Somasca with

the deposition of Bernardino Fontena. (On the same dey elso /ntonic Ondel was
interrogated.

The process was picked up on July 19, 1611, after almcst one year of in-
terruption. /ndrea Volpi and Bernardino Fontana were interrozcted for the

1 § ) O
second time, and Santo Brini, Davide Cecla Benaglis, Pictre Cantoni.

The first phase was then concluded. The parish wriest of Clginate sent
the testimonies to Milano. The depesitions of the genersl fether of the Somas-
cans were sent te Rome to the general procurstor /lesssndre Boccoli in order
to get his oninion.

The general procurator trensmitted them on February 6, 1612 to }onsignor
Pegne who exemined them and gave them beck at the beginning of ey with his
obscrvestions. He was then requested to "give a gocd formula for making the
process's he promised many times, "but then died at the end of ‘ugustn (/cts
and news for the beatification of venersble servant of God Jerome Miani, ar-
chive of genersl procuration of the Somsscan fathers, BRome, page 1). Father
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Bocchi>cquld then get from Cerdinal Federicc Borromen's agent a copy of the
articles made for the process of St. Charles end on October 5 he sent them to
comascs to father Giovanni Calta.

Mcanwhile on Cctober 1st the process had started again, especially by the
initiative of father Bartolomeo Broccc, superior and narish priest of Somasca.
The. new quvstionings.followed a2 more precise formete, which, if it has the
merit of fcurnishing scme. information of the person of the vitnesses, vincu-
lsted , in a certain way, the depositions on a fixed pattern.

Oon Octcber 1st in Olginate were interropated Pletro de Pescarenico, Gioven
Pietrc Robbinti, fnastasia de Bassi: on QOctober A the nriest Foberte Colleonds

on the 5th father Bertolomeo Erocco and Battist: Rolis: on Oclober 14 Oristo=
foro fmigoni, Gilovenni mtonic Eolls, Tranecsco Moioli end pudenzia fmigoni.

| on October 25, 1612 the viear of Olyinete closed the process and trans-
mitted it to the vicar genersl fntiloco Ireengelo. Sixteen witnesses had been
interrcgated, four cf which had known Miani.

Coby of the acts wegsent to Rome. On Jeanuery 4, 1613 the general procu-
rator, introduced by the Venetisn ombussador, presented a memoriel to the
sope "so that he would see the process on the life of fether Miani, in order
to obtain the tithe of blessed." [t a second memorial of the Venellan am=
bassador of Februsry 1st it was enswered: mvideantur scripturae", these were
therefore brought on Februsry 9 to the secretary of the congregation of the
rites. They were given beck to the senersl procurator at nid September with
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the answer that there “were essential lackings for reaching the intent," The
procurator transmitted then the "fagcicolcto attorney Pellegrino Puglia and
on September 26 he was writing: "He gave me a note of the defects, which I
sent to father genersl and to father Calta so thet they would supply with the
repetition of the witnesses" (/cts and news, cit. page 2).

We have no knowledge that the witnesses had been reinterrogated; never-
theless the observations were useful for the other processes which started on
November 1613,

# second process wes celebrated in Somasca from November 28, 1613 to
fpril 2, 1614. TIt's subject was the grace obtained by Caterina Volpi of So-

masca, slresady narrated in the first process by her father in law /ndrea Volpi.

On November 28, 1613 in the Church of St. Bertolomeo of Somasca was in-
terrogated the graced Citerina wife of fndrea’ Volpi; on Februery 18, 1614
the monther-in-law, also a Catering, wife of /ndrea Vopli, then the obstetri-
tian Pasquelina Volpi end Lucia Mroldi sister of Caterina, all from Somasca.

On the same oy Martino Moicli was heard and on Ipril 2 the priest Roberto
Colleoni, curate of Garenno.

Notary in bot: processes was Marino Cola of Corte.

On fpril 2, 1614 the vicar forane of Olginete closed the process and
transmitted it to the viear general of Milano,
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0f the first process we will record the integreal text. Of the second we
transcribe the depositions of Moioli and of Colleoni, while we omit the ques-
tioning of the other witnesses, because they talk only about the grece obtained
by Ceterina Volpi and do not contain news which interest the 1ife of Miani.

3, THE WITNESSES

sixteen witnesses were interrogated in the first process of Scmasca and
six in the second. Some were heard twice: Bernardino Fontana on September 9,
1610 and on July 19, 1611. Roberto Colleoni on Octcber 4, 1612 and on ipril
2, 1614. MNot keeping in mind the first four of the sccond process, the wit-
nesses are therefore seventeen. Four of them knew Mienis Bernardino Fontana,
mtonic Ondei, fnastasia de Bassi and Cristoforo fmigoni.

It is the case of people who were born end lived, or anyway deeply in-
serted (like for the priest colleoni and fether hrﬁacr) in thet pert of the
San Mertino Valley, where Miani pasred his lest years of life. 8ix are from
somzsce,three of (Olginate, three from Cerenno, two from the little berrio of
Saina, one from Vercurago, one from Rassino, one from the pastello of Leccos

Their age is between the 89 of Pietro Cantoni and the 55 of Roberto Col-
leoni. /M age, as we could expect, rather high. Six are over 80, four bet-
ween 70 snd 80, six between 60 and 70, only one less than 60.

/mong them there are two priests: Roberto Collenni. perish priest in Ca-
rennc and Rartolomeo Brocco, a Somascan religious and superior of Somasca.
Fifteen are men, twd are women: Measbasia de Bassi and Prudenzia Mmigoni.




We can know also the profession and social condition of some of them:
Pietro da Tesraraloo ! ~ fislicrman. Giovanni Mtonio Robbiati lives with the
spinning work of his daughter, [nastasia de Bassi is an obstetrician, Battis-
ta Bolis and Christoforo fmigoni raise cettle end do small artisan works,
Giovenni fntonio Bolis is a weaver and makes wool clothes. They are all
persons of the common people; their properties are modest, as modest their
income.

L R

it the exception of the four witnesses de visu the others go back to the
testimony of other people. Sometimes these are very generic: "from various
bersons," 'by hear gsay", "many; pecple" which now I den' t remember”, "public
say end fame®, imanv people who knew, saw and practised him." Reverend (Colleo-
ni gathered from "z-me parishioners of Carenno, very old"; the two Ondei from
Saina heard telkin; "from all the elders of Saina,"

Fer varicus witnesses the source of their news is the family enviromment:
"I heard his r’‘asz from my mother, Caterina", who was the sister of the two
Beirelli brothers, wh> had followed Mianij; "I heard his namessid by quondam my
father and ny mothern, says /nastesia de Bassi, even if she had known him as

a child; "I heard hie name from various and particulary from my. father", who

used to help ieni as occasional worker; "I heard his name from my mother, who
kaew him.n

Sometimes the names of the people the witness gathered the name from, are
indicctel  some of these peaple are cumpletely unknown others are named alsc
in other yrocesses. For the first time appear: Polific Dadda of Olginate; the
zucca, gentlemen of Mirate, Giacomo called Ciuliolo of Vercurago, Martino Volpe
of Saina. Of Battistine Moioli called Judge, of Vercurago, there is mention
in the process of Milano by Gir-l:mo Novelli. Pattista da Romanp was an orphan
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gathered by Miani, who remained among the Somsscans: he was among those who
kept mostly lively the memory of the Saint in the first fifty years after his
death and the source of informations of many witnesses in the processes.

M so the circumstances in which the news were gathered are various. Some
affirmations are generic: "publicly; always hear say; I heard his name many
times; many times talking...". Others are more circumstantiated: "in the oc-
casion of talking about the Somascan Congregation', min the occasion of going
to Somesce and to the Rock of Somasca accompanied by some gentlemen of Merate,"
min the occesion of getting shelter in the Tremasasso grotto" to repair from
the rain which did not allow to continue walking.

¥R ¥ K X X ¥ ¥

We detein ourselves briefly on four witnesses de visu.

The first is Bernerdino Fontanc. He was from Carenno, born around the
I 1525: when he deposed he was eightyfive yeesrs old. fs a child he could see
ct. Jerome in his town, in the exercise of the apostolate of charity, "dres-—
sed with long black dress", even if he wes not saying mass. Other news were
gathered from what his father wes narrating. His father was perticipating on
Ssunday to the gathering the Saint was conducting in Somasca. In 1626 Fontene
was already dead.

Mntonio Ondei is from Somasca. Born around 1528, as a child he knew
Miani. He was eighty-two (82) when called to depose. He remembers kissing
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the body in the coffin, in the church, in Somasca,
zoleni, the burial in the church of st. Eartolomeo,
ings with the poor children, his companions.

f1so the healing cof Jaz-
his life full of suffer-

Mastasia de Robati of Qlginste, widow of Luigi de Bassi; She is an obs-
tetrician, From the parents Francesco and Caterins she heard talking about
Miani, She slso remembers seeing him when she wzs about ten,when he was go-
ing to Olginzte with four or six childreni to teach the christian doctrine,
She will be interrogated also in the apostolic process of September 17, 1626
and, not with standing thé one hundred years, this second testimony will re-
sult richer than the one given-at the ordinary process (see Mediolanensis Ga-
nonizationis Beatl Hieronymi’ gemiliani city process of Milano, f. 153 s.).

The fourth witness de visu is Cristoforo fmigoni of Somasca. He knew St.
Jerome as a child also: "he was a man not too tall, but of venerable aspect.n
His testimony includes some unknown details: he lived in Somasca in a smeall

house, they were cooking in the houses of the Ondei, used to work manually

end weave wool, he used also to have some sheep and goats to feed the children.

In & historic profile these testimonies do not heve particular importance;
the fact that they come from four witnesses de visu will help to release the
cause from the juridic hindrances in which it will be entengled beceuse of
chenges in the procedures of the nrocesses of beatification., The pestulator
father fianfrancesco Beldini nerrstes thet in 1747, already et the vigil of

the beastification rose the aifficulty that, in the sbsence of the de visu wit-
nesses, there was a need of four not two miracles.

The difficulty could only
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be supereted because, looking back patiently to the ‘process of Somasca, he
found our four witnesses (/cts and news cit., p. 121, 147) .

4. THF TFSTIMONY

The testimonies gathered in the process of Somasca refer to the time St.
Jerome lived in it, that is from the last months of 1534 to his death which
hap rened in the night between the 7 and the 8 of February of 1537. It's a-
bout two yesrs and a half, but interrupted by various absences: in the first
months of 1535 he went to Como for the foundation of @ plzce for orphens; in
the same yesr there was & trip to Venice which lasted various months; he was
sbsent slso at the end of 1535 for the foundation of Pavia and at mid 1536
of Brescia. '

: The depositions of the witnesses do not allow to get a cleer ldea of the
places inhebited by Miani in Somesca. Véarious are mentioned. To a first ha-
bitst ‘at the Castle seems to hint Battista Bolis and Giovan Pietro Robbiati.
Then he had to go down "to Somasca, in a certain house"; in the houses of the
Ondei they werec cooking. Repeatedly are mentioned Tremasasso and Eremo. At
the Tremasasso he wes living in a grotto, sleeping on a living stone with a
rock under his head as pillow. /t the eremo, in order to protect himself from
the wind, he had to close it with a well and with some reeds the groto where
he was retiring. He died in the house of the Ondei.

To the questions whet kind of life St. Jerome was condueing in Somascas
the answer . was choral: an austere life of penance, It wes not heard that he
was going to est in any house; he wes eating the hardest bresd, the worse
found ir. the house: he was drinking wine only rarely; he used to fast ofteng
he used to discipline himself to mortify the flesh, to sleep on boards or on




strow or ‘an » stone.

*-X-******

In Somaseca the main esre of Miani were the orphans with whom he was' sha-
ring his life, 1so here th testimonieg follow almost with the seme words :
"he used to gather around him orphin children - Sa¢ys Battista Bolis = ‘sick &nd
weelthys the sick he wsg curing or had taken cure and he himsel f used to ywesh
their head; the weelthy he hag taught. He uged te go in Procession with' the
children in groups he wag feeding with 'the bread they werie finding the child=
ren and the others in the house and he used to €t the darkest . n }nest;siﬁ de
Bassi, with the attention proper to, & woman, addss. the uged to wash himsd £ even
their shirts ang care a lot sbout them,

The Somascan Bertolomeo Brocco, attentive to the educeative problems,
stresses the intention of St. Jerome for not, mondinating nor living by alms
but of own work and for this purpose he was keeping the children busy in var-
ious activities, imong the companions of Miani there was & book binder sng
turner, Cristoforo migoni remembers them busy in menual works and weaving
woel. They worc raising some sheep and foats. Iether Bartolomeo Eroceo was
still keeping three or four donkeys "ranzinin which were uged for working the
80il. They were helping those in need. The priest Bartolomeco Colleoni of
Carennc remembers thems after the time of the office gt the Medonna ang the
mess they were zoing in the fields to ecut forage, harvest grain and help the

armers for charity,

The orphanswere al so receiving an instruction, There is the name of g
priest Jerome who used to teach., Some withnesses attribute to ileni the found-
ation of mthe School of Somasca to teach the children,n

In particul ar the orphans were instructed in the christian doctrine which

Iy

they also were then tecaching the children of the Surrounding, To 01~
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ginate: #"They were coming on helidays to teach the christian doctrine to boys
and girls of this lend"j fnastasia de Bassis remembers that, for ths purposes
Miani was coming dowmn from Somascé to Olginate with four or six orphans and
with a certein priest Paolo. Ve find mention of a double type of catecheti-
cal teaching, which is matching with the two booklets of fra Regilendos the
instruction and the dispute. The priest Colleoni "knows for having heard
that father used to teach in Carenno and in other ‘places the christian doc-
trine with grest fruit for all."

In the depositions appear also the names of some companions of the Saints
the Dominican fra Tommaso who used to preach in those villages, the priest
Jerome who was teaching, the priest ‘Paclo, Giovan Psetro Borelli and ons of
his brothers surnamed Rodesco, a Francesco Cattaneo. Others were occasionally
helping the institutien as Battistino of Vercurago, called the judge.

X ¥ ¥ X ¥ X ¥ ¥

In the de visu testimonies are not missing some brief descriptions rep-
resenting vividly an image or an episode kept in the memory.

Here is how Bernerdino Fontana préseits Miani and his poor: "He used to
go with a long bleck dress and the other poor used a black apron with short
dress down to the lace of the socks."

ratonic Ondei narrates how the Saint answered the hostility of Mazzoleni:
"T remember that & messer /ntonio Vazzoleni, notary in Calolzio, suffered be-
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cause of a certain infirmity. Being seid father dead, he vowed himsclf to

him and prayed to him and was liberated, /nd everybody was wondering why tlis
Mazzoleni, when mentioning them, he was calling thenm lice; and also becsause
seld father intended to put foot in the land of Calolzio, but Mazzoleni op~=
posed him ssying that he did not want to help lice because in a short while
they would have chased away the others,n

The priest Colleoni remembers a congregation ingtituted by St. Jeromes
"In the land of Somesca he had instituted a spiritual ecademy or congregation
in which he used to gather various in great number. /mong them there were
some from Carenno, far from Somasca about two miles of bad road. This cong-
regation was made on holideys", . Of this makes mention St. Jerome in one of
his letters from Venice: "Ser Zuan Pietro...is not to forget to use all the
best means that God would inspire him to have the people in the Valley to per-
severe in their religious practices.

x X K K ¥ X ¥

The precess of Somasca transmits us, after eighty years, the remembrance
stuck in the mind and in the heart of those eimple people. It's a choral
testimony which taiks about some fundemental themes: the austerity of a life
of penance, the loving care of the poor,  the image of the holy man.
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ORDIN/RY PROCESS OF SOMASC/

sub sigillo nemini psnditas ad eam iuxta ordinem et onus

wirendc. Cul me etiam atque etlam commendo. Vale ctc.
q q _ ,‘

fore scriptum ut infra, videlicet.

Martini, districtus Bergomi, diocesis very Medioleni,

T1lustrissime et reverendissime domine., In executione facultetis mihi
concessae per illustrissimum et reverendissimum dominum /ndream Benedictum,
tunc vicarium generalem curiae archiepiscopelis Mediolani, sub die trigesimo
mensis augusti 1610 praedicto, adhibito mecum notario apostolico mihi fido,
introclusas informetiones super vita, miraculis et gratiis
Hieronimo Pmiliano congregationis Somasche funcdstore fideliter sumpsi atque .
mihi impositum trans-
mitto; in quibus sunt innctae nonnullae informationes tunc temporis sumptae
'et iam transmissae, quod feci ad evitendum labores et expensas meas denuo per-

. reverendo patre

Det. in terre de Olignate cap. pleb., die ¥¥V mensis octobris 1612.

Subscript. Illustrissimae dominationis vestraé deditissimus ervus nto-
nius Meria Vicomercatus, praepositus et vicerius forancus Olignati.

[ tergo: Illustrissimo et reverendissimo domino fntiloco Ircangelo iuris
utriusque doctori et curiae archiepiscopalis Mediolani vicario generali.

(f. 43r) Reperitur in filo diversorum testium examinatorum inter alia sic

1610 die iovis nono mensis septembris, in loco de Sommasca vellis Sancti

Coram multum reverendo praesbitero ftonio Mariz Vicomercato honorando
praeposito et vicario foraneo plebis (lginati, delegato per litteras delega=-
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tionis tenoris sequentis, videlicet:

fndrers Perbenedictus, iuris utrisque doctor,'prothonotarius apostolicus
ac curiae archiepiscopelis Mediolani vicarius-generalis, dilecto nobis in
Christo reverendo domino praeposito Olginati et vicario foraneo,

Preces nobis oblatae fuerunt nomine reverendorum dominorum clericorum
regulerium congregationis Somaschae, quibus a nobis postul stum fuit, ut ali-
quem ad pracserintum sacrorum carionum ad sumendas informationes de gratiis et
miraculis, ut dicitu, a reverendo patre Hieronimo eiano felicis r
elus congregationis fundatore, in terra Somaschee huius Medi
ac aliis in locis factis, delegaremus. Nos huiusmodi precibus annuentes, de
tua probitate, scientia ac rerum usu confisi, tibi ipsas informstiones sumendas,
servatis servandis, adhibito tecum notario apostolice a te eligendo, facultatem
concedimus de mandato illustrissimi cardinalis archiepiscopi Mediolani et ime
pertimur, dummodo eas informationes occlusas ac sigillo tuc munitas 20 nos

neque remisse te geras. In

ecordationis,
¢lanensis diocesis

transmittas, ac in re tanti momenti non leviter
quorum, etc,

Fx palatio archiepiscopali Mediolani, die 30 augusti 1610. Signstum: n-
drees Perbenedictus Vicarius gencralis. Subscriptum: Tudovicus Barbavaria ca-

nonicus ordinsrius et cancellarius archiejiscopalis. Ft sigillat, sigillo
Sancti ’'mbrosii.

Constitutus dominus Bernardinus Fontana filius quondam /‘ntonii de Careno

dictae plebis et diocesis Mediolani, testis vocatus pro veritate dicenda ete.,
qui iurevit ete., tactis ete.
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Interrogated

He answered

Nuestion

He answered

Miestioned

He enswered

Muestioned

do you remember knowing a certein father Jerome Bmiliani, called
Miani, who used to live in Somesce? (f. 43r).

Yes, Sir. I remember secing and knowing said reverend father
Jerome Fmiliani, because I remember he wes accompanied by ano-
ther father called fra Tomaso. I remember they wcre coming
from Carenno bringing sick children mostly with scabies and
they were taking care of them; they were accompanied by Gioven
Pietro Borelli from Vercurago who leter got outr of the Congre-
tion and returned to his house in Vercurago; said fra Tomaso
used to preach to the people in chruch.

Do you know if said father Jerome wes saying mass or not?
No, sir, said father Jerome was not saying mass, but he was
weering a long black dress; the other poor were weiring a
bleck epron with short dress down to the lzces of the sockss

How did father Fmiliani and the others usc to 1live and dress?

They were locking for alms end they wers well treated; but as
far as I know they hsd no income.

Do you remember if ssid father Jerome cceme to live in Scmascéa,
how long he lived and wherc he diled?
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He answered

Yes, Sir, I remember that in Somasca said fether Jerome was
not living nor any of his congresation, but therc was o oriest
, Giovanni Fontana; I don't remerber how leng he livads T know
E well he died in Somasca.

Muesticned

1e

Did you go to the body of said fother and do you know if, while
his body wes here over the earth, he mede greces or any miracle?

| He answered : I don't remember enything but that & Messer ‘fntonic Mezzol eni

ic
| of Cololzio, a notary, gentleman and henered, had & certain
sickness and pain, I don't remember what sickness it wigs he

Y

went to the cadaver of said father, whilc it was not interred
yet, preyed and was libereted of such infirmity (f. 44r). This wes publicly
said; 1 was then & child and I heard it saig by various parsons, in different
Places: but T did not go to the body.

Muestion

How long is it that seid fethir is dead end buried, &nd where
has he been buried?

He enswered : I don't remember exactly how long cgo he wos dead but it's a

long time; he was buried here in Somesca because I heeard it
: seid publicly.

Muestion : Whet kind of life did said fathcer live?

! He answered : He must heve made a 1ife of penance since he was living with
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those poor which he was teking with ldm for mendiceating, he
was mendicating with them processionallys it was never heard
that he would go into somebody's house to eat or for a bene=
" quet.

Super generalibus recte respondit. fetatis annorum 85 in circa,
miibus habitis, fuit licentiatus.
Die dicta, coram ut supra.

Constitutus dominus /ntonius de Cndeis filius quondam demini Toanni dicti
Besehi de Somascha, testis vocatus etc., et cui delatum fuit iuramentum veri-
tatis dicendae etc., et qui iuravit etc., tactis ete.

Nuestion : do you remember knowing a Venetianfather Jerone Fniliani, who
was 1living here in Somasca? N g

He ansvered : Yes, Sir, I remember seeing and knowing him and whan he died
I went to church when he was in a case and I kissed him.

Ouestion :+ How long did he stay here in Somasca =nd whet did he do?

He ancwered : Oaid father, as far as I remember, I think he lived here in
Somasca for about six or seven years; the truth is that he
used to come and go, but since 1535 he stopped here where he
lived until death; he died in 1%36 or 15%7. His body was bu-
ried here in tne éhurch of St. Bartolomed of Somasca” and then
thoy made a sepulcre of "quadrelli' sbove ground, but the
happy memory of blessed Charles had him removed and buried un-

derground (f. 44r).

Mestions + Do you know it said father, dead or alive, did miracles or
graees? ;




He answered : I remember that a messer intonio fiszzoleni, notary in Cololzio,
was suffering for an infirmity, which I don't know what it wes
and everybody was wondering why said Mszzoleni, in mentioning
them was calling them lice, and alsc why sald father wanted
to put foot in the land of Cololzio, but such irzzoleni onpo-
sed him saying he did not want lice to be helped, because in
a short while they would have chased away the others.

Muestion t  Vhat kind of life was seid fathier Jerome living?

He answered sald father wes gathering sround him orphans, sick and healthy
ones: the sick he had taken ceare of, and the healthy educated.
He was golng with those children processionally looking for
alms in those lands. He had also with him brother Tomasc of the
order of St. Dominic, who wes preaching sround in different ple-
ces, mainly in Olginete. They were living poorly of alms, with-
out income, as far as I know.

Nuestion ¢+ Did he have cother fethers with him?

He answered :  Yes, Sir, he had others. fmong others there wes a certain
Francesco Cataneo, a book binder, a pricst Jerome who wos
taking care of the school, teaching and one working at the lathe.
They 811 tosether were governing said children.

Subdens ex se (adding by himself): When he died and said Mazzoleni was gr an-
ted the above said grace, they were saying thest said father had given
good for bad, because said ‘lazzoleni had made opposition to him, as a-
bove, so that they wouldn't put foot in Cololzios nonetheless, through
the merits of said father he was liberated, as above,
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Miestion s

He answered

Super generalibus recte respondit. petatis annorum 82 in circa.

miibus habitis, fuit licentiatus.

(f. 45r) 1611 die martis decimo nono mensis iulii.
Coram suprascripto multum reverendo domino praeposito delegato.

Tominus Andreas Vulpis filius quondam domini’ Ioannis Ambrosii de Somasca,
testis productus per multum reverandum dominum Bartholomeum Brocchum praeposi-
tum venerandi capituli Sancti Bartholomei de Somasca dictae venerandae congre-
gationis Somaschae, cui delatum fuit iuramentum veritatis dicendae etc., et
qui iuravit etc., tactis etc.’

Can you clarify or give information regarding the life or mi-
racles of quondam father Jerome Miani founder of the Somascan
Congregation?

I never knew said reverend father de visu, but by hearsay and
fame I always heard him mentioned as a man of good 1ifc, good
religious and servant of God. I heard from various people
that said father was gathering the poor children he was en-
countering and, in order to feed them, he wes mendicating,
after which he was eating the darkest and hardest bread, gi-
ving the other to his children, which he was also mendicating
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with his own hands when sick. In particular I remenber theat
about a year or more ago my sister in law Catering was giving
birth and it was already three or four days of pain without
giving birth. The "comachin did not know what to do after
exhorting her to do some devotiéns to the Blessed Virgin, I
entend my room VETY nervous, when the memory of said father
Miani came to my mind. Raising the eyes tc Our Lord, I knelt
and prayed said reverend father thet if it wss the will of
Cur Lord, pray His divine majesty for the health of said sis-
ter in law and the child in her womb. T promised by vow to
offer the church of St. Bartolomeo here in Somasca, where

his body is buried, a brass image of my sister in law giving

birth and being it to said church as a vow. In one hour, by
the grace of our rord and said father, she happily gave birth
to a girl, whom she is still giving milk to. whose name is
Francesca (f. 45v). But up to now I haven't kept my vow, I
heve left ordered that said reverend father don Bartolomeo
have it made and I will pay 1it,.

Super generalibus recte respondit. fetstis annorum 71.
Cie dicta, coram ut supra,
Tterun vocatus dominus Bernardinus Fontana, primo loco descriptus et ex-

aminetus, cui deletum fuit luramentum veritatis dicendae etc., et qui iurevit
etc., tactis ete.




Lecta eidem sua depositione de verbo ad verbum ut supra facta et inter=-
rogatus an vera sint ea quas. deposuit, an velit aliquid addere vel diminuere.

He answered H

such deposition of mine is true and I wouldn't tske away any-
thing; I add theat said reverend father, besides the things
said above, used to gather on holideys here in Somasca various
men smong whom there was my father also, and they were re-
maining there until late evening; they wer'e saying that they
were going to the meeting, but I don't know what they were
doing, It's also true, as I said, that he was thought in
life, as well as it has been thought and still is though" af-
ter death, as a man of good and saint. I sew him various
times in Carenno at mass. Nuae omnia cum iuramento affirma=-
vit et affirmat.

Super generalibus recte respondit. petatis annorum 86.

Die dicto, coram ut supre.

Dominus Sanctus de Brinis filius quondem domini Hieronimi, terrae de Ceo-
reno plebis Olginati diocesis Mediolani, testis productus ut suprs per multum
reverendum presbiterum dominum Bartholomeun Broccum praepositum venerendl ca-
pituli Somaschae, cui delatum fuit ijursmentum veritstis dicendae et qui iure-
vit etc., tactis etc. e

Cuesticn :

He answered s

Do you know or have you heerd mentioning & fother Jerome
Miani; how did you hesr him mentioned and by whom?

Yes, Sir. I heard him mentioned by my mother Caterina, daugh-
ter of Giovan Mmtonio Borelli from Somasca.” I heard him men-
tioned as a man of good and very holy life. He did not drink
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wine unless he had cut it with water. He used to discipline
himself to mortify the flesh. He had two good companions
the brothers Giovan: Pietro and the other called Rodesco,
because his mother had come from & place called Rota di Val
Imagns, He used to wash his shirts, which were colored with
blood because of the discipline. He was 2 great servant of
God, He used to medicate the children who were sick and
those they were finding. I remember knowing one Michele, who
was coming mendicating to Carenno; they were saying thet he
was one of the poor of Somasca, but ssid father Jerome was
already dead and that he was the one who instituted the cong-
regation of Somasca. But I didn't ‘see him nor known, becausc
I was born in 1547 and said father wes already dead; but, by
what I remember, T heusrd it from those who kn=w him mentioned
as a great servent of God. Mlso now adays he -is kept as such
because of the works he did. T don't know enything else.

Swoer generalibus recte respondit. fetatis annorum sexaginta quatuor.

Die dicta, coram ut supra,

Dominus David Cola de Benaliis filius quondem domini Toannis fntonii, :
terrae de Vercurago communis de Somasca, testis productus ut suprs, cul de-

latum fuit iuramentum veritstis dicendae etcoy et qui iuravit ete., tactis
etc.

Question : Did you hear about a father Jerome Miani, from whom and how?

He answered : Yes, Sir. I heard many times since I was smell mention soid
father Jerome Miani. I heard that he was a noble Venetian




and that he had come to live in these villages. He was 1i-
ving (f. 46v) a poor life, gathering poor children, sick and
healthy, the sick he had them teken care and the health to
be taught; He was going with said poor children processional-
1y looking for food. He chose as his house a place under

the Rocca, called the eremo of Somasca where he used to live
an austere 1ife. From that place he used to go to the grot-
to cslled Tremasasso remaining there under the grotto, sleep-
ing under a "corna" (horn) which is part of the grotto on
the ground with a rock as'a pillow, living a very sustere
life as a great servant of God. After his death he was buried
here in St. Bartolomeo in a deposit above ground. That de-
posit by the happy memory of St. Chsrles has been open and
placed under ground. FEt aliud nescire dixit.

Super generalibus recte respondit. fetatis annorum 75 in circa.
Die dicta; coram ut suprae.

- Dominus Petrus Cantonus filius quondam domini Antonii habitator. castri
Leuci diocesis Mediolani, testis productus ut suora, et qui iuravit etc.,
tactis etec.

Question : Did you ever hear mention a father Jerome Miani noble Vene-

tian who long time ago came to live to Scmasca, perish of
Olginate and what they were thinking of him?
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He ansgwered ¢t No, Sir. I don't remember knowing him, but I remember him

mentioned many times as a men of good and great servant of

. God who was gathering children, healthy and sick oneg,; medi-
: cating and curing the sick end teaching the healthy, I re-
1 member them saying that he used to come from Somasca once a
week to this Castle of Lecco, a four miles walk, with said
children processionally with the cross in front looking for
alms in order to feed said children, himsclf and the other

| : fathers living with him, They say he is the founder of the
i Somascan Congregation which is now flourishing at Qur Lord's
| honor and universal benefit, T don't know anything else.

e B o e P

Super generalibus recte respondit, Aetatis annorum 89, ut dixit,
! 1612, die lunae primo mensis octobris, in terra de Olginate,

Coram multum reverendo presbitero Ioanne Antonio Maria Vicom

ercato prae-
posito et vicario foraneo Olginati delegato.

Dominus Petrus de Pescarenico filius quondam Baptistae suprascriptae
terrae Olginati, testis vocatus et qui iuravit etc., tactis etc.

Interrogatus cuius exercitii sit et quid habeat in bonis.

Respondit: 1I1 mio essercitio & attendere a pescare; et il mio puo valere
| circa tre mila lire di moneta milanese.
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Interrogetus an hoc anno, tempore paschatis, sit confessus peccata sua,
et cui confessori et in qua ecclesia, et an sumpserit Fucaristiae sacramentum,
et per manus cuius sacerdotis, et in qua ccclesia, et qui erant praesentcs,

He answered . T confessed the last Easter in the lend and church of St.
stefenoe of Garlate, with your permission Mister parish priest
then I received the communion from your lordship mister pa-
rish priest here in the church of St. Agnese of 0lginate with
the concurrence of many people. I :

Question . Were you inquired, accused or processed for any crime?

He enswered : No, Sir, Never in my life have been accused, processed or in-

quired.
Mestion : Do you know why you are going to be examined?
He answered . T think I am called to testify about the religion or founda-

tion of the religion of the reverend fathers of Somasca.

Irterrogzatus a quo fuit requisitus, ut veniret ad se exeminari faciendum,
et per quae¢ verba, et an fuerit sibi dictum super quibus examineri (f. 47v)
debeat, et exprimat totum colloquium desuper factum, dicatque veritatem en
fuerit ab sliquo instructus et sibi dictum vel indicatum quid in genere vel
quid in specie, tali vel tali modo deponat.

He answered ¢ TFermo told me that they wanted to examine me abeout the 1ife
of the founder of the Somascan founder, and nobody told me to

say one thing or another; 1 said that I would have deposed

what I knew it was the truth without being given to me, nor
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Mestion

He answered

Question

He answered

Muestion

He answered

Muestion

He answered

Nuestion.

He answered

promises have been to me, nor do I expect anything out of it.
I will depose in truth all I know that I will be asked,

4re you born in the land of Olginate and how close is Olgi-
nate to the land of Somasca?

Yes, Sir, I was born in that land of Olginate. Olginate is
close to Somasca, as your lordship knows, about one and a
half'mile.

Did you ever hear the name of Jerome Pmiliani or Miani who
used to live in the said above land of Somascs?

Yes, Sir. I heard mentioned a certain mister Jerome Fmilia~
ni or Miani. He is the one who founded a school in Somasca.

If you heard him mentioned, where, why?

I heard him mentioned by many people that how I don't remem-
ber, nor do I remember when. -

Do you know if said Jerome Bniliani was one of the fathers
of the Somascan Congregation and did you know him?

I didn't know him,but I know well that he started the school
of Somasca,I think around the year 1528.

How do you know it and from whom do you know it?

I know it because there is g chronicle. I heard it from
(f. 48r) my father and mister Plifio Mda, who were saying




that said mister Jerome had done good to institute a school
in Somasca to teach the children, they were also coming to
this land of Olginate on holidays to teach the christian
doctrine to the boys and girls of this land.

Nuestion :+ Do you know if said father Emiliani is dead and how long is
it that he is dead?

He answered : Yes, Sir. He is dead, buried in Somesca, but I don't know
with precision, I think between the thirty and the fourty.

= Nuestion : Did you ever visit his sepulcre, and whet was the reason for
. visit it?

He answered ¢ No, Sir. I never visited the burial place of saild Jerome

Mieni.

Nuestion + Did you ever know or hear someone say thet the Emiliani was
a good, just, God fearing man and observing God's command-
ment?

He answered : Yes, Sir. I heard said that ssid Jerome Bnilieni was a man
| of good who was observing the precepts of our ILord and that
1 he was thought of as a saint.

Muestion :  From whom did you here him to be as such?
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He answered

(uestion

He answered

Question

He answered

Question

He answered

I don't remember precisely from whom I hesrd say that he was
a man of good and thought of as a saint.

Did you hear that seaid Jerome made miracles or other graces
obtained through his prayers?

No, Sir. I never heard said Jerome have made any miracle or
any grace.

Do you know said Jerome despised riches, mondane honors and
exercised in prayers and other good works?

I heard that he was gathering poor children whom he was
teaching, curing them if sick, and making many good works,

Which good works was he doing?

When he had put together o quantity in Somasca, he went to
Bergamo, from Bergemo to Milano, and there he was doing the
same; and this (f. 48v) was just after the war and in very
calamitous time. This time he consumed at God's service his

whole patrimony after said poor orphans. He founded the monas-—

tery of Somasca. They were calling them the poor of Somasca.
He was giving them food and wes going around mendicating for
the love of God in order to raise said thildren.
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mestion . Could the truth be different than what above said?

He answered . I said the truth., I cannot say truly anything different than
what I said. Never will it be found different than I sald.

Super ceusis scientiae interrogatus, respondit praedicta scire rationi-
bus praedictis.

3]
Super generalibus recte respondit. fetatis annorum octuaginta vel circa.
R Die dicta, coram ut supra.
; Pominus Ioannes Petrus de Robiate filius quondam domini Francisci dicti
) Cagnoni, dictae terrae de Olginate, testis vocatus, iuratus et monitus.
Interrogatus an sit dives vel pauper, quantum habeat in redditibus et
cuius expensis vivat.
He answered : Uhat I have after paying the debts, has little value; never-
theless I live with mine, following a little the industry
of my daughter's weaving. When I don't have, I teke from
; the capital.
Question : Did you confess at Faster? to whom? Did you recelve commu-—
fnhs nion, from whom, in what church? '
?H' He answered : Yes, Sir. Last Easter I confessed to the parish priest of
iz Vercurago and communicated here from mister parish priest who
is very well informed.
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Muestion

He enswered

Nuestion
He answered
Nuestion

He answered

Muestion
He answered

Question

He enswered

Muestion
He answered

Muestion

Were you accused, processed or inquired and of which crimes,
or excommunicated?

I've never been accused, processed nor inquired about any
crime, nor excommuni cated,

Do you know why you are to be exanmined? (f. 49r),
If". your lordship will tell me T will enswer.
Who requested you to come to testify»

Your Lordship asked me to be examined, that's why I came to
see what is your command.

Do you know sbout whst you are to be examined?
No, Sir, I don't know.

Ifre practic of Somasca; do you know how far is Somasce.
from Olginate?

Yes, Sir, I am practic of Somasca; it is less than a mile
far from Olginate,

fre you from Olginate?

Yes, Sir. I was born in the land of Olginate,

Pid you ever hear mention about Jerome Imiliani, called
Miani, who used to live in Somssca?




) ™

He answered :+ Yes, Sir. I heard him mentioned.

Nuestion +  From whom did you hear him mentioned, in what occasion, for
what reason?

He answered : I heard him mentioned when I was s child., I went to Somasca,
to the Rocca of Somasca accompanied by some gentlemen from
Merate, called Zucca. I heard them say that said Miani wan-
ted to live there to serve God and do penance.

' Muestion : Did you hear him menticned by somebody else?
He answered : I heard him mentioned also by other persons.
Muestion + Do you know if he lived in Somascs and what 1life did he live?
He answered + Yes, Sir. I heard that he used to live in Somasca and was

living a holy life fasting, praying, gathering poor children
teaching them and when sick taking care for them cleaning
their head with his own hands and do other servil works (f.49v).

Muestion s+ Do you know if he instituted and built a plan in Somasca called
.commonly of the orphans? ’

He answered : Yes, Sir. I heard that he is the one who started the school
in Somasca from which the religion of the Somascans rose.
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Question

He answered

Question
He answered
Nuestion
He answered

Question

He answered

Muestion

we

They were saying that he was a Venetian gentleman who spent
all his property for God's sake and the service of the poor,
edifying various monasteriesin Italy.

Do you remember that he died and where his body was buried? 1

No, Sir. I don't remember that he died. I know well that
he is buried in Somasca, by whet I heard.

Did you visit his cadaver?

No, Sir., I never went to visit his cadaver.
Did you heear * thet he made some miracles?
Sir, I never heard that he did some miracles.

Did you ever hear that he was thought of as & saint, and
from whom?

Yes, Sir. T heard that they think he is a saint from many
people, which now I don't remember.

Did you hear about the contempt for riches, about the humi-
lity, patience end fasting?

-34-




or,

He answered

Sir, I heard that he had abandoned everything to live a holy
life. He was fasting greatly and giving alms and other pious
works. This was said since I was young and still nowadays

it is a public voice and fame.

De causis scientiae respondit praedicta scire rationibus praedictis.

Ad generezlia recte respondit. Aetstis annorum 77 in circa.

Die dicta, coram ut supra.

Mastasia de Bassis relicta quondam Muisii, dictse terrae de Olginate,
testis (f. 50r) vocata ut supra, et cui delatum fuit iuramentum verltatlb
dicendae, et quae iuravit etc., tactis etc.

Nuestion

She answered

micstion

She answered

MNiestion

She answered

Muestion

vhat do you live with? What goods do you have?

I am an obstetrician in helping the ladies giving birth
and live with the goods left by my husband and of my work.

Did you confess at Faster to whom,did you receive communion?
Yes, Sir. I confessed last Easter anc communicated here from
mister parish priest. After Easter I confessed at least
twice.

Were you ever in jail or excommunicated?

No, Sir. I've never been excommunicated, processed nor in-
carcerated.

Lo you know why you are to be examined? who called for the
meeting?




She answered

Question

She answered

Nuestion

She answered

Yes, Sir. I know you want to examine me regarding the life
of father Jerome. I have been requested to testify from So-
masca in the house of messer Simone piroldi when I went to
visit because I am the "comadre',

Were you told about what you are to be examined? Tell us the
didlogue,

They told me that I would be examined about the 1life of Jerome
Fmiliani, because they want to beatify him., While we were
talking I told him I remembered seeing him going from Scmasce
to Olginste on feast days with four or six children, which

he was instructing, to teach those of Olginate and to dispute
the christian doctrine. Nobody told me what to say in any
way, ner did they male me any promise nor do I expect any-
thing for my depositicn.

Did you hear mentioning said Jerome Miani or Fmiliani or did
you know him?

I'm not sure to have ‘2@own him. I remember that, he was co-
ming from Somasca to Vlginate with some children, with a
priest Paolo, and was teaching me the christian doctrine. I
remember there was a mendicant coming every week for said
poor orphans. I remember having him menticned by my father
and mother, who were saying that he had instituted that
school in Scmasca and it was him who put it up. He had aben-
doned the world to serve our Lord, spending his patrimony in
gathering those poor orphans and instructing them. When sick
he was curing them. With his own hands he was washing them
and even their shirts. He was cering for them very much. From
him the Somascan congregation was born.
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question :

She answered :

Super generalibus recte respondit. fetatis annorum octuaginta in c¢irca.
Die iovis, quarto mensis octobris.

Reverendus praesbiter Robertus de Colleonibus, parochus Sancti Petri de
Careno, plebis Olginati, dioecesis Mediolani, cui delatum fuit iuramentum ve-
ritatis dicendae et qui iuravit etec., tactis etd.

Nuestion H

He answered B

Muestion 3

He answered s

Question :

He answered s

where he is buried.

Do you know if he died and where he is buried?

sir, I know he is dead but I don't know where, nor do I know

wWhat do you live of?

I live with the income of my beneficium as priest of St.Peter
of Carenno. It's income is about 150 escudes.

what work do you do? (f. 51r).

I'm the parish priest of St. Peter of Carenno and I have ce-
lebrated this morning.

Were you ever inquired or processed?

Noy; Sir. I've never been inquired, nor processed.
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Nuestion

He answered

Question

He answered

Muestion

He enswered

Muestion

He answered

Ouestion

T s R e lEE R - . . o ==

Do you know about what you are to be interrogated and exa-
mined?

Sir, I don't know unless you ask me.

What do youswppose you came here to be examined about and who
convoked you?

I have been told to come here by the messer parish priest and
by you, who wanted to examine me.

Where did the admonishion to come start from?

From the reverend master of novices of Somesca snd messer
Simone Fontana of Carenno.

What words 'were used to call you? Tell us the dialogue.

The reverend father master of novices of Somasca told me that
I hed to be here, that the perish priest of Olginate and you
nctary would be here and wanted to talk to me and that messer
parish priest of Olginate wanted to talk to me about messer
priest /lberto Santo my relative.

Did he say that you were to be examined and what you were to
be examined about?
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He answered

Question

He answered

(Question

He answered

Question

He answered

No, Sir; He didn't say any such a thing.

Iid you ever hear mentioning father Jerome BEmiliani and by
whom?

Yes, Sir. I heard it from my parishioners of Carenno, very
old, but I don't remember exactly who. They were saying that
he was a Venetian nobleman, come to live in Somasca, used to
wear a long habit, but he was not saying mass. He was gather-
ing orphan children curing them with charity and love. He
personally was .mendiceating them and had them instructed. They
were going to my parish in Carenno to look for alms. They were
also going into the fields to-help the workers (f. 51v) for
charity if they needed it. On feast days he was making a spi-
ritual congregation in Somasca where many were going especially
from Carenno. He was living a holy and happy life of very

good spiritual example to all.

Do you know where he died and was buried?

I know that he died and was buried in Somasca, because 1
heard it saild by everybody.

Did you visit his cadaver or did you hear it was visited with
some miracles?

I heard that while his body was above ground, it was visited
by various people. Anong those one suffering a certain infir-
mity was made whole. I don't know who he was nor what was

the sickness. I know that the name of the poor of Somasca
comes from Jerome Miani, as I heard. I don't know anything
else,




Question :

He answered .

Did you hear about the life he was conducting and that he was
tecching the christian doctrine to all?

I know it de auditu that said father used to teach in Carenno
and other places the christian doctrine with great fuit of all.
He to have with him orphans with . ring worms and suffering
other infirmities. I don't know anything else.

Super generalibus recte respondit. Aetetis annorum 55 in circa.

Die veneris, quinto mensis suprascripti, coram ut supra. Multum

Multum reverendus pater Bartholomeus Broccus, praepositus venerandi capitu-
1i reverendorum clericorum regularium congregationis Somaschae in dicto loco de
Somasca, testis vocatus, et cul delatum fult iuramentum veritatis dicendae etc.,
et qui iuravit etc., tactis etc.

Nuestion .

He answered :

been
Nuestion :

He answered

(f. 52r) Were you accused, processed or inquired about any
crime, which one, and how were you freed?

I've never been accused, processed, nor inquired, eccept when

I was in prison in Bergamo at the time of the interdict because
I didn't want to celebrate., After being in prison four months,
I was lucky to run away and went to Milano, when the interdict
was ended, I returned to my place here in Somasca. 1 have hover
excommunicated,interdicted nor suspended.

Do you know why you are to be examined?

be
I think T will examined about the life of father Jerome Miani
our founder,
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Mmestion

He answered

Question

He answered

nuestion

He answered

fuestion

Who requested and suggested you to submit yourself to the
examination? What words were used? thet is the subject of the
dialogue?

I was told by your lordship mister parish priest to depose
the truth of what I know regarding the 1life, death and works
of said father Jeronimo Miani. I've not been advised to say
anything else in any way, but only the truth.

Did you know father Jerome Miani?

I never saw him nor known but I talked about him with people
who saw, knew and practiced him.

How did you hear mention him, from whom and when did they men-~
tion him?

I had under me here in Somasca a certain Battista da Romano,

brother of our congregation, who was taken by said father Je-
rome Miani as a child and cured from ringworms. After being

cured he continued in our congregstion until death. Talking

vsrious times about scid father Jerome, he was telling me

his 1ife and his actions (f. 52v).

gince when did you telk with said Battista and how many years
ago did he die?
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He answered : I talked with said Battista from 1575 to 1580 when he died.

Nuestion : Tell us the things worthy to be known that you heard, said
by Bsttista da Romanc about father Jerome.

He answered : Battista da Romano told me many things of se#id fether Jeroni-
mo. First regarding his very austere 1life. He used to eat
only the hardest and the worse bread there was in the house
or from the alms collection or in other way. He used to fast
a lot and sleep on straw. At a certain point he retired to
more austere life under a grotto, at the place celled Trema-
sasso or Valleta, sleeping on bare rocks without mattress or
anything heving a rock as pillow. He remained there in that
solitary life from the horn of living rocks, over which the
Rocca of Somasca rests, miraculously came out so much water
every day as was needed. Vhen said father died,said water
stopped springing. Later from this place he retired to a
place called eremo where he made a kind of wall remaining in-
side. Said father helped to bring the lime, saying thet if
he hadn't carried it, he would have lost the merit., There
is no way to go there by carricge or horses, but only on foot
and with difficulty. He wos leaving the care of the children
to his companions among which they say there was father fra
Tomaso and Giovan Pietro Borelli and others. From time to
time he was visiting them. He was working when it was neces-
sery, alweys gathering the children, curing the sick with his
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Nuestion

He answered

own hsnds and having them instructed. One day (f. 53r) said
Romano told me that there wasn't enough bread for the family
and children because of a famine. Said father gave the blessing
ae .sual, made the whole family and children sit, put in

his apron the blessed bread, distributed to all. It was enough
to fill everybody and there were left overs. This was a mar-
velous thing., It was the opinion of said father thet no child
nor other person mendicate or live only by alms. He wanted
them to work manually occupying them: in different exercises.

To show that this is true, I still have three or four "ranzini"
(pieces) or "segazzii" (crumbs) of those they used, This is
what Battista de Romano says it is. VWhen said father had all
things in order in Somasca, he was going to Bergamo and Milano
and other places to get more children, as in Bergamo, Milano
end Pevia, instituting other pious places. Perticularly in
Milano, The Duque of Mileno sent him a good quantity of money,
saying that he was serving it for the use of the person of said
Miani. Sald Miani answered thet he didn't need anything for
himself, but if he wanted to send it for the orphans he would
accept them. This was referred to his lordship who, not only
sent the money, but provided a house in San Martino where they
live, giving esemption from the selt for 150 persons. They en-
Joy it still nowadays. The rent of the house is paid by the
Chamber to the Venereble hospital of Milanho, whom that house
belonged.,

How many years ago did he die? Where is his cadover?
It's more than 75 years that said father Jeronimo died. I know

this becsause it was written on the tomb. Said father died here
in Somasca in the houses of the Ondei and his cadover was buried
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Miestion

He answered

Miestion

He answered

here in San Bartolomeo, over ground. But following the direc-
tions of the council of Trento he wes taken from that deposit
and put under ground, then msde it disintor . and put in

said chruch (f. 53v) in an honored place in a coffin.

Did he before or after death make any miracle?

I don't know of any other miracles alive except what I said
before about the bread given to the children. After death T
heard from Tacomo, called Ciuliolo, of Vercurago, land near
Somasca, that being said cadover on the ground, where many
people were going to visit him, among others came Giovan An-
tonio Mazzoleni of Calolzio, notary public, who was suffer-
ing a certain infirmity that I don't know. Visiting such
cadaver he was libereted asking the help of said father. This
made many wonder. S&id Cbhuliolo told me thet he was present
and assures this is true. 1 heard this from others but in
particular from messer Mtonio Ondei.

Did you by devotion visit the cadqver or received any grace?
I visited many times his cadover devotedly. ‘When T was im-

prison T wholeheartedly recommended myself to said father
Jerome and I had the gracedf running away.

Super generalibus recte respondit et est aetatis annorum 60 in circa.

Die dicta, coram ut susnra.

Baptista de Bolis filius quondam Ioannis dicti it Travaia, terrae de
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Question

He answered

Question

He answered

Question

He answered

Question

He answered

oe

Saina vallis de Erve, terrae vicinae suprascriptae terrae
de Somasca, cui delatum fuit iuramentum veritatis dicendae
etc., qui iuravit etc. tactis ete.

Yhat goods do you have? How can you live} did you confess
at Easter? j

My property might be worth two thousand lira., I live with
my income some animals I have and partly with msking diffe-~
rent things with wood and sell them, With this gain I live
(f. 54r) since I have no children nor wife, I confessed
and communicated at Easter from our reverend curate.

Do you know what you are to be examined about?

No, Sir. I don't know vhat I'm to be examined about, but
I'm called by your Lordchip parish priest and you ' notary.

Did you ever know father Jerome Miani who used to live in
Somasca?

No, Sir. I didn't know him, but I heard him mentioned.
Whom did you hear him mentioned from and when?

I heszrd him mentioned by all the elders of Saina who are
now dead, when we were tzlking about the things of the So-
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Question

He answered

Question

He answered

Question

mascan Congregation. They were saying that before coming
to live in Somasca, they wanted to live in a plece called
the castle, Then they made up their mind and decided to
come to live in Somasca,

What were they saying Jerome Miani was?

They were saying that he was a noble Venetian who had re—
tired to holy life, He was living poorly of alms, He was
gathering around him orphans, sick and healthy, He was cu-
ring the sick and had them cured. He used to go processio-
nally with the group of children feeding them with the
bread they were finding., Said fother was eating the dark-
est and making austere life. He used to have the children
work on something during the free . time from the office of
the Madonna and the holy mass, He was of such a good life
that they thought he was a saint,

Do you know where he died and was buried? (f. 54v)

He died here in Somasca and was buried in the church of Ste
Bartolomeo.

Did you ever visit his cadqver for devotion and do you know
if he made any mirccle?

~46-




He answered : No, Sir. I never visited said cadaver nor do I know that
he made =ny miracle or grace.

Super generalibus recte respondit, Aetatis annorum 60 in circa,

Die dominico decimo quarto mensis octobris.

Coram supradicto multum reverendo domino proeposito delegato.

Dominus Christophorus de Amigonibus filius quondam domini Beltrami, terrae
de Somnsca, testis vocatus pro veritate habenda et cul delatum fuit iuramentum
veritatis dicendae et qui iuravit etc., tactis etc.

-
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Question : How much is your property value and how do you live?

I don't predsoly ° know how much is. the value of my pro-
perty, but it is more than two thousend soudi.I work with
my family, hsving olso some work, This is the way I can
live regularly.

He answered

Question ¢ Did you confess this yerr at Easter, to which priest, and
did you receive the sacraoment of the eucharist?

Be answered :  Yes, Sir, I confessed at Easter to the mverend father
perish priest of Somasca and from him I also received the
very holy sacrament., After Easter I confessed and commu-
nicated for devotion various times.

ow

Question :  lere you ever accused, processed or charged of any crime?

Were you excommunicated?




He answered

Question
He answered
Question
He answered
Question
He answered

Question

He answered

Question

He answered

T

e

No, Sir. I've never been accused, processed, nor charged,
nor excommunicated,

Do you know why you are to be examined?
No, Sir., I don't know what you want to examine me about.

Déd you come without been called to be examinedj

I come because I was asked by your lordship.

Did any one tell you about what you are to be examined?(f.55r)
No, Sir.

Hobody told me anything.

Did you ever hear mentioning father Jerome Mlani who used
to live in Somasca and by whom?

Yes, Sir. I heard him mentioned and I also knew him., He
was a man not too tall, but of venerable look., He used to
live of alms, eating the darkest and hardest bread. The
best bread was for the children., I remember him living
here down in Somasca in & certain little house,

Do you know his native place?

They were saying thot he was a Venetian, thot he was in
the army over the sea, He was imprisoned and was freed
by the grcce of the very Blessed Virgin Mary. For this
he vowed to go to a deserted place to make penance.
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Question

He answered

Question

He answecred

Question

He answered

Question

e enswered

oy

Do you remember that he came to live here?

Yes, Sir. I remember that he wes living there, but not that
he had come,

Do you know if said father Jerome instituted the Somascan
Congregation?

Yes, Sir. Scid father Jerome instituted the Somascan Cong-
regation. I remember that they were cooking in the house
of the Ondei and then were bringing the cooked food to the
children, '

What children did he have?

Said fathor was gathering poor children and was feeding them.
He hod the sick cured end the otherd taught in letters. I
remember also that they were working manuslly and weaving
wool,

Did he always live in Somasca?

Said fother used to live in Somcsca, but, sometimes, he was
retiring to a (f. 55v) near pl: ce called Tremasasso or ere-—
mo and there he was living very solitary and exemplary. H
was sleeping and living under o grotto which he arrcnged in
front and over with reeds ns defense for the air. He had
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Do you remember 1f he dled and how longuﬂgo°

Yhu, blr, I rcmember thut he dled (& Hc dicd in Somasci‘and":
was, buried in the, church of, 5t.: Bartoloemo in a deposit,
but uuch depopit. was token vy tnd the Bones were kept by
Lhe fathers. It was a.gre:t.mirddle o Put up such a good |
5chool ang -so famous Tellglon.i It's'‘mord than eeventg
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Dld you hear the £ by his xntercé381eh’any ‘miracletor grace’
Udu mede?

No, ulP, I don't know that he made any mirecle or grace.

How dld ho llve in the sremocor: in the place called Trema-
sasso? .t #ii
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He answered
Question

He answered

In said place he was also living of alms as I said above,
Did you ever visited his body for devotion?

Yes, 8ir, while I was going to mass or other devotions I
was praying for him, I prayed him that he pray for us,
Even now in every feast day I say an Our Father and a Hail

Mary sc that he help us in our needs, I do the same with
St. Bartolomeo,

Super' generolibus recte respondit, Aetatis annorum octuaginta in circa.

Die dicta, coram ut supra,

Ioannes Antonius de Boliis filius quondam Dominici de Saina vallis de

Erve, testis vocatus (f, 56r) ut supra et cui delatum fuit iuramentum verita-
tatis dicendae, et qui iuravit etc,, tactis etc.’

Question :

He answerszd

Question

He answered 3

What goods do you have, how do you live?

My property might be about one thousand scudi, together
with my brother. I live with the income ond part of my
gain and exercise in weaving and making wool clothes.,
With this I live and have something left.

Did you oonfess at Easter, to whom and did you receive
the sacrament of the eucharist:

Yes, Sir, I confessed at Easter and communicated from the

very reverend curate, and also in the feast of Corpus Do~
mini. B
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Question 2 llere you ever accused, processed 2bout any crime; were
you excommunicated?

He answered : No, Sir. 1I've never been processed, inquired, nor accused
or excommunicated,

Question g Do you know what you are to be examined about?

He answered : Sir, I know only what you told me you wanted to examine
me about regarding the 1ife of father Jerome Miani.

Question 5 How far is your house from the lend of Somasca?

He answered ¢ Saina, where I live, is about one and a half mile from
Somagsca,,

Question ? Did you ever hear mentioned father Jerome Miani and by
whom?

He answered : Yes, Sir, I heard him mentioned by the elders of Saina

and particularly by Martino Volpe.
Question s When did they mention him?

He answered . One. time.we were coming from the Castle of Lecco toward
Erve, When we arrived at the Rocca it started raining
hard, so we repaired under the grotto called Tremasasso
where said Jerome was living. Being there said Martino
Volpe told me that in said grotto said father Jerome
used to live when living; (f. 56v) He showed me a stream
of water coming out of the mountain over which there is
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Question

He answered

Question

He answered

L]

the Rocca, Said mountain is of living stone. He told me
that when said father Jerome was living in said place, those
few drops were so abundant every day to satisfy the need of
water and there was more or less as said father needed it.

How .many years ago did said Martino say such things?

It's many years since he told me, I think more than fourty
years.,

Did he mention father Jerome in other things?
He Aidn't say anything else, but that said father Jerome.

used to live in the grotto as above, He was eating black
bresd and of . The one made of wheat he was giving

it to the children he used to teach, He was living a saint

life, I don't know what else to say,

Super generalibus recte respondit, Aetatis annorum 64 in circa,

Die dicta, coram ut supra.

Franciscus de Moiolis filius quondam dicti il Giudice, terrae de Vercura-
go vallis praedictee, testis vocatus etc., cui delatum fuit iuramentum veri-
tatis dicendae etc,, et qui iuravit etc., tactis etc.
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He answered

Question

He answered
Question

He answered
Question
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Did you confess last Easter and communicated? From whom?
Yes, Sir, I confessed and communicated last Easter from
very reverend curate of Vercurago and later from reverend
parish priest of Somasca, for devotion.

Were you ever accused, processed, inquired about any crime,
by whom and were you excommunicated?

Sir, I've never been accused, processed nor excommunicated.
Do you know what you are to be examined about?

No, Sir, I don't know what you want to examine me about,
(fRabTH) s ’

How did you come without being called to be examined?

I came called by the very reverend father parish priest of
Somasca to say the truth what I will be examined and I have
to say the truth,:

How far is the land of Vercurago,from the land of Somasca?

Less than an archibuge shot,
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Did you ever hesr father Jerome Miani, who used to live in
Somasca, be mentioned?

Yes, Sir, I heard him mentioned by various and in parti-
cular by my father. ;

When and how long ago?

I heard him mentioned by my father when he was an occasio-
pnal worker of said father Jerome. It's many years ago be-
cause it's already 28 years that my father died.

What did you hear from your father about said father Jerome?

I heard him saying many things about said father. He was
& Venetian gentleman., He had abandoned the world to serve
our Lord. He consumed all his patrimony for the poor. He
ended up here in Somasca where he was gathering orphans:
and poor. He had the sick cured and the healthy tqught,
Because at that time there was no mass in Somasca, one day
he said to the people not to complain nor murmur, that in
a short time they would have masses in abundance.

Did you hear anything about his life and miracles?
No, Sir. I don't remember of any miracle made by him, but
that his life was very austere, He was eating the worse

bread,giving the good to the children.

How did he live with the children?
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They lived by alms and also with their fatigues, because

my father (f. 57v) was telling me thst said father and
children were helping to cut the harvest, when it was nee-
ded, He was living a saint life and I have never heard the
contrary.

Do you know where he died and was buried?

He died and was buried in Somasca, as far as I understood,
Did you hear of any miracle or graces by his intercession?
I don't know any miracle or grace, except that madonna Pru~
denza Amigoni told me she was suffering of a certain infir-
mity, made a vow to said father Jerome and was freed.

Wh#t sickness did she suffer?

She said she suffered certain body pains, I don't know what
pains.

Did she use any medication for said pains?

I don't know if she used any medication, but that she told
me only that, as I have above said.

Super generalibus recte respondit. Aetatis annorurm 66 in circa.

Die dicta, coram ut supra.

Domina Prudentia de Amigonibus filia quondam Antonii et uxor praefati
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domini Christophori de Somasca, testis vocata et cui delatum fuit iuramen-
tum veritetis dicendase, et quae iurevit etec., tactis etc.

Question ¢ Did you confess and receive communion at Eagster?

SHe answered 3 Yes, Sir, I confessed and communicated last Easter here
from mister parish priest of Somasca .

Question B Were you ever excommunicated?

She ansvered : No, ©ir, I've never been excommunicated.

Question Do you know what you are to be examined about?

She answered

I don't know what you want to examine me about,

Question : How did you come without been called? (f, 58r).

She answered Francesco called judge told me you were asking for mne,

Question ¢ Did you hear mentioning father Jerome Miani?

She answered : Yes, Sir, I heard him mentioned by my mother, who knew
him, It's about 30 years ago.

Question What did you hear about said Miani?
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She said father Miani was looking for some orphans, He was
gathering them and keeping them with him, The best bread
he was finding he was giving it to said children, the
blackest and hardest he was eating. He was living of alms,

Do you know that he died and was buried and where?

I heard that he died in Somasca and was buried in Sta. Bar-
tolomeo,

Do you know if he made miracles or graces?

Regarding me, I know I had colic pains and made a vow to
said father, I am free. The vow was to say everyday of
my life three Our Fathers, and three Hail Mary in God's
honor and of said father. This way I was freed, For these
pains I never had to make any remedy after the vow,

Super generalibus recte respondit, Age about 70,
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SECOND PROCESS OF SOMASCA
(f. 37r ~ 4LOr omitted)

1614 die mertis 18 mensis februarii,

Martinus de Maiolis filius quondam Ioannis dicti Modenae, terrae de Ru~
sino, testis productus proveritate habenda etc., et cui delatum fuit iuramen-
tum veritetis dicendae, et qui iuravit stc., tactis etc.

Question : Did you ever hear mentioning father Jerome Emiliani who
used to 1live in Somasca, from whom and how?

He answered : Yes, Sir. I herad him mentioned various times by my father
while he was alive, He mentioned his as a very God-feszring
nan and very good christian, Among the other things of the
bounty of said father -he told me various times that when
said father Jerome was living, also Messer Giovan Antonio
Mazzoleni was living, a notary in ithe land of Calolzio, who
was not too friendly with him, nor kind to said father. He
was suffering of a certain frenzy or headache (f. 40v) at
different times, He was very troubled by it. After the
death of said father Jerome, while his cadover was left a-
bove ground in a case for some days, said Mazzoleni came
to the cadover of said father, asked him pardon for his
little charity end with more devotion prayed to intercede
for him to our Lord to obtain the grace of liberation from

such infirmity., By the grace of our lLord and the interces~

sion of said father, said Mazzoleni was freed from said in-
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firmity so that never more he felt such pain and the in-
firmity he had. I didn't hear saying anything else except
the above. When my father said these words, he was near
the fire with us in ths house., There was nobody else but
my mother and I, she was living, He said this not only
once, but many times,

How long is it that your father told you these things and
when?

It's more than 20 years., He said it many times when we
were talking about this congregation, that it was increasing
and about the work (fabrica) they were doing, He wanted
here to infer that the religion and the beginning was weak,
that they were trying to live for God's love, He remem-—
bered the miracle or grace said above saying that all this
had been narrated to him by said Giovan Antonio Mazznleni
who received the grace, because my fzther was his relative,
He was telling me that said father Jerome was a great ser-
vant of God and of holy life, giving very good oxample of
himself, T don't know what else to say.

Super generalibus recte respondit. Aetatis annorum 64 in circa.

1614 die mercurii 2 mensis aprilis.

Reverendus praesbiter Robertus de Collsonibus curatus loci de Careno
testis (£. 41r) productus per supradictum multum reverendum dominum prae-
positum Somaschae pro veritate habenda etc., et cui delatum fuit iuramentum
veritatis dicendae etc., et qui iuravit etc., tactis etc,
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Did you hear mentioning by Don Bernardino Fontana or other
of your parish, Jerome Miani founder of the Somascan Cong-
regation?

I heard mentioning many times said Fontana and others.
Do you remember those things your father said? Tell them!

Many times I heard from those of my parish and others, men-
tioning the above said father Jerome Miani as a religious
of exemplary life and christian doctirine. He was gathering
a quantity of orphans whom he was instructing. If they had
any infirmity he was curing them with his own hands. He
used to go with said orphans processionally looking for
food, Sometimes when it was needed, he was going to the
fields with said children to harvest the cereals or other
things, In the land of Somasca, when he used to live, he
had instituted a spiritual academy or congregation, where
he was gathering a great number of people among whom some
were from Carenno, about two miles of bad road far from So-
masca, This congregstion was made on feast days. I also
heard that he was of very austere life, In the distribu-~
tion of the bread to the children he was keeping the worse
for himself. He drank wine rarely, He was sometimes
sleeping on woodes planks and sometimes on the ground. In
short he was living a saint life, When he died, his cada-
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ver was laid above ground in the gasket, A man who was
suffering a certain infirmity which I don't exactly know,
went and knelt infront of the cadaver. He prayed said fa-
ther to intercede for him to our Lord to be freed from said
infirmity, The prayer of said father was heard and he was
liberated from said infirmity,

What was the infirmity he was suffering and who was said
sick person?

I don't recall precisely who the sick was, nor what sick-
ness it was, nor where it was,

Were you instructed by someone to depose this fact?

No, Sir, But I depose the truth, over my conscience,

Aliae interrogationes fuerunt ommissae, cum sit sacerdos.

Super generalibus recte respondit. Aetatis annorum 55 in circa.

Subsignat.

subscripsi.

(omissis).

BEgo Marinus Cola apostolica auctoritate notarius pro fide
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ORDINARY PROCESS OF VICENZA
(August 7, 1611)

1. CODICES

We are in possegsion of two codices of the brief process of Vicenza, Both
are copies. :

The first is found in codex D 202 of the general archive of the Somascan
Fathers of Genova. It occupies f. 62 and it had been exerpt from the original
by the chancellor of the episcopal curia of Vicenza Scipione Veiano, It was
legalized by the general vicar of the same diocese on June 27, 1615. i

The other copy is contained in a manuscript of the archive of the general
procuration of the Somascans of Romet¢ Mediolanensis canonizationis beatl Hie-
ronymi Aemiliani, Processus remissoriales fabricati Mediolani et Somaschae
at f. 71 of the process of Somesca,The codex is work of the notary of the
sacred Congregation of the rites Clearco Busco, : :

2, THE PROCESS

The process of Vicenza was work of énly one day. On August 7, 1611 father
Francesco Zoia,superior of the somascan Vicentine house of the St. Giacomo and
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Filippo asked the vicar generzl that the lay brother Giovanni Meloni be inter-
rogated., To the request followed the recognition of the witness and the short
interrogation.,

3, GIOVANNI MELONI and His Testimony,

Giovanni Meloni was born in Como around 1539, He professed as lay bro-
ther in 1579, but he was among the Somascans already before 1573. He lived
in the orphanages of the Congregation. In different time and periods he lived
at the Misericordia of Vicenza and the Misericordia of Brescia, He worked
also in Siena, Tortona, Piacenza, Milano, In 1622 he was already dead: we
wouldn't know where end when,

His testimony is reduced to an episode of Miani's life: the encounter
with two wolves, while he was with some of his orphans on the way between Pa-
vie and Certosa. Through Meloni the testimony goes back to Angiolmarco Gam-—
barana who wss one of the main companions of the saint,

The testimony of Meloni furnishss some precious news on the memories
around Miani's life which would have been written by Gambarana.

After renouncing to be general this had returned in 1671 to St. Martino
of Milano where he passed the last year and a half of his life. 0ld and in
bad health he was sometimes obliged to remain in bed, Of this forced immo~
bility took advantage Gambarana in writing some memories about the founder.
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short

The generation who had know the saint was alreedy disappearing, With filial
devotion wers transmitted by voice the facts of his life but there was not
yet any biography. He had the intention of printing something, that's why he
was dictating the memoirs as they were coming to mind, Giovanni Meloni was
one of the writers he used.

We ignore the consistency of these notes. The manuscript was never prin-
ted. At the end of the XVI century the first biographer of Miani, Scipione
Albani, wrote that he heard that Gambarsna had an sbundant handwritten book
of Miani's 1life, but it went lost and he "wished it would be found back for
the public welfare,"

Note: Sc. Albeni, Vitae del venerabile et devoto servo di Iddio il padre
Ieronimo Miani, Milano 1603, p, 28, Altre attestazioni su questo s
scritto del Gambarana si possono trovare in A, Stoppoglia, Bibliog=
rafia di S. Girolamo Emiliani, Genova 1917, p. 10-12. 31 veda anche
G, Bonacina, La vita religiosa a Pavia durante il sec, XVI e Ltazione
caritativa di A. M. Gambarana e dei Somaschi, tesi di laurea Unlver.

catt, S, Cuore Milano, 1974~1975, p. 169~170.




ORDINARY PROCESS OF VICENZA

Die dominico (f. 62r) septimo augusti millesimo sexcentesimo decimo pri-
o,

Coram reverendissimo.domino vicario generali Vicentiae.

Comparuit reverendus pater dominus Franciscus Zoia, praepositus monas—
terii Sanctorum Iacobi et Philippi huiue civitatis congregationis Somaschae,
et ad perpetusm rei memoriam instetit super miraculis beati Hieronimi Aemi-
liani, fundatoris dictae congregationis, examinari reverendum Ioannem de Me-
lone de Cumo, dictae congregationis laicum professum, et dictum ipsius in
actis describi omni meliore modo etc.

Qui reverendissimus dominus vicarius praedictum testem examinari manda-
vit, prius facta ipsius recongnitione; et sic coram eius dominatione reveren—
dissima examinatus fuit dictus reverenduas dominus Iohannes, recognity a reve-
rendo domino Ichanne Gandino Brixiense eiusdem congregationis et a reverendo
domino Iohanne Antonio Tonesio Brixiense eiusdem congregationis, qui iuramento
suo tactis etc., respondit prout infra, videlicet.

Question :  What miraculous thing do you have to narrate about blessed
Jerome Emiliani founder of the congregation?

He answered : What I know is what I heard from don Angelo Marco Gambara-
na, first general of our congregation who was disciple of
blessed Jerome. At that time the wolves were killing people

and ‘assaulting everyone on foot or on hourse between Pavia
and the Certosa, Blessed Jerome with some orphans whom he
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had gathered in order to accommo (f. 62v) date them in some
hospital, happened to encounter the wolves waiting for peo~
ple in the street. When he saw them, he made the sign of
the holy cross with the hand in form of blessing. Said
wolves once blessed immediately went away,

When and where did you heer the said thing by said by reve-
rend father?

It's about 35 years ago. He told me this in Milano, in

the monastery of St. Martino our church and monastery., Said
father don Angelo made me write it because he had the in-
tention of printing this miracle. , ;

Why did he make you write that testimony and he didn'%?

- Because he was without streagth and sick;u Ha‘was in bed.

When some remembrance worthy of memory wes coming to:his

- mind, he had me put it in writing. : 3

Do you know how don Angelo knew it?
T don't know how he knew it, but I think he knew it from

others or the same blessed one participated it to him, for
being his disciple.,
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Quibus habitis, fuit dimissus., Est aetatis annorum septuaginta duorum
in circa,

Question s What did you do with that writing?

He answered : I left it to the above said don Angelo, and I don't know
what he 'did with it beceuse I left that place, Etc.

Subscriptum: Scipio Veianus curiae episcopalis Vicentiae notarius subs~
: cripsit,

Tulius Saracenus iuris utriusque doctor, auditor et in episcopptu Vincen-
tia in spiritualibus et temporaiitus vicarius generalis substitutus, univer—
sis et singulis praesentes nostras inspecturis indubiam fidem facimus et at-
testamur suprascriptum exemplum esse extractum ex actis huius cancellariae et
subscriptum per suprascriptum dominum Scipionem Veianum notarium curiae, cuius
scriptis etc, In quorum etc, Datum Vincentiae in episcopali pallatio die
vigesimo septimo mensis iunii millesimo sexcentesimo decimo quinto. Subscrip-
tum; Lucius Marchesinus cancellarius, Et sigillatum sigillo legalitatis etec.
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ORDINARY PROCESS OF TR&Vis0

| (January 8, 1613)

*rNTRODUGCIION
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1. CODICES

We could consult four codiecs of the ordinery procesr of Treviso for the
beatification of St, Jerome Micii.

The first is the usnal codex D 202 of the gercral archive of the Somas-
can Fathers of Genova. The text io taken from a copy made on the original
by the notary of the eplscopal curia of Treviso I'rarcesco Bigolino, whose
term was authenticated by the vicar general Cristoforo Baldo on October 15,
1614, In the menvscript the process occupies the ff. 1r-2v.

The second codex is contained in the manuscript of the ‘archive of the
general procuration of the Somescan fathers of Rofe: Mediolanensis cenoni-'-
gationis beati Hieronymi Aemiliani. Processus remissoriales fabricati Tar-
visii, Venetiis, Bergomi, Brixiac et Papise, to ff. 15v~16v of the process
of Treviso., It's a copy teksn directly from ths original on April 14, 1624
and inserted in the apostolic precoce celebrated in Treviso. A

The other two codices are peeserved in the manuseript Correr 1350 of
Correr Library of Venice: Varia ad beati Hieronymi Aemiliani Congregationis
Somaschae fundatoris canonizationsm spectantia, 1351 /1 £, Lbr=47vs 1350/3
fn 37V—38V.




In the transcription we preferred to follow the text offered by the ma~-
nuscript Mediolanensis cannnizetionis cit. Regarding the content, the codi-
ces do not present essential differences. We have only to note that in ma-
nuscript D 202 the deposition of the second witness Quintiliano Luna instead
of being at the end of the process, follows immedistely the one of the first
witness and preceeds the transcrivtion of Book four of the miracles and of
the votive tablet, We will talk more ahead about the criterium adopted for
the presentciionr . of these two documents.

2. THE PROCESS

On January'8, 1613 the vicai general of Treviso Cristoforo Baldo re—
ceived the somascen ILvig. rforto, parish priest of the church of St, Agostino
of Treviso who asked that some witnesses be interrogated regarding the libe-
ration from prison obtained by Miani by the grace of the Virgin Mary.

The interrogation happened that same day. The first witness Rodolfo
de Rodolfi of Udine, canon of the Salvatore and prior of the monastery of
St. Meria Maggiore of Treviso. Besides the brief deposition he presented
the judges the relative documentation preserved in the sanctuary: the fourth
book of the miracles and the votive tablet, which the notary transcribed.

The second witness the Brescian Qulntlllano Luna was then interrogated. He

was also a canon of the Salvatore and sacristan of the church, who confirmed
the deposition of Rodolfi,

The notary of the process was Giovanni Caravaggio, notary of the episco-

pal curia,

If the two depozitions were not bringing hints of great importance, im-
portent are instead the two documents put into the acts,
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3, THE FOURTH BOOK OF MIRACLES

In the process the witness Rodolfo de Rodolfi presented the judges the
Fourth Book of Miracles, from which the page nerrating the liberation of St.
Jerome from prison was transcribed. Tt is found at folio 35v. The manuscript
isproserved in the' municipel library of Treviso, codex 646. The transcrip-
tion given by us is checked directly from the original,

The codex had MWeen recently studied by M.P. Manuel, Una raccolta cinque-
centesca di miracoli relativa al santusrio della Madonna Grande di Treviso,

‘tLare", XXXIX - 1 (1973), peges 31-37.

It's a collection of recordings of graces obtained by the devotees of the
Madonna Grande of Treviso, It was started in 1532, Manuel reseraches about
the Criteris of composition of the codex, the scope it was destined to, its
origin, after the theft, the destruction during the fire of the sanctuary in
1528 and the consumption had taken away from public use the first three books.
She detaines herself also in atrributing the codéx to Giulio Clovio, one of
the famous miniaturists of Renaissance,vwhom the miniatures may be attributed
to, but hardily the text,at least at the initial part. She describes, then,
the luck of the codex: from reliquiary for the meditation of the faithful,
to the following loss of interest to the fire of 1631 when from the church
where it was exposed it was moved to th: sacristy; to the end of the XVIII
century when it was considered lost. It gives hints about its literary trans-
lations in the printed books of Guidoni (1597) and Guerra (1697),




..

The most studied page of this codex is certainly the one contaihing the
recount of St. Jerome's liberation, Even if transcribed in the processes,
the text hasn't been used by the most ancient biographers of the Saint, who
will use only the narration contained in the votive tablet., Only at the be-
ginning of this century it has been rediscovered by F, Ferioli, "LfAngelo ddl
focolare", XI (1911), n. 17, Venne poi studiato da A. Stoppiglia, ippendice
di note storiche in E. Caterini, San Girolemo Emiliani, Foligno 1912, pages
266~269; F, Ferioli, Prigionia e prodigiosa liberazione di S. Gerolamo Miani,
"Bollaetino della Congregazione di Somasca, (1915), fasc. 3 p. 17-22, fasc 4,
p. 6-13, G.B, Pigato, La Madonna Grande, Rapallo 1944, pages 86-88, 110-112;
G. Landini, S, Girolamo Miani, Roma 1947, pages 104-113. Ro. Netto, La libe-
razione di Girolamo Emiliani da Castelnuovo, 27 settembre 1511, "Rivista de~
1le Congregatione di Somasca", XXVI (1954), pages 365~3783 C. Pellegrini, S.
Girolamo Miani, contributo alla conoscenza della preriforma cattolica, doc~
toral thesis at Univers Cattolica S, Cuore Milano, 1957, pages 289-324.

Regarding the historic credibility of this document seo in particular C.
Pellegrini, cit,, pages 312-318,

4 THE VOTIVE TABLET.

The regular cannon Redolfo dé Rodolfi in his deposition hints to the exis-—
tence of a tablet in which the liberation of St. Jerome was described. The
text was inserted in the acts of the process by the notary.
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] This tablet is now disappeared. Even in the hypothesis that the votive
icture is the one preserved in the sacristy of Sta., Maria Maggiore of Tre-
viso the narration of the liberation of Miani from the prison is not annexed

any more ( sue Un nuovo quadro di S, Girolamo Emiliani scoperto nella chiesa

4i Sta, Maria Maggiore di Treviso, "Il Santuario di San Girolamo Emiliani",

IV (1918) August, n. 43).
We have various transcriptions of the text of the tablet.

The most ancient is contained in the ordinary process of 1613 which we
£ind also in the apostolic process (codex D 202 cit,, f. 2j Mediolanensis
canonizationis cit., f. 16).

TIn the apostolic process of Treviso, celebrated in 1624 the witnesses
Cinzio Campese and Angelico Fiera who showed it;talk of the tablet "where
the miracle is depicted with the insertion which they sey is of his own hand",

The seme judges could observe it on April 7 when they visited the Sanc~
tuary, At the bock the text of the narration had been transcribed, so as to
preserve one copy if, with the time, the original would get damaged, as in
fagt it was already partially (f. 14). The notary copied the narration from
the original and inserted it in the acts (f. 17).

Some years later, always from the original, the tablet was "faithfully"
transcribed by father Vittore Cappello for father Costantino de Rossi Who
printed it in his biography of Miani (c, De Rossi, Vita del b, Girolamo Mia~
ni, 2a ed. Milano 1641, pages 38-40). De Rossl gives the tablet the age of
120 years: if he was writing in 1630, it would go back to the time of the
fact. But it is an arbitrary affirmation.




The various transcriptions present some variations,

For this edition we preferred the transcription given ty the apostolic
process, for the authority € the manuscript and because it is explicitly said
that it was made on the original, In the critical notes the variations are
indicated, In them the codices are marked with the following letters: f,
apostolic process of 16243 B, ordinary process of 1613 codex D 2023 C, ordi-
nary process of 1613 codex Mediolanensis beatificationis etc.,’3 D, biograpiy
of De Rossi,

Codices A and D were made on the most ancient text, those of the ordincry
processes (b and C) seem to have been taken from the copy attached at fhe
back of the teblet.

L O

If we procede toward a comparative examination of the narration of the
votive tablet with the one of the Fourth Book of miracles, we will observe;

1) There is & relation between the two documents: in fact the narrative pro-
cess of the two texts is identical and also many characteristic exyressions
recur identically: Castelnuovo "of Friuli" with 300 men, "caesarean" army
at the "bottom" of a tower, etc.;

2. The narration of codex 646 has priority: even if the two texts are equi-
valent for news and the circumstances contained, the text of codex 646
has a very simple narrative form, while the one of the tablet presents
evident signs of elaboration: intention to edify especially the introduc~-
tionj decorative elements; non acceptable particularities which do not
appear in codex 646.
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It seems therefore fair to conclude that the tablet was elaborated on the
narration of the IV Book of the miracles and that this remains the main source
about the liberation of St, Jerome,

¥ ¥ % % ¥

We could ask ourselves if the tablet has been created the first time on
codex 646 or it is a reconstruction.

To answer the question we must know two events of the history of the
Sanctuary of the Madonna Grande of Treviso.

When Miani came to Treviso on September 28, 1511, the sanctuary of Sta,
Maria Maggiore was reduced to a miserable situation: only the chapel of the
Madonna, seved by a decisive intervention of the Provveditore Gradenigo, had
remained standing, One part of the church and the whole monastery, except
the dormitory which was efhibited for military use, had to be dismantled for
the defense of the city, All around the chapel were ongoing diggings: the
the stump of church still standing had to be supported because it was fall-
ing. It is difficult to think that the church was functioning and that Je-
rome could have been able to do what is deseribed in the tablet, and even
less to have a picture made to remind the fact with such an extended text,
It seems more probable that the ex-voto has been thought of only later.

The other fact is a Terrible fire which, developed in the chimney of a
house near Sta. Maria Maggiore, propagated in the church, the monastery des-
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troying grest part of the monastery, the sacristy with the whole convent, the
organ which was right in front of the chapel of the Madonna, It started on
Dicember 30, 1528, It violence was such that it fused the bells; "Only by
miracle and God's will, the part where there was the chapel of the Emperess
of Heaven remained inthet and undamaywed by that very great fire...". If
Jerome between 1511 and 1528 had that votive tablet made in remembrance of
the grace obtained, it would have been very probably destroyed in this fire.

Therefore it seems that we can conlcude that the tablet of which we pos-
sess the text, has been at least rebuilt and, in any case, not on the origi-
ngl tablet but on codex 646, Who did it? When? It's impossible to say it;
coertainly after 1531,

LR A

The narration of the votive tablet has been used by all biographer of
Miani sterting from De Rossi, contrarily to codex 646. We collect here the
most imporhant bibliographical indications: C. De Rossi, Vita del b. Girola-
mo Miani, Milano 1641, peges 38~40; Gr. De Ferrari, La Vita del Venerabile
Servo di Dio Girolamo Mieni, Venezia 1676, pages 16-18; St, Santinelli, Ia
vita del Santo Girolamo Miani, Venezia 1767, pages 13-15., E.A. Cicogna, Is-
crizioni Veneziene, V, Pages 366~367; F, Ferioli, Prigimia e prodigiosa
liberazione di S. Gerolamo Miani ci., pages 88-89; G. Landini, S. Girolamo
Miani cit,, 104-1133 G. Netto,La liberazione di Girolamo Eniliani cit., pages
372-375; C. Pellegrini, San Girolamo Miani cit., pages 304~312.
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Die octavo mensis ianuarii 1613 a nativitate (£, 15r).

Coram admodum illustri et reverendo domino Christophoro Baldo iuris ut~

s clerico Bergomensi et in episcopatu Tarvisii vicario geae-

rali, (f. 15v) admodum reverendus dominus Rodulphus de Rodulphis Utinensis,

prior monasterii Sanctae Mariae Maioris de Tarvisio, monitus de veritate di-
cenda, deposuit eius iuramento ut infra, videlicet.

riusque doctore

Question :

He answered :

ORDINARY PROCESS OF TREVISO

Can you give a narration of a miracle that happened in tha
person of the known signor Jerome Miani who became later
founder of the Congregation of the -Somascan Fathers?

Besides what is written in this book where in other occa-
sions were recorded the miracles that from time to time were.
happening more miraculous, - he showed the beginning of the
book: the Prologue, In the following book; interposing Tew
things: The Fourth Book of Miracles startsj covered with
tablets, in it at the reverse of page 35 we can find as fol-
lows -~ I heard from our old fathers that this gentlenean,
being captain for the serenissima Republic of Venice, was
taken by the enemies and put at the bottom of a tower with
fetters (a) at the feet. Founding himself in such situation,
he made the vow of visiting the image (b) of the blessecd
Virgin Mary of Treviso, through which the very holy Virgin
was making many miracles. The blessed Virgin appeared to
him, gave him the keys, one to open the fetters and the other
to open theé tower. The keys used to be here as our old
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fathers were saying. There is still in our church a tab-
let, in which saild miracle is described, This is what T
kxnow., He was dismissed. ‘

Follow those things described in the above written book of miracles.,
While Messer Jerome Miani, Venetian gentleman, was the governor of Castel-
miovo of Fiiuli with 300 soldiers, he was surrounded by & great army of the
caesarean majesty. They didn't want to surrender, After many battles the
castle was taken, All men were cut to pieces, the governor was put in chains
ot the bottom of a tower. He was fed with bread and water. He was all af=-
flicted and sad for the bad company he had and the torments given him, He
had heard mentioned this Madonna of Treviso., With humble heart he recommen-—
ded himself to her promising to visit this miraculous place, going barefooted,
with & shirt on and have masses be said., Statim (suddenly) a woman dressed
in white appeared to him., She had some keys in her hands and told him: take
these keys, (f. 161) open the fetters and tower and run away. ie had to pass
through the enemy's campy without knowing the way to Treviso. He felt very
disghearted. Iterum (again) he recommended himself to the Madonna and prayed
that she give him help to make it through the army alive and to teach him
the way to come here. fnd statim the Madonna took him by the hand and brought
him through the enemies. Nobody said anything. She brougth him to the way to

e A cattene

b A et ricorso per aiuto g1l 'immagine (he recurred for help to the image)

Treviso. As they could see the walls, she disappeared. He himself narrated
this stupendous miracle. Because he remained faithful to his Venetian Country
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and fought bravely and was caught prisoner by force, he was reconfirmed for
thirty years in that castle which was later recuperated by the Venetian Re=
public,

These words are described in the tablet.

1511, Let every, devout and faithful christian, recollected in himself,
see here a véry splendid mirror of the divine providence, which, with such
very beautiful order and strong guide, orders, (a) supports, and leads through
the merits of the blessed Virgin Mother (b) of the Saviour every rational
crecture (c), placed in the sea of some adversities and tribulations, Once
we reach the contrition of our sins asking (d) the divine help especially (e)
of this Queen of heaven, we are (f) remunerated very largely, with the trea-
gsure of the divine grace and freed from every (g) adversity. This apparently
(h) manifests the case that happened to the magnificent Jerome Miani, Vene-
tian patrician, who, being castellan - and provider of Castelmuovo in Friuli,
with 300 soldiers (i) conquered by many bqttles of the caesarean army, was
caught and put vithout. remission at the bottom of a very harsh tower with
the fetters (1) at the feet, Abandoned in that place by any (m) help, not
knowing whom to recur to, he vowed himself to this divine and very devout
(n) Woman, ssking with all affection her help. Not beéng sparing in answer=-
ing her devouts, she appeared immediately to him and told him (0): take and
open (f. 16v). He opened the fetters and the prison. He wanted to travel
at night, but he didn't trust the army, He invoked again the Madonna (p) who
appeared to him, took him by hand, led (q) him through the army, so that he
wouldn't be molested, nor recognized. Getting out of that danger, he thanked
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God and his Mother praying her to show him the way to come here in Treviso,
where he had never been, but only had great inclination toward this devotion,

~~
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such very beautiful order guides; C such beautiful order guides;
very beautiful and strong order guides

o)

and C.blessed (beata) Mother; D blessed (benedetta) Mother.
christiang A cresture

asks

and C particolarmente; A massime

we are from the divine grace; C of the treasure of her grace we are.
and C ogniy A qualunque,

apertamente; B and C aperto.

3003 B 350

acsel asprapon 1i ceppi; B and C con assal aspri ceppi.
qualunque; B and C ogni.

devotissimag C beatissima

disseglis C dicendogli

Medonnay B and C Madre di gratia

condusseloj C conducendolo
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It was wonderful then, as if he hed there a guide, he was guided (a) by
the Madonna who led him until near Treviso (b). When they were approaching
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and almost seeing the walls (c), she disappeared. He arrived dressed with a
shirt here to the devotion (d), With tears and devout words he referred his
due graces, offered the key of the prison or the fetters (e), which he re-
ceived from our Woman (f)., Sald messer Jerome narrated with his own mouth
to anyone (g) such mishqp of his at the glory and praise of God ondof this

50
bién, Mother of grace who appeared to him (h).

Dicta die,

Constitutus reverendus presbiter Quintilianus Luna Brixiensis, sacrista
scclesiae praefate Sanctae Meriae Maioris, eius iuramento omnia per antedic-
tum reverendum priorem Rodulphum dicta retificavit et confirmavit.

a G dicendogli,
b B e C Madre di gratia.
¢ C conducendolo.
&% d Be C et eccom mirsebil cosa, e guidato.
e D manca da dove mai era stato ... Fresso Treviso.
f B e C approssimandosi alle mura.
g B e C compare qui nella chiesa.
h B e C le chiavi della prigione et i ceppi.
i Be C la qual chiave del 1528 8l e smarrita.
1 B e C Narro dunque.
m Be C et in lode a Dio et alla gloriosa Madre offerse questa tavola.
Subdens H L'istesso miracolo 5 descritto nei libro stampato de mira-
coli pih segnalati fatti da questa santissima Vergine.
by Addens : Ho inteso da padri miei antecessori in questo monasterio,
ing come qui erano anco le chiave, con le quali apri esso signor

Geronimo la prigione e ceppi, ma che sono circa cento amnni
che sono perce

L34




Toannes Caravagius notarius curiae episcopalis de praemissis rogatus in
fidem se subscripsit,

Christophorus Baldus iuris utriusque doctor, clericus Bergomensis et in
episcopaty Tarvisii vicarius generalis, Universis etc. fidem facimus et at-
testamur reverendum dominum Ioannem Carabagium, qui de praemissis rogatus
fuit et se subscriptsit, esse notarium publicum curiae episcopalis Tarvisii,
legalem,probum et authenticum, bonae conditionis et famae, cuius publicis
(f, 17r5 scripturis hic, in iudicio et extra, plena fides adhibetur et ubi-
que merito potest adhiberi, In quorum fidem, etc, Datum Tarvisii ex palatio
episcopall die decima secunda mensis ianuarii 1613, Christophorus Baldus
vicarius generalis,

finis,
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( 21 November 1613 - 3 June 1614 - & November 1614 )




Introduction

with this booklet of the Sources the publicaticn of the Ordinery process
for the csuse of beatification of St. Jerome Miani is concluded. It contains
the testimonies given to the processes of Bergamo, Cemmo, Padova, Venezia. We
already published the processes of Como, Genoves Pavia, Milano, Somasca®m, Vi-
cenza, Treviso.

on fpril 16, 1614, a process wes celebreted in Selo. It's goal was to
gather testimonies regarding the salodian PriestStefano Bertazzoli, author of
some memoires about Miani. It's not printed because it doesn't relate direct-
ly to our Saint.

From 1624 to 1628 the processes of Milano, T-eviso, Venezia, Bergamo, Pa-
via, Brescia and Somasca talke place. In these, besides more than one hundred
new witnessess, for a second time some witnesses elready interrogated in the
ordinery processes were ehesrd, while of ‘others we just reported their tes-
timonies. We don't think oportune to report the text of the apostolic pro-
cesses, because slready overused by the ancient biographers of the Saint and
because a selcetion of the most significant testimonies cen be found in the
Summary of the position ahout the heroicity of the virtues, printed in 1714;
Sacra Rituim Congreg tione, Veneta seu Midiolanensis beatificationis et cano-
nizationis ven. serv. Dei Hieronymi Aemiliani congregationis Somaschae funda-
toris, Informctio super dubio virtutum laeroicarum, Romae 1714, Summarium,
page 176.




ORDINARY PROCESS
OF
BERG AMO

(November 21, 1613~November 8, 1614)

INTRODUCTION

1. THE MANUSCRIPTS
We could consult three manuscripts of the ordinary process of Bergsmo.

The first is the codex D 202 of the general archive of the Somescan Fe-
thers of Genova: fcta et processus senctitatis vitae et miraculorum venersbi-~
lis patris Bieronymi fAemiliani, anno Domini MDCXV. It's about a copy made by
the Milanese notary Carlo Francesco Ferrario in 1615. The manuscript contains
the text of four processes celebrated in Bergamo. The first on November 21,
1613 = Jaunary 13, 1614 is taken from a copy made on the original by notary
Pietro Colleoni, chencellor of the episcopal curia, and legelized by the vicar
general Orazio Federici on April 30, 1615. It occupies folios 66r-84v. The
second, celebrated on June 3, 1614, is taken the from the original by the
seme notery and legalized by Federici on June 4, 1614. It occupies folios
34r-36v, The third process is of July 28, 1614. The copy is of the same no-




tary, legalized by the same vicar general. It occupies folios 63r to 65v.
The last is of November 8, 1614. It occupies folios 33r-34r, The copy, ta-
ken from the original existent in the curia of Rergamo, wes legslized. Our
transcription follows this codex and to it refers the indication of the pages.
Eetween this end the other manuscripts there is no difference of content.,

The Second manuscript is contained in codex 1350 of the Venetian Correr
[ibrary: Varia ad beati Hieronymi congregationis Somaschae fundatoris canoni-
gationem spectantia. There are two copies of the process initiated on Novem-
ber 21, 1613: One in 1350/1, folios 156r-165r, 167r-170r; the other 1350/3%
folios 1Tr-35r. There are two copies also of the process of November 8; 16143
the first in 1350/1, folios 47v-48v. The second in 15%0/3, folio 62. The
other two processes sre only found in codex 1350/1: the one of June 3, 1614
at folios 52v-54v: the one of July 20, 1614 at folios 157r-159r.

while the process of Bergamo was celebrated on fpril 8, 1625, father
paolo Cadrella, substitute of the procurator Father Giovanni Antonio Palirio,
asked the remissorial judges that the depositions given to the ordinary pro-
cesses by some testimonies already dead be included in the acts of the pro-
cess. This is regarding Sister Flena, sister Veronica de Manentis, the doctor
Giovan Paolo Parili, the Somascan, Nicolo Savoldi, the doctor Pellegrino Ba=-

iis relli, see Mediolanensis canonizationis beati Hieronymi femiliani patritii Ve-
neti et congregationis Somaschae fundatoris, Processus remissoriales fabricsati

' Tarvisii, Venetiis, Bergomi, Brixiae et Peapiae, process of Bergemo, folio 48r-

Yoy 5%y, The codex preserved in the archive of the general Procuration of the Somes-

can Fathers in Rome is an authentic copy of the apostolic process: it was made
by the notary of the Sacred congregation of the rites (learco Bosco and legali-
z.ed




on April 2, 1629.

The text of the ordinery process of Bergamo has never been edited nor
used by the biographers of the saint.

2. ~THE PROCESS

The first process, the most important, sterted on Fovember 21, 1613,
Faother Giovanni Calts, named procurator for the cause, went to Oragzio Fede-
rici, Vicar general of the bishop of Bergamo Giovenni Bmo. He asked him
that some testimonies be interrogated sbout the holiness of 1ife and the
miracles attributed to the intercession of Miani.

The seme dey in the choir of Sta. Maris Msddelena of the pilous house
of the Converted in front of Federici, were interrogated Sister Maria Isi-
dora, sister Flena, and sister Aurelia de Nadinis,

The following day, November 22, in the sacristy of the church of the
Mnnunciation of the pious house of the orphan girls, Maria Flisabetta della
Torre, sister Rarbara Zanchi, sister Domenica Gevazzi and Mnna Gabinali de-
poseds

On November 23 in the superior parlor of the monastery of Sta. Maria
Metris Domini the sisters Veronica Monenti, Afra Bongi and Cecilis Gromo were
heard.

The interrogatory on Miani's life was then cencluded. The rest of the
process; except the deposition of the Somascan Nicold Savsldi, it wes sbout
the healing from "ischiade" with purdent plague obtained by sister Veronica
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Manenti, sister of Matris Domini. On Nobember 27, 161% in the room of the
sudiences of the vicar general doctor Giovan Paolo Barili was heard. On Novern-
ber 30, in the parlor of Matris Domini sister Veronica was again interrogated
on the continuation of her good health. On January 9, 1614, glways in the
parlor of Matris Domini, were interrogated on the same subject the prior sis-
ter Rartolomea Benaglia, sister Clara Maffei and for the third time, the one
who received the_grace. on January 13, doctor Giovan Paolo Barili for the
second time and Doctor Pellegrino Borelli were called to depose.

* K K X K K

The second proéess was about the healing obtained by Lucia Brigida Pelleg-
rini. It was celebrated on June 3. 1614 in the audiences room of the vicar
general in the. episcopel palace, [ucia Brigida Pellegrini was interrogated.
che was of Celanella in the St. Martino valley: oephan of the pious house of
at., Mtonio of Bergamo; for about fifteen years she was affected by an infir-
mity to the nose, for which she was cured in the pdvent of 1613 in four or five
days. fbout the same event were interrogated frcangela and Bartolomea Rivoli,

also of the house for orphan girls.

on July 28 father Nicolo! Savoldi went to the vicar general Federici,
representing the procurator father Calta, to ask that it be included in the
act of the process the text of the dedicatory letter of the Capuchin Jerome
from Malfetta, presenting the work of fra Bartolomeo of cittatdi Castellos
npiglogue of the spiritusdl union of God with the soul where the speakers are;
divine Tord, the spouse soul and human reasoning", edited in Milano in 1539 by
Francesco Cantalovo and Innocenzo Cicogna. The transaction was made by




notary Pietro Colleoni and legalized by Federici the seme 28 of July.

On November 8, 1614 in the audiences room of the vicar general intonio
Gromo wes 1lnterrcgated.

Notary for the acts of the various processes was Pletro Colleoni, chan-
cellor of the episcopal curia of Bergamo.

*O* KK ¥ H

Of the first process we report the interrogatories of the converted of
Sta. Maria Maddalena, of the orphans, of the sisters of Matris Domini and of
Father Nicolo' Savoldi. We omit instead the testimonies which are uniquely
about the grace obtained by sister Veronica Monenti.

0f the other processes only the deposition in which Brigida Pellegrini

narrates the grace obtained is transcribed. The dedicatory letter of fra
Jerolamo from Malfetta will be published in ariother booklet of the sources.

3. WITNESSFES

Fifteen witnenses were called to depose in the first process of Bergamo
and four in the following others. Three times sister Veronica Manenti was
interrogated end two doctor Giovan Paoclo Rarili. If we do not count Flisa-
betta della Torre, whose testimony is not probing due to very old age, of the
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four testimonies heard about the healing of Veronica Manenti and of the three
about Brigida Pellegrini, the witnesses on the 1life of Miani heard in the pro-
cess of Fergamo total eleven. Of them three are sisters of the Sta. Maria
Maddalena monastery of the converted, three of the pious house of . the or-
phan girls, three sisters of the iatris Domini monastery, &nd a Somascan Fa-
ther Nicold Savoldi and a lay Mmtonion Gromo.

4, MADONWA ANFA end THE CONVERTED OF BRRGAMO

_ The pious house of the Converted of Bergamo in 1613 was in the quarter of
gan Giovanni in the "borgo" of San Mntonio.

The firs of the three sisters interrogated was Maria Isidora Gavazzi, she
will be called to depose also in the spostolic process on March 13, 1625. The
personal news on the witness, found in the two processes, do not match. She
was from Bonste and had entered smong the converted a little after the 1585.

Sister Flena wes born between 1530 and 1535 and had entered at Sta. Maria
Maddalena when she was just 15. Interrogeted in the process she was 80, She
died in 1616 and buried in the church of St., flessandro of the Cross.

Mrelia de Nadini was from Treviolo. Her father's name wes Pletro, her
mother's Oliva. She wos accepted at the converted in 1574 when she was not
even 16. She hed different duties, among which the one of vicar. Che was
interrogated also in the apostolic process of 1625 and this second testimony
is richer in details.

In the monastervof the converted the old women had transmitted to the




youngest the memory of the founder. We have the name of some who knew Mienis
madonna Riccadonna;, Flisabetta, Mngelas these were the first, then also sis-
ter Maria Maddalensa, sister Anne, sister Mntonia, sister Domenica who wss the
last to die around the 1600 angd head occupied several times the office of
madre and vicer.

But it was & memory that with the passing of time was loosing its con-
crete details and falling into a generic form of holiness; "I don't know any--
thing else but that -he was a father of great bounty of life, who was making
a lot of good deeds": "I know onhly from the grest mentioning of the people a-
bout this father Jerome and always has persevered and continued this very
good fame of his bounty."

The news don't say anything more: he multiplied the bread: he used to
live in the hermitare: in time of fa:inc he gave all his goods for Cod's love;
at night he was fealessly carrying the dead to burial.

Someone voiceiout a complaint because they had wsited too long to do the
processes: "They were supposed to interrogate long before so there would be
many more things coming out ."

For the converted who had known St. Jerome, the onc who left & deeper
remembrance was sister fmna, true immage of kindness end loving simplicity.
The sisters agree in recognizing: it:"This madonna mna was of good life and
very devout of good msnners and humble., She was praying a lot, confessing =nd
communiccting very often, making the mental prayer and discipline by herself
many time aspecially at the time when we make the sepulchres: on holy week
she used to remaininthe choir in preyer, meking the discipline and crying. She
was praying for those who were in the kitchen for the week they couldn't be
long in prayer." fAnother sister says: "Ch! sald fMnne was very devout, spi-~
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ritual, good mennered end well esteemed, more ae the prayers she was doing at
nights what good wasn't she doing?."

It's worth to remark alsotwo instances with the simplicity of the little
flowers: the epparition of St. Jerome to sister fnna during her last sickness
and the exorcism of Giovenni Meria of fequete over a spirited womén. The word
concluding the narration of this episode are striking: "That big saint is
there in front of the holy Trinity and of God to prey for these holy institu-
tions," and the sisters think thet,that saint is none else than father Jerome
their founder, "because he was the lamp of the place.”

5. The Orphans of the pious house of the Mnnunciation.

The institution of the orphan girls, also founded by Miani, wes near the
converted. The church was dedicated to the Annunciation.

The first witness to be interrogsted wes Barbara Zanchi, deaughter of
Vincenzo and Flisebettsa, she wes from Redone. She was 45 and was accepted in
the pious hcuse at 7. She wus in cherge of the hand-looms.

Domenica (Gavazzi of Bergamo was 42 and entered the Annunciation at IOk
Her father wes Gioven Battiste, the mother Isebetta. She wes incharge of the
food and sewing teacher.

fna Gebinali, or Gabuziali, of Bartolomeo and Maddelenas. She was from
Rergamo. She entered at 7. She was 39. Her duty was to kecp in order the
cloth,
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These three witnesses were called to depose again in the apostolic process
respectively on 7, 17 and 18 of February, 1625. The second deposition is, in
general, morc abundent in news and details not only about Mieni but the life
itself of the orphans of the institution, In the apostolic process other
three orphans were interrogated who had received healings attributed to the
intercession of St. Jerome: Giovanna fdobati, of Cristcforo and Antonia, born
in Venice, 56, who used to help the Teachers. Brigida Pellegrini of Celanells,
daughter of Giobbe and Lucrezia; 47, in charge of the garden and of mendicating.
Maddalena Barili, 30, born in Bergamo in Borpo San Leonerdo, daughter of Rocco
end Maddalena, who used to work at the hand-looms.

Mso these depositions are rather generic. The old ladies had repeatedly
narrated the facts of Miani's life, but the young did not always put "enough
fantesy." In the recalling there remained especidally the extraordinary facts,
as the one of the bread. Thereare then the ususl testimonies of genersl cha-
racter: he was a man of holiness and bounty of lifesin vile dress he used to
do good and holy deeds, to bring back to good life the dissolute persons and
build pious institutions.

In the apostolie process are not missing more particuler news: he used to
come often to the house of the orphen girls, which then wes in the quarter of
Pozzo Bianco, to review "the actions'; among -his friends there was a priest
from Vicenza, a certein Mgelo della Cerz, a father (telmos he used to eat only
bread end the worse giving the good one to the poor: he used to wear & bleck
short cassack; ¢ big leather pair of shoes and on the head heir "which were
not beautiful"; for mortification he wes wearing a low, small, round cap cal-
led "bretignolo"; he wes o strong, animatett mang he had taught one of the
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mothers how to medicetec especielly the ring worm: before dying he wanted to
wash the feet to sll orphans one of whom, while dying, saw the luminous
throne which would have received his fether Jerome, He used to wear leoneted
cloth he carried the cilice, he wes sleeping on the bare ground,

IMmong the old ladies of the institution of the orphan girls the recolles
are especislly regarding sister Buona and sister Scolastice.

Sister Buona was born between 1515 and 1520, She died in 1593 about 80
years old. She had known Miseni and many times tolked to him. She had been
a mother of the pious institution: e completely spiritugl woman, of good and
exemplar 1lifc who was making many prayers,"

Scolestica died in 1610 about 90 yesrs old, Father Vincenzo Gambarana had
entrusted to her the direction of the orphan girlss she kept that duty for
many years. "She was a spiritual women of very great devotion and attending
with diligence to the government of the institution: she left a very good
memory of her deeds and in the institution she is thought of holy 1life; she
was meking very meny prayers.i

These two women emong the first orphans gathercd by Misni, besides pre-
serving the memory with thelr word and testify with their life, the bounty

of thelr master, alimented in the hearts of the youngest a true devotion to-
ward thec founder.

The depositions given to the processes testify to thaet as well as the
narration of the graces attributed to the intercession of St. Jerome: the
sack of hread ~¢posited at the door while the whole community turns to him
in prayer, or the basket of "fresh, white, besutiful" breed with great chesse
on it or the beg of money in a moment of nced such as to induce mother Sco-
lastice to pawn the chalice, and then the healings of Giovanna fdobati, Bri-
gida Pellegrini and Maddalena Barili.
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6. THE NUNS COF MITRIS DOMINI

Matris Domini was one of the most famous Bergemese monasteries which
hosted about 40 dominican nuns between the veiled and the converse. Among
them, in the second helf of the five hundred, there was a@lso a sister of Gio-
vannl Cataneo named Onesta.

The first witness to be interrogasted was Veronica de Menentis; & converse
who entered the monastery about the 1568 at fifteen (15). When she was nine
her father wes killed and, while her two brothers were accepted amonz the or-
phans of the Maddslena, together with another sister she entered the institu-
tion for orphen gzirls. Here she heard telking about St. Jerome by some clders:
Scolastica, Fuons, Meddelens; Grata, Domenica. Her testimony relates mainly on
the narration of the healing obtalned by lMieni.

fmong the converse of Maris Domini there was another orphan; Domenica wiho
died in 1599. From her, sister 'of good and exempler life, given to prayer and
doing nothing else than telk sbout spiritual books", the nun Cecilia Gromo had
heard talks about Jerome.

The third witness is /fra Fonchi. She had entered the monastery when she
was 14, on Kerch 24, 1552. She remembers when the elders verc norrabing; the
visits of Miani to the monastery, the wekes outside the door of the church while
celebrating the matins, some words s&id by him and having heard him 'mentloned
well."
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ORDINARY PROCESS OF EFRGAMO

Most Reverend Lord,

(f., 66r) Giovanni Calta, regular Somascan, procurator elected by the
very reverend father don Maurizio de Domi: general superior of the regular
clerics of Somasca regarding the informations to be made about the holiness of
1ife and mirecles of father Jerome Miani founder of the Somascan congregation,
petitions your most reverend Lordship to be happy to examine the testimonies
wiich will be presented by such procurator about the life and miracles of the
above said father Jerome, with an authentic writing in good form which might
give good faith in a judgment. Besides the result of a greater honour and
glory of God, father general and the whole Congregation of Somasca will re-
main obliged to your most reverend lorship for such a fsvor and will pray the
Lord for your greater exaltation and long life. nuam Deus, etc.

Die 21 mensis novembris 1613,indictione undecima.

Corem illustrissimo et multum reverende domino Horatioc de Federicis;
sacrae theologiae doctore, prothonotario spostolico, presbltero Brixiensi et
illustrissimi et reverendissimi domini domini episcopi Bergomi vicario gene-
rali, praesentata fuit dicta supplicetionis et contentorum in ea scriptura
per praefatum multum reverendum patrem Joannem Caltam.clericum regularem de
Somasca, petentem et instantem super verificetione contentorum in praedicta
supplicationc deceral assumendas esse informationes per eum ut infra, nomi-
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nandas, ac alias gquascumque opportunas et necessarias ad hoc etec., omni me-
liori modo etc,

mi preefatus illustris et multum reverendus dominus vicarius, visis et
auditis praedictis, decrevit testes ut supra per dictum reverendum patrem no-
minandos super praedictis assumi debere, quorum examen mihi notario commisit .
et mandavit omni melior:modo etc.

Die XXI novembris 1613.

In choro ecclesiae Sanctae Maeriae Magdalenae monasterii seu pii loci

convertitarum, sito in burgo Sancti #ntonii contratuae Sancti loannis Eergomi.
AN

Coram illustri et multum reverendo domino Horetio de Federicis, sacrae
tl:eologiae et iuris utriusque doctore; prothonotario apostolico et illustris-
simi et reveredissimi domini domini Joennis fAmi, episcopi Bergomi et comitis
ac sanctissimi domini nostri papae ascsistentis, vicerius in spirituelibus st
temporelibus generalis.

(f. 66V) Vocate soror Maria Isidora, soror dicti monasteril seu loci pii
mulierun convertiterum, testis ut suora nominate et pro verificatione nerra-
torum in suppliceticne desuper coram praefato illustri et multum reverendo do-
mino vicsrio porrecia, iurata in manibus pracfetli multum reverendi domini vi-
cerii corporsliter tactis scripturis etc., de veritate dicenca etc., monita
etc., et opportune per dominum.
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Interrogateds

She answered:

Interrogeted:

she answered:

Miestioned ¢

che answered:

Nuestloned

She ansvered:

nuestioned

She angwared:

How long she has been living in this institution or monastery
of the converted.

Ttts sbout 25 or 26 yeers that I live in this institution of .
the converted.

If she elweys lived for all this time by the laws of the con-
vected.,

Yes, sir! Turing &1l this time I elways lived and have observed
the laws of this pleace.

How many times a year she used to confess’, who her confessor isg
How many times she used to receive Communion

Ordinerily we confess end communicate once & menth, T will
confess every fifteen days or three weeks and also will communi-
cate. Our confessor is the most yrev,. Alessandro Pili Curate
of Treviolo.

1f she ever knew de visu father Jerome ¥ieni the founder of this
place?

I could not know him beceause it's too many years that he died and
before my birth.

if she knew father Jerome de auditu.

Tt's = true I heard mentioning this father Jerome as a holy
men, doing good deeds and being the founder of this place of
the converted .

~15=




Muestioned : Whom she heard saying things from?

She answered: I heerd it seid by madonna Maria faddclenea who dicd about twelve
yeers ago end by madonna Elena a converted who lives in this
place and is very old and &lso by a certain madonna Anna, who
is also dead.

Miestioned ¢ What actually she heard from these women about sald father
Jerome?

She answered: While seid madonna Mnna wes sick in bed, from which infirmity
she then died (f. 67r), I was her nurse and was governing her.
vhile T wes in her room, where was alsco the sbove mentioned

| gister Meria Maddalena who wss then mother or vicar, I heard

‘ sick sister sey something like this: I heard thesee our father
Jerome before dying. S&id mother Maddelena told her that if

‘ that father was going to appesr to her, to tell her and say it.
The next day seid madonna frna lost conscience for about three
hours. She seemed dead. When she got better like if nothing
had happened she told me to call madonna Maria Maddelena. She
ceme to the bed of said madonna fAnna who, in my presence; told
madonna Meria riaddalena that she had the vision of father Jerome
Misni the founder of the place; recelved his blessing, and was
told to be constent and to not worry. This said madonna Anna
to medonna Maria Maddalena after the accident in bed, in the
0ld dormitory of this place, in my presence and zlso of madonna
Jerome,converted who is dead. She was also a nurse. After
saying these words with a volce I could hear, madomna Anna and

I medonna iMaria Maddalena continued talking, but T retired and did
not hear what they said.
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ruestioned i about the behaviour of sald sick sister /fna, her qualities
and her age?

she answered: This madonna fnne was of good life and very devout, of good
customs and qualities, doing good deeds and about 60 to 70 years
o0ld._- She madg mental »rayer and the discipline many times. Espe-
cially the times of the sepulchers on holy week she used to
remain in prayer in the choir disciplining herself and crying.

3 Sshe was praying for those working in the kitchen that week

;r who couldn't give much to prayer. TLsater she was telling them
E about it.

it. .

e nestioned : (f. 67v) if she knows anything else sbout said father Jerome?
ng

Sﬁe She enswered: 1 did not hear anything else but thet he was a father of grect
1d bounty of life doing many good deeds. FEt hezec sunt etc.

;de fbout more general thing she answered well saying: "I might be
v of about 70 years, not learned, etc.

e
onna Dicto die et locaj.et coram ut suprs.

and Vocete soror FHelena monialis convertita dicti monasterii sey loci pii,
d did testis ut supra nominata et pro verificatione ut supra recepte; iurata in ma-

nibus praefati illustris et multum reverendi domini vicarii corporaliter tac-
tis sacris litteris etc., monite de veritate dicends etc.;, et opportune per
dorinum.




Nuestioned -

She answered:

Mestioned

She answcred:

Miestioned -

She enswered-

Muiestioned =

She answered:

Miegstioned -

How long she has been in this religion?

I don't remember for sure. I remember I wes 15 vhen 1 entered
in this place.

If she alweys lived in this place by the common laws of this
pious house,

Yes, Sir, 1 made my life in this place observing the laws and
rules of this plzce.

How many times a yeer she confessed and who is her confessor?

Generally the women of this place confess and communicate every
monthe I confess and communicate even more often., Cur confessor
is fether Mlessandro of Treviolo. Now I confess every elght
days beczuse the confessor comes every week. We confess and
commnicete extraordinerily all the special feasts of the Yeer,
like those of the Tord, of the Blessed Virgin and the apostles.

If she knows de visu father Jerome Miani founder of the regu-
lar clerics of Somascéa.

I never saw tliis father Jerome.

If she somctimes heerd someons who knew him, what they said
about him, who they are?
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She answered:

cubdens exsa:

Nuestioned

She answered:

I heard mentioning this father Jerome by many women who died,

mainly from one called /nna, who said that said father Jerome
anrpeared to her; I was told this by the sisters of this place,
even if I heard it from said /nna's mouth.

Ohy, said fnna was a great devout, spiritual and of very
good reputation, She was making her prayers meinly by night.
that good didn't she do?

if she heard anything about ssid father Jerome?

I also heard in the house that one time the orphans were re-
duced to such necessity as not to have bread. Said father
Jerome started praying (for which) a greet quantity of bread

was brought to him. I heard this from the women of this pluce es
especially from Mme end Maria Maddelene and Domenica. They

ere all dead,

be

Subdens a seipsos we were supposed to interrogateallong time before and many

yeers agoy so we could have found many things, because
there were people vho were remembering cbout his actions.

Subdens etiam exse: Before building this place, we, the converted were 1i-

ving in the institution of the converted in Pelabiocco.
When the walls of this city were constructed it wss des~-
troyed. I ranember very well that in that place father
Giovenni Maria Bolis of ‘fqua, diocesis of Milano, father
of the Somascon congregation, exorcized a spirited woman
in our interior church, which I think belonged to the
quarter, Thile seid father Rolis weas exorcigzing said
creature, father was caught by an arm by the possessed
and brought around in the church. Father BRolis was say-
ing, do what you want because I'm in the church. The
possessed said the following words: that big szint {san-
tone) is there at the presence of the Loly Trinity and




God to pray for these holy works. Ve thought he was inteading
father Jerome, becsuse he wes the light and founder of the (£,
66v) place.

Muestioned : 1if she knew something or does something come back to her me=
mory to be said about the 1life the works of said father Je-
rome?

she answered: T don't know enything else but the testimony of the people of
sald father Jerome. T can't tell you nor narrate how much he
hes elways been preserved and econtinued without any interrup-
tion. Ft haec sunt, etc.....

Super generslibus recte respondit, dicens: Io non vi saorei
mal dire la mig eta: et ex aspectu est decrepite, et potest esse aetatis
annorum 80 et ultra etc., et non docta ete.

e dicto et loco et coram ut supra.

Voceta furelis de Nadinis Bergomi, monialis convertita, mcter
nuncupata dicti loei seu monasterii, testis ut supra nominats et pro verifi-
catione ut supre recepts, iurats in manibus pracfati multum reverendi domini
Vicarii corporaliter tactis scripturis ete., monita de veritate dicenda ete.o,
et opportune per dominum,

Cuestioned : How long she hes lived in that piocus house of the converted?

She answered: From 1574 I am dressed and live in this place of the converted.

Mestion=d

va

1f she always lived by the common laws of this place.
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She answered: Yes, Sir! I've slways lived under the observance end rules of

this place.

Nnuestioned : How often she used to confess? Who's her confessor, How often
she uses to receive communion?

She answered: Usually I confess every month and all solemnities of the year,

but then I confess and communicate, I can say, cvery feast., OQur

confessor is father flessandro of Treviclo. #Also today we had
communion,

Nuestioned : How long it is that she is the mother of this place?
She answered: Since Pentecost, but I have been other times.

Nuestioned : if she has any knowledge or had about Jerome Miani (69r) as
above.

She answered: I never knew this fether but by what has been said by the el-

ders of this place.

Muestioned : if she remembers having heard sbout the life and deeds of father
Jerome Miagni.

She answered: I heard from a Maria Meddslens snd Mntonia, sister of this
place many years &go, who were saying that sesid father Jerome

in his life made the mirecles of multiplying the bresd, wos
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living in the eremo, in time of famine gave all he possessed
for God's love: one time when there was no kreed for the or-
phans he prayed and a good quality of bread was brought by
miracle.

Ouestioned ¢ if she knows anything precisely of if she heard done by said
father. '

She answered: I know that sald father Jerome appeared to our above sister,
called Mna, already dead, when she was sick. This I have Leen
told by sister Maria Maddalena, who is also dead, and Maria :
Isidora the nurse of said Madonna Anna.

Muestioned - to tell them about the fact of the apparition.

She answered: I will tell you about this apperition. Sister Anna was gravely
111 and given as finished by the doctors. She was saying that
she had the faith of knowing when she wes going to die because
she hoped that her father Jerome would meke her known. If
happened me day that she seemed completely gone. Seild father
blessed her but I could not hear whet he told her. All this,

I know as heard from said sister Maria }Meddelena.

Nuestioned to tell the sbout the 1life and behaviour of -the sick Sister Mnna

She answered: This sister fnna wes always day and night in prayer and wes
(f. 69v) of good example, &and exemplary good life. I knew her
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very well, when we had some duties in the house by which we
couldn't go to prayer, sister /nna was telling us not to doubt
that she would have seid the preyers for us.

d
- cubdens ex se: If this examination and diligence had been made ten or twelve ‘
years ago, certainly then would be more about the bounty of life
of this father Jerome and there would have been people who would |
4 have narrated his miracles.
nuestioned < How long it is thst fnne died.
'i che answered: it must have been ebout fifteen or sixteen years but I can't J
6EN remember the exact year. |
L
Auestioned : if she heard something else about the 1ife and behavior of seid
father Jerome.
I
She eanswered: I only heard asbout the holiness and good decds of said father
wely Jerome by public continuous reknown, not interrupted. T heard
hat that during the famines, a pestilentisl sickness came up, &t
use the time when seid father Jerome was 1living, at night he was
bringing fearlessly the dead for burial. I seld all these
ey things because it is the truth. Et haec sunt, etc. !
LSg I
Super generalibus recte respondit, in communione fidelium ut supra, |
aetatis ennorum 55 in circa, non docta, etc. }
~ - fnna |
Die 22 mensis praedicti novembris 1613, |
her In choro seu sacristia ecclesise Mnunciationis bestae Marise lcci [I

seu monasterii orfanarum, site secus dictum locum sey monasterium converti-
tarum Bergomi.

s |




corem praefato illustri et multum reverendo domino vicario generali epis-
copalis curiae Bergomi.

Vocata Maria Flihebeth, filia quondam magistri Fettini de la Turre,
vidua relicta quondam Josannis Raptistae de Legrenzis, habitatrix in burgo
Sancti Mtonii in contrata (f. 70r) Sancti Josnnis, testis ut supra nominata
et pro verificatione narratorum ut supra recepta, ilurata in . manibus praefati
multum reverendi domini vicarii corporaliter tactis sacris litteris, monita de
veritate dicenda etc., et per dominum opportune.

muestioned : How many times a year she go to confession? Who's her confessor?
How many times she receives holy communion?

She answered: Ordinarily I confess every eight day or fifteen; sometimes &t
St. Rartoloneo with the fathers or father Nicolo Savoldi of
San Martino. when I go to confession I also go to communion.

Muestioned ¢ if she ever lived in this pious place of orphan girls, when?
2t what age she entered?

She answered: Yes, Sir! I've been in this pious place for orphans for about
five months when I was only nine years old.

Miestioned : if she knew de visu proprio father Jerome Miani founder,; etc.

She answered: Sir, I remember seeing one time with my own eye: father
Jerome Miani founder of this place: he.had a nephew Fabrizio,

Miestioned : What she knew about the dress, the behaviour, the life and
his deeds, Where she saw said father Jerome?
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But because she geemed to ejuivocate some answers and not being so strong
because of her old age, she was dismissed.

Die dicto, et loco, et coram ut supra.

Vocata soror Barbara, filia magistri Vincentii de Zanchis, degens in dic-
to pio loco orphanarum, testis ut supra nominata et pro v.V€rificatione ut
supra recepta, iurata in manibus praefati multum reverendi domini vicarii de
veritate dicenda etc., monita etc.;, et per dominum opportune.

miestioned ¢ Since when she lived in this place?

She answered: I think it's 37 or 38 years (f. 70v) that I live in this pious
place of the orphan girls. When I came here I was seven,

muestioned : 1if she always lived by the laws common to this place?

She answered: Yes, Sir, I always observed the laws and rules of this pious
place the way the others also live.

nuestioned : 1if she used to frequent the sacrament of penance and eucharist?
who her confessor is.

She answered: Ordinarily the women of this place, and so do I confess once. a
month, Since ten or eleven years we do it every week and when
there are feasts of the year. Twhere I confess I also communi-

cste. Qur confessor is father Nicolo'! of the order of San Mar—
tino.
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Huestioned

She answered:

uestioned

She answered:

Muestioned

if she knew de visu or the auditu father Jerome Miani the
founder of this place?

I did not know sald father Jerome Miani, but sister Buona, wo-
man of this pious place, who died 20 years zgo at the age of
about eighty, told me she knew father Jerome and talked to him
various times.

To tell them what she heard from sald Buona about said fsther
Jerome.,

I heard said sister Buona tell many and meany things of this
father Jerome but I remember only one., Said father Jerome pro-
tector of the orphans of this city one day was reduced to such
necessity that there were only two or three pieces of bread,

He gave a little to everybody and by miracle ell were satis~
fied with that little bread even if they were of great number,
This has been told me by sister Mna who heard it from the or-
phans. If I well remember, I was then young so 1 didn't pay
too much attention. These (f. 71v) our old ones of this place
were telling the miracles of this father, as a holy man so that
we wculd be his devotees, because, being young, we had little
devotion.

if there were other present when seid Sister Buona was talking
about sald Fether Jerome,

-




che answered: Sis ter Anna and Sister Domenica,women and sisters of this
pious place were also present; who are still alive and others
who are already dead of which I don't remember.

WO-— questioned : about the 1ife and behaviour of sald Buona from which she heard
3 said things?
him
che answered: This sister Buona, whom I knew very well, was a very spiritual
woman, of good life and exemplar. She was preying a lot.
er
questioned : if she knows anything about the life, the' behaviour, special
deeds made by said father Jerome and his reputation?
pro- She answered: I remember that said sister Buona was saying in general that
such said father Jerome was a men of holiness and bounty of life
1, and customs. He was attending only to doing good and holy
S~ deeds. I heard about his reputation in this place: he was thought
DEr . of as a holy man.
or-
3y Et haec sunt, etc.
lace
thet Die dicto, loco et coram ut supra.
tle
Vocata soror Dominica filia quondam megistri loannis Baptistae de Cava-
tiis Bergomensis, mulier huius pii loci orphanarum, testis ut supra nominata
king et pro verificatione ut supra recepta, iurata in manibus preefati multum reve-

rendi domini vicarii corporaliter tactis scripturis etc., monita de veritate
dicenda etc., ¢t opportune per dominum.




ouestioned : How long it is thet she lives in this place? .
che answered: It's 32 years. VWhen I came (f. T1v) I was ten.
Nuestioned : if she lived by the common laws and rulcs of this place?

She answered: 7Yes, Sirt as I do still now according to the rule and obser-
vances and laws of this pious placec,

Questioned How often during the year she confess Who her confessor is?

She answered: Ve go by the commodity of our confessor father Nicolo! regular
of San Martino and ordinarily every feest I confess and recelve
communion and in particular every solemn feast.

Ouestionad if ste knew de visu or at least de auditu father Jerome the

' f
ownr er,

She answered: No, Sir! T never knew de visu father Jerome Mieni, because itfs
too many years that he died. I know him de auditu.

Muestioned 4if she heard ebout said father Jerome, by whom, where, when and
vho weas present.

She enswered: I heard it from sister Scolastica woman of this pleace, who died
three years ago at the age of ninety. She seid that when father
Jerome was governor and protector of the place for orphans of
this city, one time there was nothing to eat but two pieces of bread
and they were many. Said father Jerome said to the orphans
not to doubt, that with the grece of God these two pieces of
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bread would be enough to feed all seid orphans. Father Jerome

in his apron broke said bread and gave a piece to cach one (f.

72r) of said orphans who were full with that 1little piecc of

1, bread that they thought they had easten s lot of food. Said
Sister Scolastica, governess of this place for orphen girls,
told me she heard of this miracle made by Father Jerome, from
Sister Euona, dlso a woman of this pnlace, who died about 20
years ago and very old over eighty. I knew her very well. Saild
Sister Scolastica was telling me that Sister Buona had known
very well this father Jerome and telked many times with him
when he was coming often to this place. This institution was

founded in the quarter of Pozzo Bianco of this city directed

by father who, &ss man of holiness, was coming to see this place.

muesticned + about the life and costums of said Scolsastica?

She answered: 0, Sir, this sister Scolestica, who was almost always the go=-
vernness of this place; was a very spirituel woman and of great
devotion attending with great diligence to the government of
this place. She lct us a very good memory of her good deeds
and actions. She is reputed in this place as we say, of holy
life. She was preying e lot. I heard that alsco sister Buona
was of devout life and given to prayers governing the girls who
were coming to this place.

Questioned : 1if she knows anything clse about the 1ife, costums and especially
deeds of fether Jerome and ebout his reputation?
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Subdens a se
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In general in this place they were saying that this father
Jerome Miani was a man of great holiness, He was & Venetian
gentleman who left and gave for God's love his goods. He
was only ‘attending to geod and holy deeds (f.72v) in vile
hahit, to reduce to the good way dissolute persons and to
build pious institutions and return them to a good state.

I remember elso, that madonna Seolastica narrated to me, as
mother and governess of this pious place that one time this
place was reduced to such a necessity that there was no

bread nor anything else to eat. ©Said sister Scolastica be~
ing the mother of the place, wanted to pawn the chalice in
order to buy food. Before doing it she gathercd the sisters
of the place and said: let's pray and ask our father Jerome
to help us in this need. Then they prayed and asked this
father Jerome. UWhile they were praying, someone knocked ab
the door of this pious place and by miracle end will of God
left a sack full of bread. The chalice was not pqwned, but
through that father the sisters were fed with that sack of
bread. This has been narrated me by gister Scolastica in the
presence of other sister which now I do not remember., Other
times she told me this alone. Sister qeolastice told me that
when the bread was brought in such necessity, because of thelr
prayer, father Jerome was dlready long dead. EU haee sunt,
etc.

Super generalibus recte respondit ut supra, aetatis amnorum 42 in circay
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non docta etec., et factis eliis interrogationibus recte respondit.

Die dicto et loco et coram ut susra.

Vocata soror Mmna, filia quondam Berthclemaei de (Gabinalis Eergo-
mensis, soror dicti pii loci orphanarum, testis ut supra nominata et

pro verificatione narratorum ut
multum reverendi domini vicerii

supra recepta, irata in menibus praefati
corporgliter tactis scripturis de veri-

tate dicenda ctc., monite etc., et per dominum oportune

niestioned e

She answercd @

Muestioned .

She enswered

Nuestioned .

She answered

How long it is that she lives in this pious place and if she
lived according to the laws of their life.
It's almost twenty-nine years that I live in this pious place
of the orphan girls end I was ten when J entered. During all

this time I've glvays observed the rules and orders of this
place.

if she goes often to confession, who her confessor is; How
meny times a year she cormunicates?

Bvery Sunday I confess to father Nicolo of the Order of St.
Martin. If there are solemn feasts I confess again. Usually
when I confess I recelve communion.

if she has any knowledge de visu or at least de auditu about
father Jerome Miani, whet and by whom?

I only heard mentioning this father Jerome tiani by our elders
in this place, in perticular by sister buona who saw and knew

father Jerome, and mother sistercecolestica sister of this pious
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place who are dead and wcre 0ld when they died. Sister Buons
died about twenty years ago sister Sanlastica short time ago.

She was asked what in particular she heard from said women about said
father Jerome.

She answered : I heard from said sisters that said fsther Jerome narrated to
said sister Puona thst through God's majesty one time his or-
phans, of which he had a special care, were reduced to ex=-
treme necessity because they had only two pieces of bread to
est but they were in great number. gaid father broke the bread,
cave it to the children who .ate so much that they thought that
bread was multiplying. This was narrsted by sister Buona to
sister Scolastica. I was present and I heard very well. She
said also that said father Jerome had too greet en occasion: © :
for than king God for this miracle.

Asked sbout the 1ife and costums of the two women.

She answered ¢ sald women were spirituel persons and totally dedicated to
prayer, passing half the night in prayer; besides the day. In
short they were conducting a very good and holy life. They were
worthy of gread esteem and any God-fearing and devout of our
TLord God.

psked if she had heard anything else about father Jerome.

She answered : T heard said by sister Buona who knew said father, that she had
him as a holy man by his actions. she also heard from others
who knew said father Jerome that he was in concept of holiness
and conducing a holy life. I don't remember mentioning any
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name of those she said she heard say the things of father
Jerome, 1In short by public fame he was thought as a holy
to father. At lesst that's whet seid sister Buona told me. Et
r haec sunt, etc.;
O e
L Super genersalibus recte respondit ut supra, actatis annorum 38 in circa,
(@] q
non docta, etc., et interrogata etc.
read,
t . ( o .
tha Die 23 mensis praeteriti novembris 1613.
¥o)
Ehe_ In loco perlatoril superioris apud et extre cretes monesterii Sanctae
. Marise Metris Domini.
“Coram prsefato illustri et multum reverendo domino vicario generall epis-
copalis curiae Eergomi.
' In Voceta soror Veronica de¢ Manertis, monislils conversa dicti monasterii
. Senctae Marise Melris Domini, existens apud et intra crates dicti moansterii,
’ir testis ut supra nominute, iurete in manibus praefsti multum reverendi domini
vicarii corporeliter tactis scripturis de veritete dicends etc.y monita etc.,
et per dominum opportune.
Asked how long she has been living in this monastery.
1e had = . ; o oy P2 :
- She answered : It's now forty-five or forty-six years thet I am converse nun
Sy in this monastery. When I entcred I was fifteen.
Any
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She

Asked if she lived in her paternal house alweys before (f. T4r)

answered ¢ my father wes killed when I was nine. Ve were five children.
Two brothers were placed with the orphens and two sisters,
that is I amd another sister were placed with the orphan girls
where T remained for about five years, then I came to this
monesstery where I always lived. The other brother went to
my uncle's house,

fsked if she lived and lives now with the laws of this monastery,

enswered @ Yes, Sirt I elways lived by the rules and laws of this monas-
tery.

Asked how many times o year she confesses her sins, who 1s her confessor
how many times she receives the sacrament of the Fucherist.

answered @ Usually I confess and communicate every fifteen days and
when there are solemn feasts. Our confessor is monsignor
Pisnce. Before this confessor we had the canon monsignor
Frcole Capitani every week.

fsked if she knew de visu or the suditu father Jerome end from whom,

answered ¢ WMo, Sir. I didn't know father Jerome Miani de visu., I knew
him well by telling end by wh:t I heard.
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Asked to express herself about de auditu ‘regarding seid father, by
whom, when, where, &nd wlic was present.

She enswered : T"hile I was in the pious place of the orphan girls, I hap-

pened to pass in front of a door of the place where were sit-
ting sister Scolastica, Buona, Meddslena, Grada e Domenica,
sisters of the pious place. I heard them talking sbout fa-
ther Jerome Misni who gave the health back to“sick person
who was his enemy in 1ife. He he&led him aefter death. They
said also thet said father Jerome had multiplied the bread
while still alive, but I didnft hear in what place; nor to
whom seid father Jerome hed multiplied the bresd nor the
place, nor the (f. 74v) time, nor who was the person said
father Jerome healed, because I continued walking and could
not hear whet they werc telling each other. PRut in passing
by I very well heard whet I said.

€1,
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or Asked how good said women from whom he heard these thing were,

She answered ¢ Sald sister Buona wes very old, over 70. The others were

not so old, but all were of very good life and costumes, de-
dicated to prayer and good deeds.

Asked if she knew anything special about ssid fether Jerome and some
peculiar deeds.

She answered : Sir, I must tell you a miracle that happened to me last
night. Since last May I have been suffering on my right
thigh and the doctors told me thst it is & weakness of the
nerves and phlegm which were going down tliere. Doctor Cio-
van Paolo Rarili said that something could be done zbout

16W
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this sickness, but there was no assurance that the sickness
would dissppear. Seid doctor had me sent home with no hope .
of healing because I'm 0ld, but he would heve tried anything
for my consoletion. I took the medecines, beths, meres, and
everything possible was done to me. This Afugust the pain
increased., If I wented to walk I had to use the clutches.
Last night before going to sleep I prayed wholehesrtedly said
father Jerome Mieni telling him that if it was true thet he
multiplied the bread in 1life and after death healed the sick,
if it was God's will and for the health of my soul to heal
&lso this infirmity of mine., Then 1 went to bed. Fvery night
I used to suffer a lot of pein, sir, but last night T felt

no pain, at all, Tast night I got up to go for matins., By
the will of God and the miracle of that pglorious father Je-
rome I went from my room to the choir of the church for ma=-
tins without clutches or clubs with gread facility. ft the
end of matins 1 returned to my room without clutches, thing
which I never could do since the past fugust. Put last night
1 went and came back by miracle ¢s 1 said from the choir
without clubs. 1 am about sure that it is a miracle of this
father Miani that with time 1 will be completely healed from
this infirmity, ILast night I made these preyers to said fa~
ther because yesterday I was ssked to be exsmined if I knew
anything about the miracles of said father because I used to
be among the orphan girls of whom he was the founder. Think-
ing about if I remembered hesring said orphan sisters what I
said above. For this reason last night suffering for this in-
firmity I received to this father Jerome who made me the grsce
of this liberation. I hope in God and in said father that T
will be completely freed in time,
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Subdens ex se :  fctuclly T wes afraid thet the sickness would hit even
this eim becsuse I was feeling the pein on the shoulder.
Lost night when I got up for matins I didn't feel any peain
nor do I feel it now so much.

Dicens etiam exses I have the duty of ringing the bells. Becusse of the pain
at the ¢ra since the fugust feast I could not. This mor-
ning I sang the fve Merie.

' psked if going to metins and coming back she was leaning on the wall or
on eny other means.

che answered @ going for matins, in descending the long stairs, I lesned two
or three times to the wall and I wss o.K., but in returning I
did not lean on acything. In descending I didn't do it be~
cause of pein for the sickness, but because &t night even if
there is light T use to go close and lean on the well with
the hand.,

Asked if she is so healed on the side she says she was sick that no mere
pain is felt.,

She snswered : No, Sir. I'm not completely healed, but after what I felt
since Mey, the pain 1 feel is nothing.

&
Asked about her opinion on the reputation, life, costumes father Jerome.
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She answered ¢ 1in the above said pious place of the orphan girls he was
thought of as saint, blessed in paradise, but I, beeing then
young, wes not thinking about it. My opinion is thst ifi
hadn't had a good opinion I wouldn't have recommended myself
to him,

Asked if she heard anything in particular from ssid orphan sister Domeni-
ca.

She angwered =« She was telling great things, but I don't remember any par-
ticuler. Ft haec sunt etec.

Mbout general things she answered well saying: I said &ll these things as
true. Mon docte ete...

Super generalibus recte respondit, dicens: Io ho detto tutte le dette
cose per verita. Non docta etc., est aetatis annorum 62 in circas, etc.

Die dicto, et loco, et coram ut supra.

Vocala soror Afra de Bongis monialis professa dicti monasterii, exsistens
apud et intre dictos orstes, testis ut supra nominsta et proverificstione ut
supre recepta, iurata in manibus praefati multum reverendi domini vicarii cor-

poraliter tactis scripturis etc., monita etc.m et per dominum opportune

Asked how long she has been living in that monastery.

-38-




en

1f

1=

3 as

tens
at
cor—

che enswered : The vizil of the fnunication it was 61 years that I entered
in this (f. 76r) monastery, 1 entered at fourteen.

psked if she lived slways by the laws &nd rules of se&id monasteryand she
1lives now;

she answered : Yes, Sir. I alweys lived by the orders of this monastery, still
nows

psked how often in a year she goes to confession, who is her confessor,
how meny times she recelve the sacrament of Fucherist.

Before we sisters used to confess and communicate sixteen times
a year, but for sbout 12 years now I confess &nd communiceate
every week. The confessor of the monastery is monsignor Piance.
Pefore it was the cancn monsignor Freole Capitanei.

Asked if she has any knowledge de visu or the auditu about father Jerome
Miani.

She snswered ¢ No, Sir, T didn't know father Jerome !iieni, because, when
he died, 1 was not yet born. Put I heard him mentioned as the
institutor-lconverted women and orphen girls, of the poor of St.
Martino and a very good man.

ssked if she remembers what in particular she heard about said father Je-
rome, deeds made by him, by whom, where, when, who was present.

She answered ¢« I heard the sisters of this monastery say that said father Je-
rome was coming at night when celebrating the matins remaining
out of the door of the Church because the door was closed. He
was coming very often during the day. One time father Jerome
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getting out of the church ceme to our parlor, gathered the
sisters and told them: I have news for you: you have blessed
nuns in your church. Keep in mind what I tell you.

fsked if she knew anything in particular about said father to say it.

She answered : No, Sir. I don't know anything else in particular, but that
I always heard mentioning him well, making miracles, but I
wouldn't (f. 76v) know how to tell the miracles in particular.

Asked if from a certain sister Domenica orphen -a nun of this monastery,
she heard said something about seid father.

She answered : I heard sald sister Domenica, a nun, many times say that when
orphan she was . in the place of the orphans, she heard many
good deeds and miracles of ssid father, but I don't remember any
detail. Et haec sunt; etc,

Super generalibus recte respondit, aetatis annorum 74 in circa, non docte
ctc,

Die dicto; et loco, et coram ut supra.

Vocata soror Caecilia de Gromo monialis professa dicti monasterii, existens
gpud et intra dictos crates, testis ut supra nominata et pro verificatione ut
supra recepta; lurata in manibus praefati multum reverendi domini vicarii corpo-
raliter tactis scripturis etc., monita etc., et per dominum

Asked how long she has been living in this monastery, at what age she en~
tered, if she lived always by the commnon laws of this monastery, how often a
year she confessy.who is her confessor, how many times she is receiving holy
communion.
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She answered : I'm a nun of this monastery for 24 years end entered when I
was twenty. I always lived by the rules of the monastery,

Lat Usually I confess and communicate every eight days. My con-
: fessor is monsignor Pianca, before it was the canon monsignor
dar. Capitanei.

TV, Asked what duty she is performing in this place and performed in the past.

She answered : Now, I'm a nurse and have been so for fourteen years.

then

many Msked if other times she wos marsing &t any time nursed sister Domenicsa

or any and whet wag done.

She answered : Yes, Sir, I wes nureing other times. - I took care of sister
cta Domenica who died in this monastery fourteen years zgo when
I was her nurse.
Nuestioned + If while said Domenice was sick and then died, or in other
sicknesses or even when she was in good health she mentioned

| h " a e s

e seid Jerome Miani and what she said about him?

ut . ; ! . -, !

Jorpo- She answered : T heard many times said sister Lomenica mentioning this fa-

’ ther Jerome Miani, because she was one of*the of the orphans
whose founder is said father Jerome. She was very often re-
peating that he wes holy &nd blessed. She used to invoke him

en- . £ S

N as seint in her infimmity.
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Muestioned if she could get from her any other particular great deed re-
garding the same father

She answered : I don't remember anything elee in particular but thet of Sis-
ter Domenica was telling me that said father Jerome had made
miracles and was a man of very great mortification.

Nuestioned about the reputation of szid sister Domenica

She answered : Sir, this Domenice was of good exemplar life., She was always
spesking sbout spiritual books., She was dedicated to prayer.

Et haec sunt, etc.

Super generalibus recte respondit, aetatis amnnorum 44 in circa, non docte
etc.,

Die 27 novembris 1613,

In camera solitae gudientiae praefsti illustri et multum reverendi domini
vicarii site in episcopali pallatic Bergomi.

(Segue 1l'interrogatorio di Giovan Paolo Barili, medico nei
monastceri di S. Beneditto, Senta Lucis, Sente Marta, Senta Chiara e
di Matris Domini, il quale & chiamato a testimoniare sulla natura e
sulla incurabilita del male di suor Veronica Manenti).
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Die dicto, et loco; et coram ut supra.,

(f. 78r) Vocatus multum reverendus pater Micolaus Savoldus clericus
gularis de Sommaschs, rector Sancti Martini pauperum orfanorum Bergomi, tes-
tis pro verificatione ut supra receptus et nominatus,iuratus in manibus

praefati multum reverendi domini vicarii corporaliter tactis scripturis etec.,
monitus etc.; et per dominum opportune.

re=

Muestioned since when he entered the congregation of the regular clerics

of Somesca; when he entered, when he professgidif he 1lived

alwsys and still lives by the common laws of said congrega=
tion,

he answered : since 1578 when I made my profession in this Congregation

(f. 78v) of the regular clerics. Before it I was in for and

yesr. I live and have always lived and observed the laws and
rules of this congregation,

(uestioned if he ever heard that there was in his congregation a

a certain
father Jerome Mizni.

he answered : I know it per auditum that this father Jerome Miani was in

our religion and the institutor of it. From what I heard he
was a man of good and holy life,

Asked to narrste something he heard regarding said father Jerome when

they happened, where, who was present, from whom he heasrd, where, when and
who was present. o g

he answered : In general T heard that this Jerome who is the institutor of

our religion, of the orphan girls and of the converted was a
holy man and of good deeds. In perticular I heard, but T
don't remember from whom, that when still alive and caring
for the poor orphans, said father Jerome, one day they were
reduced to such necessity thet they had only two pieces of
bread to eat. Said father Jerome broke ‘the two pieces of
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bread, distributed them to s&ald orphans who were in great
number. Those two pieces of bread were enough and satiated
said poor, thst it seemed was multiplicated. I don't remem-
ber from whom I heard this miracle, nor who was present., I
don't know anything else.

Asked if he know anything special done by the same father.

She answered : I don't know anything else in particular but what I said
’ above,

fsked if he is a priest, how long it is and how often he uses to celebrate
He answered : It's about 33 years that I'm a priest. I celebrete mass every

day, unless Itm impeded by some infirmity. Ft hesec sunt, etc.

Super generalibus recte respondit, aetetis annorum 59 in circa, non doctus,

(f. T79r - 84v ~ I1 30 novembre 161% nel parletorio del convento
di Matris Domini fu nuovamente interrogsta suor Veronica Manenti sulla
gontiniazione del suo stato di buona salute. Il 9 gennaio 1614, sempre
nel parlatorio di Maris Domini, furono interrogate la priora suor Barto-
mea Eenaglia e la monaca Clara Maffei sulla malattia, guarigione e pre-
sente condizione di salute di suor Veronica Menenti. Nello stesso glor-
no fu sentita per la terza volts la stessa suor Veronica, Il 1% gennalo
1614, sempre sulla malattia di suor Veronica, furono interrogati il medi-
co Giovan Paolo Barili, per la seconda volta, e il medico Pellegrino Bare-
11i).
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(f. 84v) Subscriptum cum signo tabellionatus anteposito: Ego Petrus Col-
leonus civis et notarius publicus ac in episcopsli curia Pergomi cancellarius,
quia praecedens examinis testium ex causa de qua supra in dicta curia ut sup-
ra exeminatorum transumptum ex originali in eadem curia existente per alienam
mihi fidam msnum exstractum et in his viginti quattuor foliis redactum prae-
senti computato cum eodem originali concordere inveni, ideirco and confirman-
dum me subserip$i,signo et nomine meis consuetis eppositis, hsc die ultima
aprilis 1615 indictione decimatertia,

Horatius Federicus; sacrae theologiae et iuris utriusque doctore, clericus
Brixiensis, prothonotaries apostolicus et in episcopali curise Bergomi veca=
rius generalis, universis et singulis praesentes manu nostra signata inspec-
turis, attestamus fidemque facimus indubiam, praefatum spectabildm dominum
Petrum Colleonum, qui se quo supra modo subscripsit, fuisse et esse notarium
publicum, probum et legalem, ac in episcopali curia Lergomi cencellarium,

cuius subscriptionibus per eum quo supra modo confectis plena fides hic et
ubigue locorum merito adhiberi debet. In oquorum fidem etc. Datum Bergomi ex
episcopali pallatio, die ultimo eprilis 1615. Signatwn: Foratium Federicus,
vicarius generelis; et subsignatum: Giorgius medolechus Vavassor; cum signo
legalitatis ete.




JUNE 3, 1614

(f. 34r) Reperitur in actis curiae episcopalis Bergomi adesse infras--
criptas depositionesiuratas huiusmodi sub tenore, videlicet.

Die 3 iunii millesimi sexcentesimi decimi quarti, indictione duodecima,
in camera solitae audientiae praefati illustris et multum reverendi domini
vicarii sita in episcopeli pelltio Bergomi,

(f. 34v) Constituta coram praefato illustri et multum reverendo domino
vicerio generali eipiscopalis curiae RBergomi Lucia Brigide nuncupsta, filia
quondam Iob de Pelegrinis, communis de Celanella vallis Sencti Martini, or-
fana degens in loco orphansrum burgi Sencti intonii Bergomi, de mandato do-
mini vocata, iurate in menibus praefati illustris et multum reverendi domini
vicarii corporaliter tactis scripturis, monita etc., et opportune per ipsun
dominum

Interrogated if she has knowledge of the reverend father Jerome Fmilia-
ni founder of the order of the regular clerics of Somasca.

She answered ¢ I had knowledge of s&id reverend father Jerome because I
heard that he was the founder of the institution of the or=-
rhan girls. He msde graces to different people. When I was
sick; I wanted to hegl. I recurred to said father Jerome
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if it was his will to intercede for me at the presence of the
Lord God, so thet I be restored, I would manifest it to the
glory of God and of that blessed father Jerome.

tsked whet kind of sickness she hed and for how long

It's about fifteen yeers thst the sickness sterted in my
nose. I thought it was "humor salso" or even worse. It was
procuring me an inflsmmation in the head and there was the
fear thst such sickness would become worse.

Asked 1f now she was affected by said sickness

No, Sir, I am not affected by said sickness, since last Advent,
after recurring to seid Father Jerome; I was libersted in four
or five day. from szid sickness by the grace of the Lord God and
o sald blessed father. Since then I ste anything. The cold
did not harm me. Now I eat indifferently any kind of food and
spices and (f. 35r) nothing is hermful.

Asked if she used natural remedies to cure such infirmity and who proposed

Yes; Sir, I took medication. A certain surgeon who is already
dead gave me the ointment, but it didn't do any good; the phy-
slcian Francesco Firrande orcered me a "cerusa" oitment to put
into....and also medicines; I took laxatives but to no avail,
the last was one year before I was healed.

Asked if she thought she was cured becsuse of those remedies




She answered o

No, Sir, I haven't been cured, nor healed because of seid
remedies. It is true that they were helping to endure the
inflammetion, but they were not healing. Said physician
waes telling me to take medicines, but I was doing it for
respect to the other sisters.

Asked how long it is that she is in this orphanage if she lived always
by the common laws of seid plous place, also about the frequence of the sac-
raments and who wes her spiritusl cenfessor.

She answercd :

Tt's sbout fifteen years I live in the institution of the
orphens and I slways lived observing the common lews of the
place. I confess end go to communion twice a month usually
and elso in great feasts. My confessor is the reverend fether
don Nicole! Savoldi regular of Somzsce here present, etce

Ouibus habitis fuit dimissum examen etc., =t est aetetis annorum 36 in

circs.

(f. 35v - 36v - The same day June 3, 1614 were interrogated Mrcengela
Mtonelli and Partolomes Rivoli. slso of the institution of the orphen girls,
about the sickness and hesgling obtzined by Lucile Erigida Pellegrini).
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NOVEMEER 8, 1614

(f. 33r) Reperitur in actis curiae episcopalis Bergomi inter caetera
adesse examen infraseripti testis huiusmodi sub tenore; videlicet.

Die octava novembris:1614. In camera solitae audientiae illustrissimi
et multum reverendi (f. 33v) domini Horatii de Federicis, sacrae theolcgicae
et iuris utriusque doctoris, prothonotarii apostolici, clerici Brixiensis et
illustrissimi et reverendissimi domini domini episcopi Bergomi vicearii genera-
lis.

Vocatus coram eodem illustri et multum reverendo domino vicerio de eius
mandsto dominus Marcus filius quondam’ domini Joannis Mntonii de Gromo, burgi
Sancti T.eonerdi Bergomi, testis examinstus super supplicetione et expositione
circa vitam petris Hieronimi Miani porrecta, iurstus in menibus praefeti mul-
tum reverendi domini vicerii corporaliter tactis scripturis etc., monitus etc.,
et per dominum opportune

fsked if she ever knew father Jerome Miani of the Somascen Congregation
and why she knew

He enswered ¢« DNo, Sir, I did not know de visu this fether Jerome Miani,
because, it must be about 80 years thet he is dead; for what
I know. It's true thet I have always heard by &1l that said
father Jerome, when alive, was a good and holy man. In par-
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Il ticuler I remember hearing, but I donft remember from whom,

that said Jerome Miani rose from death a boy who drowned in

I the lake. PFather Jerome has teken the boy with him, he died

! and said father Jerome rose him from death., 1 don't remem-

| ber the place, nor from whom I heard it because it's about
50 years that I heerd it. I only remember I heard thet

| said father Jerome rose from death a child of widow in the

! occasion ebove seid. This is the knowledge I have per sue-

‘ ditum of seid father Jerome, I don't know who that child
was, nor his parents., I don't know anything else.

Asked if he knows any other special deed by seid father Jerome
He answered : T donit remember hearing anything else,

Mnswering the interrogated : I didn't hear either how thet child died, if
of natural or violent dezth. Ft hacc sunt, etc.

A generclic recte respondit, in communione fidelium, aetetis ennorum
70 in circe, et factis etec., recte etc.
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(November 27, 1613)

INTRCDUCTICN

Codices

The codices at our disposal are three, all kept in the archivegcof the
Maddalena in Genoa,

1

Codex D 210 is the oldest: it is dated November 27, 1613 and the signa=
ture is that of Giovanni Battista Raimondi, signed and sealed by the Vicar
General of Como, Nicolo' Cocquio, A copy was then compiled the same day as

the process, It comprised four pages, all written except the fourth page,
which was blank,

Codex D 202 has already been mentioned in the general introduction to
all the processes., The codex was drawn up from a different copy and obviously
after the one given in Codex D 210 which was dated June 17, 1615, signed by
Giovanni Battista Volonte' and legalized by the Vicar General Cocquio.,

.




Codex T 77 was even later. It was a copy transcribed from the original,
dated Sevtember 4, 1627 by Melchiorre Raimondi, chencellor of the episcopal
curia in Como end legalized by the Vicar General Ippolito Turconi. It consists
of six papers of which the first and the sixth are blank,

In our transcription, we have followed Codex D 210; for the numbering of
the papers we have adhered to Codex D 202 for reasons already stated in the
general introduction. Tt is understood that the three codices do not present
any difference worth being mentioned.

timony of the process was never published, therefore, there is no

The tes
bitliography on the subject.

existing |
Milieun

The process of Como was held November 27, 1613 in the study of Nicolo!
Cocquio, Vicar General of Filippo Archinti, Bishop of Como, The Procurator
named by Father General, Maurizio de Domis, was Father Giovanni Calta, Master
of Novices in Somssca. The Notary was Giovanni Battista Raimondi, Chancellor
of the FEpiscopsl Curia of Como. Following the usual formalities, examination
of the only witness was held on the same day, thet of the Somascan Brother
Giovanni Paolo di Torre,

Paolo from Seriate

Giovenni Paolo di Torre, better known as Paolo from Seriate, was the son
of Francesco end Maria Arcimboldi. Left an orphan, he was found by Miani, who
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had just come to Bergamo to the Maddalena Hospital. At that time,Faoclo was
seven years old, He was born about 1526, He lived about one year with Miani,
From there on, he remained with the congregation, becoming a religious as lay
Brother and living in whatever places the Congregation sent him,

The infermation we have about him is scarce and fragmentar-, 1In 1561,
he was in Bergamo and was present there at the death of Vincenze:.Gambarana,
one of the most illustrious companionssof Miani, He was the first Brother
to take vows in the order of the Somascan Fathers, May /th, 1570, In 1574,
he was at Santa Oroce di Triulzio, a small home for orphans from San Martino
in Milan, 1In 1588, he joined the orphanage of the Innocentini in Sienas; in
1590, he was in Macerata, in 1594, in Caserta and in 1596, in Naples at the
large orphanage Santa Maria of Loreto., He then returned to the north of
Ttaly: in 1600, he was at the Misericordia orphanage in Vicenza, in 1601, in
the the patriarchal Seminary of Venice, in 1603, in the orphanage of Santa
Maria Pianca in Ferrara, in 1604, in the Misericordia orphanage in Brescia,
and in 1606, in Gallio College in Como, He was still in Como when he was
questioned at the ordinary process in 1613, In 1622, he was at San Martino
orphanage in Bergamo and still in Bergamo when he was questioned at the apos-—

tolic processes of our saint. He was also in Somasca twice, as he himself
affirmed, four or five years each time.

The exac’ date of his death is unknown. In 1627, he was again listed as
being among the religious of the orphanage of San Martino of Bergamo, When
he was almost one hundred years old, he returned to end his life in the same

places where, as a child of seven he was first cared for and guided by Saint
Jerome,

About him is written by M, Tentorio, Du# discepoli di S. Girolamo Emi-
liani: Fra Battista da Romano e Fra Paolo da Seriate, fratelli professi So-
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maschl, in Hivista dell'Ordine dei Padri Somaschi, XXXIT (1956), pages 119~
1243 G, Landini, S. Girolamo Miani, Fome, 1947, page 51-52,

ZTestimony

The testimony of Faolo from Seria*i; is among the most interesting of
the processes, It was little used or not at all by the Miani biographers.

The surroundings in which he presents the saint is Bergamo, particularly
the orphanage of the Maddalena, The time is the year 1533.

Reading what Paolo froh Seriate said, one almost has the impression of
having before him an album of old photographs, looking for a moment at pictures
of days of yore, familiar to the eyes of a child and yet impreassing vivdly
one's imagination, even at the age of eighty or more. These memories are not
reflections of an adult who would gathe: and interpret events. They are offe-
red with many exciting and vivid detail-,

In Paclo's description, Saint Jerome appears as a rather short man,
stout, with chestnut-colored beard and a good complexion. How did he spend
his 1ife? TFor the love of God, sack on shoulders, he went about begging, He
himself lived very frugally. Following are two incidents: he arrived in Ber-
gamo well dressed, according to his station if life, but then he put on a
long black coat and heavy shoes. Entering the house, one found him in conti-
nuous prayer whenever he was not working. He was quiet and patient; he was
very humble; he visited the sick and prisoners. His bed was a table covered
with strav.

Two stories seem to be a picture of amazing acts spread before one's
eyes with a delightful wealth of details,
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Then, again on the road; contributions were very ganerous and peoplé
accepted him for his well known kindness and holiness,

At the end, memories seemed vague., He spoke no more of what he had seen
but of what he had heard from others. Then, in conclusion., he added: "And
so many other - things, that, for brevity, I do not say." Why, in those days,
did they not have the desire to know as much as we do today?

Paolo from Seriate was also called upon to bear witness at the apostolic
process in Bergamo, March 27, 1625, However, this new testimony was not very
interesting, perhaps because another twelve years had been added to his age
and he was nearly one hundred years old. Perhaps, too, because he was held
to an interrogation that did not allow him to recall memories. Also, the -
other recollections that had come to him were included in the testimony of

other persons such as Fathers Girolamo Novelli and Donate Morone, and they had
lost much of their interest,




THE PROCES S

The twelfth session was held on ednesday, November 27, 1613, before the
Very Reverend Hicolo' Cocquio, Doctor of Ciwril and Canon Law, Canon of the
Cathedral Chu-ch and Vicar Generasl of the Vost Reverend Filippo Archinti,
Bishop of Como, in his office of the Diocesan Chancery in Como.

The undersigned Heverend Giovanni CaWta. C.R.5,., appeared befcre me and
made the following statement: I, Giovanni Calta; prisst and Cleric Regular of
the Congregation of Somasca, Master of NﬂVlr es at San Bartolomeo College in
Somasca, diocese of Milan, ~ppo_mted Procurator by the Most Reverend Father
Maurizio de Nomis, Superior General of the Clerice Reguler of Somasca, request
voug Very Hevorpnd Father, to examine the reverend Father Giovanni Peolo de
Torre, religicus of the same Congregation, about the life, holiness and mire-
cles performed by the Reverend Jerome VMiani, founder of said Conzregstion.

The Very Reverend Vicar General accepted the recuest and called the wit-
ness, the Reverend Giovanni Paolo. He waes asked to tell the truth under oath
and did so b touching the Bitle,

Question : Did you know the late Reverend Jerome Miani, founder of said Cong-
regation?

Answer : My name is Giovanni Paolo de Torre, born in the city of Pergamo,
gon of the late Francesco and Maria Arcimboldi

I am now in my
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ninetieth year, TFatherless and motherless, I was in the city of
Bergamo when said Jerome went there, gathering together the or-
phans of the city and teking them to the'Maddalena Hospital in the
village of San Leonardo, Through his kindness and charity, being
an orphan, I was accepted with the others and remained with said
congregation wherever I was sent.

Of what stature was said Father Jerome?

He was a rather short man, stout, dark brown, chestnut-colored
beard and had a healthy complexion, When he accepted me, he must
have been about forty years old, In Bergamo I heiped him in his
work and served him obediently.

What sort of life was Jeromc's?

With a sack on his back, he went about begging for bread and for
anything else that couvld be given him for the love of God and for
his home at Santa Maddalena. Any surplus alms were given to other
reedy people, He himself lived very austerely on bread, vegetables,
herbs, He ate no meat, fish, nor eggs. He drank very little wine.

How did he dress?
At first, he dressed well as a layman, according to his station
in 1ife. Later, he wore a long black cloak made of coarse cloth,

heavy shoes, and a black beret as he sought alms,

What about prayers and fasting?
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He was very pious. When in the house, he spent most of the time
in prayer, day and night, a longer time in the evening Vhen not
busy in the house, T have seen him praying all aight. He lashed
himself three times every week, on Wednesday, Friday and Sunday.

How do you know about this?

1-

A11 of us vho were his disciples alrmost always saw him do so on

those days.

1 6]

How about his confessiong and communions?

He confessed himself and received communion almost every dey and
following such an example, many gentlemen and ladies did the same.

How patient was he in trials?

Be was quiet and patient and had all the virtues for which one
could ask.

Was he humble?

le wes very humble, He visited the sick, the prisoners, took in
the needy, caring for them with great charity.

Did said Jerome suffer from any illness?
He had good health.

How did he sleep?

is bed was a table covered with straw,
-3a




Question ¢ Do you know that by his intercession the Lord performed miracles
or granted miraculous graces?

Answer ¢ A short time after I entered this congregation, one morning in
Maddalena Hospital in Bergamo, where there were about twenty-eight
of us in meditation, said Father Jerome, having rothing to give

us to eat said: "Do not doubt, the Lord God will provide for us.”
The door was closed and he was still praying when we heard the
bell ring., Answering it, the person outside asked to see Father
Jerome, Called, he went to the door returning with four loaves

of bread, telling us that we should not doubt, that the Lord God
had not abandoned us. When we had finished prayers, ve went down-
stairs to eat. With only four loaves of bread, fresh water and
nothing more, twenty-eight uf us were satisfied. The Father told
18 not to worry and to eat because the Lord God would never fail
us.

Question : Who were those twenty-eight and what were their names?

Answer ¢ Among others were a count from Verona, a devout person, and seve-
ral other people who, I believe, have since died. I remember
there was Don Giovanni Maria Pavese, whose family name I do not

recalls Paolo di Galanzi, a doctor, and many other gentlemen.

Question : Do you remember other miraculous happenings?

~O-



Answer : 4 few months later, something similar happened, not less amazing.
There was nothing to eat or drink in the house. Father Jerome
vas told of the need, He answered that we should have Faith in
God, He would not abandon us., "Let us go downstairs to pray."”
And we did so.. We had been gathered together praying in the choir
waich was upstairs. TFather Jerome told us: "Be patient and devout,
Then after having prayed: "Let us go dounstairs,” he said, "the
Dlessed Lord has provided for us,” There had been nobody at all
downstairs who could have done this. However, we found the table
laid with a white cloth, and on it white bread, very good wine
and good meat. HWe were restored, not knowing how tnis had happened
except by the great goodness of God and the intercession of Father
Jerome.,

Question : Did you ever happen to travel with Father Jerome?

Answer ¢ T happened to be going with him from Bergaemo to Verona, We were
walking, begging alms for the love of God. Much was very gene-
rously given us for the well known kindness and saintly 1ife of
the Father,

OQuestion : Can you tell more concerning Father Jerome and these happenings?
Lnswer ¢ T have heard said that when the San Martino home for orphens in

1ilan was opened, Father Jerome refused & good sum of money offe-
red to him by Duke Francesco of Milan. And many people, experts
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in their affairs, asked advice of the Father and followed it to
the letter. Among these was a gentleman from Milan called Ales-
sandro, whose name I do not know, For the sake of brevity I shall
not mention other things, In Bergamo, Milan and elsewhere, whe-
rever- he was known, he was always considered a saintly man,

Question : Vas the testimony given here at someone else's request, insistance,
persuasion or only given as genuine facts and the truth?

Answer 2 Agked to do so, told you the truth, nobody having told me to say
more about one thing than another. I have only told the truth,

In general the testimony is trustworthy, even though the witness be a
member cf the same Congregation, and about 90 years old, and reports from me-
mory events, that happened at least 75 years ago,

Giovanni Battista Raimondo, Notary Public of the Apostolic See and of the
Imperial Government, Chancellor of the Episcopal Curia in Como,

Nicolo® Cocquio, Doctor of Civil and Canon Law, Protonotary Apostolic,
and Canon of the Cathedral, Vicar General of the Most Reverend Filippo Archin-
ti, Bishop of Como, We bear witness to all and each examining officer and
testify that the above-mentioned Giovanni Battista Raimondi is Notary Public
and Chancellor as above stated, and his honesty can be fully and undoubtedly
proved in court and outside court by public and authenticated deeds.

In faith of this , . . etc. Written in Como from the Episcopal Curia on
Wednesday, November 27, 1623, Nicolo' Cocquio, Vicar General . . . etc,
Giovanni Sala, Notary Public,
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INTRODUCTION

Codices

The manuscripts which we could use are two: codex 202 of the archive
of the Maddalena in Genova and a codex of the archive of the general procurap
tion of the Somascan Fathers in Rome.

Codex D 202 is an authentic transcription made on one of the various
copies at the end of the process by the notary Beccario himself and ligalized
on.February 13, 1614 by the General Vicar Filippo Leone. In the codex the
process of Pavie occupies from f. 2v to f. 15v. This is the manuscript fol-
lowed by our trenscription.

The manuscript of the general procuration archive of the Somascan
Fathers in Rome is contained in a codex, without indications of archive, en-
titled: Mediolanensis Canonizationis Beati Hieronymi Emiliani Patritii Veneti
et Congregationis Somaschae Fondatoris., Processus Remissoriales fabricati
Tarvisii, Venetiis, Bergomi, Brixiae et Papiae. D. Clearcus Buscus notarius.
It contains the acts of the apostolie processes of the cause of beatification
of St. Jerome Miani celebrated in Treviso, Venezia, Bergamo, Brescia and Pavia,
In the apostolic pro:ess of Pavia, on November 27, 1627, it was required to
insert the depositicns given in the ordinary process by the witnesses already
dead. In this way the original of such process was presented by the chancel-
lor of the episcopal curia of Pavia Lorenzo Bigoni and transcribed by the no-
tary of the apostolic process Giacomo /ntonio Camia. The cedex of the archive
of the general procuration of Rome is an authentic copy of such apostolic pro-
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cess made by the notary of the sacred congregation of the rites Clearco Busco
and ligalized on fpril 2, 1629. In the manuscript the part which interests us
occupies from ¢, 12v to c. 19v of the Pavese process. The ordinary process
was integrally transcribed, except the deposition of father Biagio Ganne, who,
still being slive, had been interrogated in person in the apostolic process of
Milano on December 12, 1625. If we except this omitted part, between the two
menuscripts there ere no relevant differences.

We must add to the two codices referred above also the Correr 1350
codex of the Venitian Correr librery. This codex (f. 35r and 35v) contains
the Breve is truttione della vita di messer Girolamo Meano of father Fvange-
liste Dorat, thet is that part of the Dorati's writing deriving from Stefano
Bertalozzi sand ending with the words: "...and full of works of mercy saintly
in the Lord he rested in peace." It's a copy from the manuscript of Dorati
(dead on 1602) "of happy memory" and therefore certzinly not of the XVI cen-
tury ageinst what the STOPPIGLI A affirms, cited Bibliography, page 13,

The research made at the episcopal archive of Pavia in order to find
the originel of the process have been in vain up to now.
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#£1so this process of Pavia has never been edited, if we except the
sleune cose particolari di messer Hieronimo Misni of Dorati. This part was

. printed twice: the first titled: Vita Venerabilis servi Dei scripta a reveren-

do patre Evangelista Doraté Clerico regulari congregationis Somaschensis, in
gacra Hituum Congregatio E. mo et Rev. mo Di Cerdinali De Abdua Venets seu Me-
djahnen beatificationis et canonizationis ven. Servi Dei Hieronymi femiliani
congregationis Scmaschae Fundatoris. Informatio super dubio virtutum haeroi-
carum, Romae MDCCAIV, in Summerium, pages 123-127. The other edition, with
some modernizing in the form, it is in I1 Santuario di S. Girolamo Fmiliani,
La prima biografia di S. Girolamo Bmiliani, I (1915), numbers 2 and 3.

BIBLIOGR/THY
The existing bibliography is only about the writings of Dorati,
0. P/LTRINIFRI, ijemorie inedite, manuscript of archive of the Maddalena
in Genova; / STOPPIGIIZ, Biobliografia di S. Girolamo Bmiliani, Vite e Com-
pendi, Genova 1917, pages 13-16; G. L/NDINI, S. Girolemo Miani, Roma 1947, pa-

ges 74-T5; M. TFNTORIO, il ven padre Evangelista Dorati, Roma 1958, pages
34-37.

PROCESSO OKDINARIO DI PAVIA

In Pavia

heperitor in fileia testium tribunalis curiae episcopalis
Papiensis i.ler caetera adesse scriptum, ut infra, videlicet,

1614 die 28 ianuarii in vesperis.
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coram illustri et admodum reverendo domino Philippo Leone archidia~
cono Papiae, protonotario apostolico ac vicario generali illustrissimi et re-
verendissimi domini domini comitis Joannis Baptistee Bilii episcopl Papiensis
et comitis, etc.

Constitutus multum reverendus pater Ioannes Baptista Calta clericus
regularis religionis Sancti Maioili Papiae, congregationis Summaschae procura-
tor, et eo nomine reverendissimi patris domini don Mauritii de Domis dictae
religionis et congregationis praepositi generalis, per instrumentum sul manda-
ti rogetum die septima mensis ianuarii anni praesentis per Franciscum de Fer-
rariis notarium publicum Mediolanensem, quod ibidem exhibuit in authentica
forma ad personae suae legitimationem.

For all good purpose and effect etc., he asserts and exposes: First:
that it was the truth that the quondam Venetian father Girolamo Miani, founder
and first author of the Somascan Congregation, diocesis of Milano and region
of Bergamo, of the poor orphans, was & man of great piety and of great kind-
ness and exemplary life, rather of holy 1ife. Uhich he demonstrated with
various effects and as such he was thought commonly by all who knew him after
the institution of said congregation.

Ttem said Jerome, when still living, placing the hands on the sick,

in the name of our Lord Christ, instantly has liberated them and healed from

infirmities with his prayers he has multiplied the bread, distributed it to
the hungry and with it he satiated them and shook them from hunger.

Ttem when the very reverend father don Evangelista Dorati, reguler
cleric. of said religion end of said congregetion, was living in such religion
and for oll his life he was a God fearing person, of the greatest and exemplary
1ife, condition and fame, He write a history of the piety, humility and holi-
ness of life of seid father Jerome, of the low tenor described, as it is exhi-
bited, written on his own hand by reverend fether don Fvangelista, as such re-
cognized by people well knowing his hand writing and it is of this tenor, thet

is:
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Some particular things of messer Jerome Miani, founder of the Somas-
can Congregation.

Brief instruction of the life of messer Jerome Mesno Venetia gentle-
) man and founder of the Somascan congregation, heard vocally by the very reve-

rend monsignor Stefano Bertazzuola of Sald, very upright and eighty two years
old.

Sir Jerome Miani was in very great reputation in the eyes of the Ve-
netian gentlemen, who were signifying this calling him the wisehead of Miani.
He put himself under the obedience of the bishop of €fhieti who, later became
Pope Paul IV, of holy memorys Full of charity he was gethering poor orphans
of Venice, taking great care of them with the conviction that he was having a
great gain himself if, freeing those poor from bad company and from many other

dangers of soul and body, he would raise them in the fear of God with all his
might.

Now, havirng renounced the honours and high office of his republic
and desiring,to maintain the orphans he had gathered. Knowing that it was
written: He who doesn't work, doesn't eat" in order to care better for the
above said orphans, ne wes helping them everyday with the help of many vene-
tian gentlemen who ¢t such spectacle were wondering a lot about it. But not
being atle to make up for the need with his own strength and fatigues, he
found himself compelled to send the orphans ou¥ for slms, a:d it is thought
that probably he himself also was mendicatings in distributing the bread he was
giving the best bread to the orphans and keeping the worse for himself.
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. nd later with his own hands, with love, charity and grest readiness
he was medicsating and weshing the scebby and the affected with ringworm, kis-
sing the head with affection, while the gentlemen and the other men .there were
wondering, and the whole city wes greatly edified by this.

Once esteblished the place of the orphans in Venice, and having been
called the bishop and the Fnglish man Regineldo Polo by his holiness Paul III
Farnese, Monsignor Stefano Bertazrolo, messer Fartolomeo Scaino his uncle and
messer Giovanni Battista Scaino, brother of the over said messer Bertolomeo
and brother in lsw of the mentioned above monsignor Stefano Bertazzolo, they
went to Verona to visit monsignor the very reverend bishop of dhicti, of whom
they were friends and femiliar they lodged in the episcopal building where
were lodged the bishop of @hieti and master Regineldo Polo who became later
cardinal, being then living therc Monsignor the very illustrious Giberti bishop
of Verona. The bishop of ¢hieti and Polo left for Rome, the over said family
members returned to Sqlb. Jerome Bmilieni then came with them, always on foot,
even if there wes the convenience of horses or he was insistcd by. During .
supper in Peschiera, while all others were eating trouts and other good fish,
he did not want to eat but bread and water. Monsignor told him the refrain:
"Every indigestion is bad but the indigestion of bread is the worse" gir Jerome
immedistely answered that the saying wes rightly seid about those who were
eating much bread from Peschiera he went walking to Solo.

In Sq16 he slept in the house of sir Bartolomeo for threc days. Sir
Bartolomeo on the second day prepared more than usuel, After lunch sir Jerome
broke in tears, cries, sighs and affectionste words so much that he caused the
three named sbove and other present to cry. Then he used to accuse himself
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Lords He suffered for you hunger, thirst ete., and you, so flatly and without
shame at all, taste such delicacies, etc. For this during that meal and for
the time he remained in Sq1l6 he did not want to eat but bread and drink only
water. As if he was full of the Holy Spirit, and blessed with the gift of
prophecy, said that the Lord Jesus Christ had had his martyrdom and the time
was approaching when the holy church his spouse had had its own and in great

diness number. He said this, while we were talking sbout the luthersn sect which was
kis=- starting to propagate in Germany.
e were
S50 much he was caring for obedience that, when monsignor Bertazzoli
wanted to give him as a gift the meditations of St. Mgustin, becsuse he liked
g been a chapter that monsignor had just read to him, never wented to accept it, but
1 111 at this condition: "I-he said-will write to monsignor bishop of @hieti and will
e and accept it if he is contented." He did not want superfluous cassocks. TFor this,
meo during winter he brought some cloth with money earned by his work and adapted
they it in a way that during the day he would use it as cassock and at night as
' whom blanket.
re
ter From Sald he went to Brescia and gave start to the Misericordia, plece
. bishop of the orphans, and them to Milano where he founded San Martino in the same way
“amily where nowadays the orphans are.
n foot,
ng . In Milano he was favored by the Duque and thought of as a saint
fish, by the inhabitants of Milano, his humility and charity were admired. He was
raing thought of as being sent by the Lord God for the good of that city: (who
~ Jerome wouldn't believe that through his prayers in this last pestilential sickness
Tere the Lord God was defending that place, which he had started so much that none
of those orphans died?). But beforc he was going to be known as such, some
were calling him hypocrite, others were worshipping him and kissing his clothes.
s, Sir When he was cadded hyporite he was not disturbed, rather he was enjoying it,
Jerome Jubilant and happy, knowing thet if he was defamed wrongly, because it is writ-
sed the ten: "Happy are those who suffer persecution for justice sake." On the contrary
self for those who were honoring him and touching his cloak were kissing their own

hands, he was feeling very great pain and was afflicted because he was thinking
of self as vile, despicable, great sinner and very unworthy of such honors.




Mfter establishing in Milano all that he had in mind and returning to
Salo, he lodged in the house of the usual hosts, whom he recounted humbly what
the Lord had operated through him in Milano and how he was anxious to live a
solitary and hermiticel life. For this purpose with some of his very dear hos
hosts he looked around for a place fit for that kind of life. But, elther he
didn't fired it or this wes not his wocstion, in a few days he left Solo and

st was heerd later that he was in Somasca. There he gathered meny poor in a
place. He took personally diligent care of them and was raising them up in
the fear of God.

For this reason Somasca was frequented by priests and fearing God
laymen who at a determined time were gathering together humbly and with grest
charity were attending to the spiritual and temporal needs of the congregation
and of the places already erected. QOue day, not having enough bread, the chil-
dren were numerous, broke the pieccs the 1ittle bread he had, blessed it with
great faith and, placing it on -a 1little mantel apron, he distributed it to the
orphans., It was mireculously multipljed therefore it was enough to satiate
those poor orphans. He was of help to many by his good example and holy insti-
tutions. He founded a place in Padova &nd snother in Verona and full of works
of mercy sweetly rested in the Lord.

One noteble thing about sir Jerome Minal.

We do not remember the year, the month, and the hour. By my memory
T say that my brother Primo wes in Como E&nd the happy memory of sir Venetian
Jerome came to his house with & sizable number of orphans. They were dressed
in white and so was he. He entered the house suddenly asked for sir Primo.
when they met they bowed to each other not knowing enything else, then they
sat together with his company ad talked for a while, After the talk sir Primo
had provisions brought to feed the childrem. Vhile the provision was prepared
said sir Jerome knelt together with those cenildren to pray, then they got up
the provision was broght and sir Jerome blessed everything, distributed to each
one his portion. He ate with his children and not at all at sir Primo's table.
In this way he fed and gave to drink to those children with his own hands.
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They knelt again to thank God., #fter a certain time he said goodby and went in
procession through the city with the holy Crucifix in front. At night, after
the procession through the c-ity, they returned to the lodging with the inten-
tdon of feeding the children as in the morning. A room was prepared on the
ground floor furnished with star, they rested in order on the straw ofter 5ay=—
ing the prayer. He wanted to sleep in the same place aside. There was a lamp
in the center of the room and the things needed for the corporal needs.

Mter this, sir Primo the next day called two or three very God=fear-
ing gentlemen of Como. With their suggestion a plece in Como wes chosen where
to have said children to 1live, in contemplation of sir Jerome. Such place was

called the Colombina. One hundred years of the Lord, one hundred yvears of
doctrine on one hundred yesrs of ruins,

Super quibus petit assumi summarias informationes, quas dare offert,

moxaue illas publicari et sibi edi in authentica forma, cum opportunis litteris
testimonialibus, offitium etec., aliter etc.

Praecfatus autem illustris et multum reverendus dominus vicarius, vi-
sis et auditis praedictis, sequens etc. et alias omni iure etc., ordinavit et
ordinat per Iosnnem Baptistam Beccarium curise episcopalis cancellarium ad
eius praesentiam super praedictis assumcndas esse informationes iuxta petita
etc., et inde etc. Signatum Philippus Leo archidiaconus vicarius generalis.

1614 die 30 ianuarii in tertiis.

Multum reverendus dominus don Augustinus 11 Valerius, vicepraipositus
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collegii Sancti Maioli Papiae congregationis Summaeschae et in dicto monasterio
hebitator, testis per praefatum multum reverendun dominum Toannem DBaptistam
Gzltam, clericum et procuratorem ut supra, productus ac citatus per Franciscum
Verduram publicum servitorem curiae episcopalis Paplae, luratus quoque, recep=
tus ot cxaminatus ad praescntiem et cum assistentia praefeti illustris et mul-
tum reverendi domini vicarii super contentis in supracripta requisitione, per
me Toannem Baptistam Beccarium notarium et concell erium ut supre electum sibl
lecta, et 111i per eundem illustrem et multum reverendum dominum vicerium de-
1ato veritstis dicendae iursmento, et qui iuravit tactis scripturis in menibus
eiusdem illustris et multum reverendi domini vicarii de veritate dicenda, etc.

He was interrogated: "what do you know about the things narrated in
the first chapter of ssid requisition as read before, in proper order, testi-
fying under oath in the way presented before.

He answered nd saide "I will say to your lordship all I know contai-
ned in szid chapter. It's thirty yesrs, going to thirty one one that I have
been received in said religion. Fven before being received 1 wes going to said
monastery. I have always heard from verious fathers of said religion in diffe-
rent times and different places and when they were talking about said father
Jerome Misni who was the founder of our religion, end cbout his 1life. Then
alive he was o man of great bounty, holiness and susterity of life. IHe was
often eating bread end water. That water, as & certain Father Jerome Tinto
mede e see the detail, he is now dead; was coming out of a rock. The same
father told me thet s:id Jerome used to slecp on a stone close to that onc. He
showed me that, slso. He also showed me & 1ittle chapel on the Rocca of sald
place telling me that father Miani used to pray there passing good part of the

-10-
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T € marble, he used to tesch (govermqre) his orphans. In that place there
were visible the remnants of some 1ittle houses already at that time., Father
Tipt? was saying that father don Jerome named above used to keep said orphans.
I also heard in Venice where I lived for elghteen years in the monastery of
st. John and Psul of our congregation by a gentleman of Miani, whose name I

terio don't remember now. He was & Venetian senator and as he

am was saying, of the family of said father don Jerome. He is the one who gave

3 scum me in old handwriting the life of ssid father don Jerome, I gave it then to

acep- father Terzano who st thet time was the general of our congregation, He said

. mul- thet father don Jerome was a man of integrity, bounty and holiness of 1ife. He

. per was gathering the orphang through said city of Vénice mainly at San Rocco and

sibi also at the incurable hospital. Finally at the Santi Giovanni and Psolo hos-

1 de— pital of the city of Venice., I was living there. By commission of said father

nibus Terzano I printed the 1ife of father don Jerome, compecsed by monsignor Albano,

, etc. already Canon of the Milano Scala. Before printing it, that life was signed
by the father inquisitor, by monsignor Pena as lector, and by a secretary of

ed in the council of ten whose name I done't “emember now., Fven if they signed se-

esti- parately, they were together insigning with the following words: I saw the
aforsaid life of blessed Jerome Misni and judge if worthy to be printed, it's
originel was left by me and is found in the office of the counsil

contai- of ten of said city of Venice. The above mentioned senator Miani assured me

have that sald father don Jerome, at the time of the pestilential deseases, sold

to said gll his riches for helping the poor. Because of this he was thought by all

- diffe- as crazy. This is all I csn say regarding this subject.

ther

hen Regarding the second chapter &s read above.

was

to He was interrogated, he answered and said: about what is contained

seme in the second chapter I don't know anything but that about thirtyone years

nee He ago & general chapter took place at the San Maiolo monastery., Father Battista

* aaid Romano was in it. He was a converse of that congregation in which I was not
of the yet accepted; even if T was a little later, I heard that said Romamo was one
of the orphans gathered znd taken cere by said father don Jerome in said place

Somasca. He was elso one of those who received by the hands of said father
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Father don Jerome was in Jomasca with his orphens. They s&ay there was a gresat
number of children. Jerome didn't have snything to give but two or three breads.
He took them, broke them, placed them in the apron he had on and started dis-
tributing such bread to the orphans, who, even il the bread was so 1little, had
g1l ad setietstem and there were even 1left overs. Sald mirscle was narrated
to me by said father Battista, while we were on the porch over the monasterys
at the presence, anong others that I remember, the fathers don Scbastiano Geno=
vese and don Sebastiano Nardini of Wapoli, which are dead, and also said con=
verse Battista. The occasion for this recount was in talking about said father

and his holy and good life.

Regarding the third chapter.

Interrogated, he enswered snd said:s I have been informed and it 1is
really true thet father don Ivengelista Toreti, Cremonese and cleric of our
religion and congresation, whom I have know very well when he was general of
our congregation and religion. He came to Venice, while I was there, to visit
the place and the fathers, as I said, where he remained for about a month end
2 half. During thet time I got to know father Evangelista as & man of good
and of very good life. It's <lso true thet he wrote with his own hands the
scriptures described ot the end of the third read to me by your lordship. I
recognize them as such because 1 have a very good knowledge and practice of
his writing. I saw him writing in Venice when he was there, as 1 ssid, I was
writing under his dictation letters to different people. I also received
letters from father Evangelista from Lombardy and Venice. As we read in the
book of acts of the general chapter, of which he was the chancellor, we clearly
sce, comfronting one hand writing with the other, it was all the same, that is
of said father don Fvangelista. This is what I can say of the content of said
chapter; I knew this and know it for the reasons and causes stated above.

Thterrogated who are the fathers living in seid monastery of San
Maiolo &t the true this tesbimony was accepted by seid religion and also before
he would be accepted inte it.
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He enswered: they are; Father don Luigi Migliorini, who also was
general of said our religion, don Francesco Gavardi, don Giovanni Siciliano,
don Guglielmo Tonso, don Giovanni Battisthta Rerago, don Bernardino Castellano,

A who has been also Supcrior General, don Gabriele Rocco, who has been vicar

general, don Francesco Semini and others, that now I don't remember, who are
all dead except said father Perago.

Interrogated to say the names of the fathers from whom he heard say
that when said father don Jeronimo was still alive was of grest kindness, ho-
liness &nd susterity of life and was often eating bread and water, and say al-
so the places and the precise time when he heard that.

_ He answered: The fethers from whom I heard the aforesaid things, as
I said, are the above said Father don Jerome Tinti, father Tonso, father don
Giovanni Maria Scaramuzza, who is still alive, father don Bartolomeo Brocco,
who, also, is still alive, &nd the coverse Battista Romano. The places where
I heord these things, regerding father Scaramuzza in Venice, father don Barto-
lomeo in Somasca, fether Tonso in Bergamo and in Pavia, and regarding father
Battista da Romano here in Pevia in the mongstery of San Maiolo, when he said

that I said I heard from his very mouth in the presence of the sbove named
fathers. I don't reniember the exact time.

Interrogated if said father don Jerom Tinti showed him, as he exposed,
the place where the water said father don Jerome was drinking was sprlnglng
from, and where he was sleeping, and showed him also the chapel which is in that
place of Somasca and showed also in the valley such place of Somasca named

13-



above, if there was then anyone present, when this happened and in what occe-
sion.,

He enswered: Certainly there were other fethers present when said
father don Jerome showed me &nd told me what I seid above, referring respec~
tively to the place and valley of Somesca, but now I don't remember who they
were. This happened some 27 or 28 years ago the day of St. Bartholomiew ipostle,
after supper. The occasion was when I was in Minalo in the monestery of our
community celled Sta Meria Secreta., With the permission of my superior I went
l to the feast of St. Bartholomiew to Somasca, accompanied by the professed bro-

l ther Stefano who now is of the reformed observeants. His name is fra Glovanni
Baettista. I think he wes my compenion when father don Jerome Tinto showed me

and told me what I heve said above. The feast was celebrated in Somesca. This
father Tinti wanted to let me know and show what I didn't know before nor seen
about said father of ours don Jerome¢ Miani.

|

! Interrogated when, where and at whose presence said Senator Miani
| told him in V_nice about the aforessid he understood and received, as elso

| above mentioned, an old writing of the 1life of said fether don Jerome Miani,

o He answered: It happened variour times that sald mister senator Miani
told me the mentioned things about ssid father don Jerome iiani, but I don't
remember the exact times. 1 know well that this happened between him and me
and in my room where I used to live in said monastery of Santi Giovanni e Peolo
in Venice,

Interrogated on what occasion he ssid these things.
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He answered: The occasion was that between him and me there was a
great kindness and familiarity, therefore we were talking various times about
said father don Jerome, 'and then he used to tell me whot I already said.

Interrogated in whet place and when he gave that testimony, as said,
to father Terzano the life of said father don Jerome, which wasy as saildy; given
by said mister senator Miani, if there was anyone present,

He answered: this happened in the ducal seminary while he was rector
of the place. T don't remember the exact time. We were alone.

Interrogated when he had that Testimony printed, as said, the life
of sald father Miani and how he knows that that had been composed by said Mon-
signor Albano and that the writing was original as said above.

_ He answered: It's about thirteen or fourteen years that said life
was printed by me on orders of said father Terzano then superior general: I
know it was signed b:cause, as I said, I myself showed it and saw the signa-
tures on it; I know also that it has been done by soid monsignor Mbano, be-

cause the inscription was on his handwriting. It wouldn't had been this way
if others had done it.

Interrogsted how he knows that the original of seid life, signed
this way, was left on the chancery of the council of ten.

He answered: I know it because the secretary of said office did not
want to give it to me, telling me that they wanted to keep in such place the
original books that they used to print in Venice.

Interrogated where said father don Evangelista, as general of said
religion, visited seid city of Venice.

He answered: it was in 1594 or 95 or 96 to say the truth.




Interrogated how he could know thet while seid father don Evengelis-—
ta wes visiting Venice as szid, was & great man of good and conducting & good

life.

He answered: From the fast, discipline end preyers and observance of
reguler discipline,

Interrogated if he hed letters written by said father don FEvangelis-
ta.

He answered: No sir, becsuse I didn't care too much, if I hed known
that we would arrive at this, I would have kept them.

He added: The truth is thet the letter is his and written by his hand.
T know it for the reasons said above.

Mmibus hebitis fuit licentistus, prius interrogestus super generalibus,
qui recte 11 respondit, selvo ut supra, attamen etc, Et est aeteatis annorw 51

vel circe.

Eadem die in vesperis.

Reverendus Marinus de Merinis, clericus nondum tamen professus 1n ¥
suprascripta congregatione et praesentialiter moram trahens in loco Copiani 3
agri et dicecesis Papiensis, testis ut supra productus ac citatus per supras- a
criptum servitorem, iuraturs quoque, receptus et examinatus super contentis ¥
in' supraseripta requisitione sibi ut supra lecta, assistente praefato illustri ;-
et multum reverendo domino vicapio, et i1li per eundem illustrem et multum re- a
verendum vicerium delato veritatis dicendae luramento; et qui iuravit tactis
scripturis in menibus pracfati illustris et multum reverendi domini vicarii

Wi
juramentum praedictum i1li deferentis, etc. ml
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Interrogeted whet he knew of the exposcd cheapters described in seaid
questionneire, testifying this under oath.

He answerea and said: I know this about the content of the chapter a
asked me above: Vhen I was in Brescla in the Misericordia house where the or-
p’ans used to live and live as it is done at the Colombina in Pavia, being
father Francesco da Trento superior of said congregation end religion for the
whole year 1582, I heard verious times said by seid father don Francesco that
we, who were listening, were to imitate father don Jerome Miani, founder of
gaid religion, making verious exhortation for this purpuse: that we were to
give ourselves tc discipline es he was doing every day; to be charitable to
said orphans as said father don Jerome did; to fast as he had recommended,
that is everyday, but three times a week on bread and water, on lednesday,
Fridey, and Sasturday. Meny time he narrated how said father don Jerome lMieni
had made a miracle, feeding sufficiently about sixty people with three breads
and having left overs. He exhorted us to pray as said father Miani did.

That miracle of the bread was narrated to me and confirmed the same
year by a certain priest Mzrtino, superior in the land of Garda of Val Camonica,
in his own house vhere I went in the occasion when he used to give alms to the
orphans, in order to get it, ' Then he told me not only this but also thot he
was a disciple of said father Miani and he was present to the miracle and ate
of ssid bread. He sdded the the bread was as mixture and he were ate sc good
a bread end found a more palatable than the one. He kept a piece for twenty
five yeers. He consumed it in giving it fragmented in water to sick people .
with fever. Those sick people were freed from their sickness. He also affir-
med thst such bread did not chenge color, nor grew mouldy when seid father
Misni was still alive was of good snd holy life snd chariteble. He used to vi-
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sit the sick, to fast every day, es I said, to pray frequently and discipliningl

himself every day.

P T add also that I heard from a Battiste da Romano who was belonging
td the same congregastion, living in said city of Brescia in the same place of
the Misericordia, some 10 years after I had lived for & year in Brescia where
II happened to go for the purpose of seeing some femily members I have in said
city of Brescia. That is that said Battista had been one of the disciples of
father Miani and also one of those who was present to the miracle of the mul-
tiplication of bread which said father Miani had made in sald place of Somasca
and that the said bread were only three end thet Sixty were the people who ate,
and not only it was enough but there was left over and many people were coming
to take it as a devotion, after hearing of the miracle. He told me also that
father Miani was passing entire nights praying in a grotto, where there was a
little chapel destroyed by the Venetians which I saw with my own eyes before
being destroyed. Said Battista was 2lso telling me that father Miani used to
sleep on the ground, lying his head on 2 stone which was, and I don't know if
it is still there, on the mountain of said place of Somasca; also that the in-
tention of seid father Miani was to do charity to sald orphens and take care
of them: he was curing the ringworm he was fasting thc whole week, as I said,
he was living always good and holy life. I never heerd anything bad about
said father Misni., de especially wantec thet said orphans live in the feer of
God and learn the christian doctrine. I don't know anything else of the con-
tent of said chapters.

Interrogated in which occesions sald father don Francesco of Trento
said to the above said witness whet was expcsed above as heard by him in said
house of the Misericordis of Brescia, and if it was said only to him or to
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and who.

He answered: the occasicn was that every evening the ministers depu-
ted to the care of the orphans were all gathered together, a "commisso" whose
name was Gioriio, I wouldn't know his last name, and others that I don't remem-
per. Gathered together also at the presence of the children, I was also present
as one there in order to leern, I heard said father don Francesco making said
gxhortations and narreting whot [ sald above about said father Miani.

Interrogated if he remembers the nemcs of any of those children and
if they were many and how many.

He answered: MNow I wouldn't be able to say any name of said children.
T only remember that we were cighty and I wes one of them,

Interrogstcd whet kind of man and what kind of 1life said father don
Francesco was living, if he is alive or dead and how old.

He answered: said father don Francesco was & good father and full of
charity and love; I wish that all would be like him now; he was probably sixty
yecrs old to my estimetion. It's a long time that he died in Rome as T heard
it from the fathers of San Msiclo of the same congregation, but I don't remem=-
ber who they were.

Interrogated what kind of man was said father Mertino who deposed
before, and what age he was when he told him the above ssid, the precise time
he tolC him if there was anybody present and if he is still alive or dead.

He enswered: Said father lMartino was & nian of middle stature but
fat, a first of good life, as I know from the information given my me those
who knew him; he could have been sbout ¢ighty years old. When he told me
what I said ebove it was winter on December of 1582, but I don't remember the
exact day. When he told me the said things, there were certainly other people

present, that is farmers of said plece of Vocemonica whose names I don't know




because I didn't know them. I heard from some of the family thet father Mar-
tino is dead, thet is from his nephew, whose name I don't remember and others
whose names I don't know. This happened more than 20 years ago.

Interrogated in what occasion seid Battista da Romeno in said house
of the Misericordis of seid city of Brescia told him about the above exposed
and if there wes anyone present when he was told.

He answered: The occasion when said Battists told me what I sald
above as heard from him, was in the house of the Misericordia., T was in thet
house because I went to visit some family member, as said above. 1 was living
in Pavia. I wanted to know something of said father iiani of whom I had heerd
said in the community thet he was a holy man and that said Battista knew many
things about him. I talked with him and asked him to tell me whet he knew of
father Miani. There were also other people present such 1 don't remember.
Battista at my request told me whet is above narrsted in my examination as

heard from him.

Interrogated what duty said Bettists in said house of the Misericor-
dia had, what age hc was at that time end if he was living or dead,

He enswered: Said Battista we "commisso" and might have been about
70 on my estimate, He was small of stature, fat and of good 1ife and behavior,
It's about 23 years that he died in such house of the Misericordia of Brescie.

Quibus hsbitis fuit licentistus, prius interrogatus super generali-
bus; qui recte respondit, salvo ut supra, attamen ctc., et est aetatis anno=-
rum 41 vel circa.

1614 die 4 februsrii in vesperis.,

Multum reverendus dominus don Blasius Gena praepositus dicti colle~-
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gil Sancti Meloli Pepiae congregetionis Surmaschee et in dicto monessterio hebi-
tator, testis ut supra productus ac citatus per suprascriptum servitorem, iu-

etus quoque, receptus, interrogatus et examinatus super contentis in supre-
scrihta requisitione sibi ut supra lects, assistente praefeto illustri et mul-
tum reverendo domino vicario, ct illi per cundem illustrem et multum 1everendum
dominum vicarium delato veritelis dicendae iuramento, et qui iuravit tactis
scripturis in manibus praefeti illustris et multum reverendi domini vicarii,
etc.

, Interrogated what he knew of the exposed in the first chepter des-
cribed in said questionnaire read to him and testify with his aoth sworn as
above.

He answered and said: I don't know enything c¢lse ebout the content
of said chapter but that i1t was 37 yesrs aro counting the year of approval of
my entrance in said sacred congresetion. I always kept in my heart ths good
father don Jerome illani, first founder of our congregation and religion; for
the works of piety and holiness of 1life which the others said he was doing when
living., In particular I remember this: I was living in Milano at San wsartino
in 1579 or 1580, for truth sake, with the permission of the superiors I went
during vocation time for a vocation on Somascs. There, as they say, said
father Jerome ended 1is life. While I 1vas there, there was livineg there a ley
brother called Battiste da Fomano, a professed of our community with great
kindness of life. Ne ¢ied many years ago, but I don't remcmber the exact time
nor the place where he died. BRattista da Romano was saying and affirming in
my presence and in presence of others, openly, thet he was one of those orphans
which were gathered by said father Miani snd that he had lived under his care.
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He was saying also that father Miani had been a man of good and holy life, of

sreat charity and devotion, and thet in particular he curcd his headache. On
feast days he used to teach the christian doctrine through those surrounding
villages, bringing some of those children he was caring for, intructed by him
in seid christian doctrine, by whom he used to be helped. He showed we also t
the places where father Miani was retiring for meking penance and solitary
1life or certain times. In particular he showed me a place we now call "eremo"
shere he said this blessed father used to sleep over the nude ground inside

the grotto which is in the seme "eremo."
fbout the second chepter or read above.

Interrogated he answered and said: I still sey belng that I heard in
thet place of So,asce at the above said time and in the same occasion from the
same Battists da Romano and from a father don Vincenzo Trotti, who was old and
walking with a stick in his hands. He couldn't pay mass because of his oage.

He was one of the first who made the profession in sald our congrezation, in
the year 1569, as it appesrs in the writings kept in our archive of the monas-
tery of San Meiolo of Pavia. ALl were saying that he was of good and holy life,
but one separated from the other. Seid fether Miani when still living cured
some sick people in putting his hands or. thelr heed. But I don't remember if
they said who they vere, nor if they were many or few, nor where it happened.
gaid Battista da Bonano was telling me ¢t said time and in the same place of
Somasca during recrestion/vocation, as I have seld, that one times father Miani
made a nice miracle thias way: when Father Miani was in Somasca with his orphans
were many, but + cannot remember the exact manner. After, father Miani prayed
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full pieces of bread, thet is two or three. to say the truth; he broke them
aced them in his apron, blessed them and gave of them to fullness. At the

end of the distribution he had left over more bread then he had before the
distribution. Some of the smertest orphaens kept some peices for devotion for
many years. In psrticular we called Meriine, who became later priest and

3 curate, but I don't remember where his is now, was one of those orphens, sccor-

; ding to Dattista. ERegarding those who kept the bread, said Rattista was sey-
ing thsat that Mertino one time gisve of that bread to sick people and they

n were cured.

t —

Regarding the third as scaid above,

.0“

Interrogated, hc answered and sail: L equally say to be true thet
fether Fvengelista Corati lived and belonged to our congregation and religion
and was also our suporior general. I knew him well for many years in Venice
particularly in the patrischal seminsry and alweys as a mere of greast bounty
and sicerity of 1live and fearing the di-ine Majesty. There is no doubt that

in these writing your lerdshin shows me, w ich are sre described well in said
he chapter; . can recc-:nize them as made and written by the very hend of said
sl fether don Fvangelista, which I know very well for the knowledge and practice
o I had and have from many letters of which I didn't care and don't know what I
; did with them. They were business letters and the subject was very gencral,
qa 1 also recognize them as ?einv his b§cause some &re kept in the crchive of San
14 fe, Meiolo end were maede by him at the time whgn he was chancellor of our general
a chepter in the yesr, if 4 remember well, 1590 or 1591. Those wetch exactly.
L If it is necded, they cculd be erxhibited for better credibility of whet I am
A deposing, This is all I know of the content of said chapters. I knew it and
F know for the reasons and ceuses by me shbore exposed.

Jiani . !
Jhans Interropgoted to say the names of the fathers of h}s congregation
syed from whom he hesrd talking sbout the works of piety and holiness of father

Jerome lMiani, besides the above named Battiste da Romano and father Vincenzo
-] .
Trotti.



He snswered: 1 cen say the in general our first fethers of the commu-
nity were saying it "uno ore"(the same way) and in perticular father don Fran-
cesco of Trento who was the second superior general of our congrecation. He
was very known. flso father Glovenni Scotti, the third superior general, and
father don Guglielmo. 11 Tonso who was one the firet fathers of our congrcia-
tion, They are all dead. They were telling we sreat things of sald father
don Jerome, but, because long time has past, I don't remember. I sbtill remem-
ber of a father called Bernardino Castelleno, who became our superior genereal,
the fourth, and one of the first six professed of the congregaticn.

Interrogated what age seid Battista da Romano was when he sald to the
said witness whet he had sald ebout the said place of Somascéa.

He answered: He was certainly over fiftys; he was small, but fatg
st, chrles Borromeo liked him for the purity and hcliness of his life.

Interrogated in which occasion said father Battista da Romano said
to the witness whet he exposend as having heard from hims if hc wes alone or &
at the presence of others and who were those present.,

le snsvered: Said Battista da Roamo told me the above said things
while he wes showing we the places where said father Miani wes 1living a soli-
tary life. There were other condisciples of mine who were studying with me
in Milano of whom I only remember one. His don flessandro Brugnano.
He is still alive and rector of the Pieta’ in Nopoli.

Interrorsated if when seid Battista da Romemeno and said father don
Vinecenzo Trotti told him, as above s&ld, that ssid father Miani, still living,
had cured sick people placing his hends on their heed, he was slone or accompe-
nied, and when did said don Vincenzo say such thing to him: when did, said
father don Vincenzo, tell him such a thing?

He answered: Those 4+ mentioned before were certainly there to the
reasoning made by the one and be the other and slso the others which I don't
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remember for it was long time ago. Said father don Vincenzo told me what I
said, as did said Battiste da Romano when he was narrating the 1ife fathcr
Jerome Miani was condencing.
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Interrogated if said Battista da Romano said whet kind of bread was
distributed to the orphans after which the miracle followed.

He answered: He might have told me the kind of bread but I donit
remember since long time has pasted.

Muibus habitis fuit licentiatus, prius interrogatus super gencrali-

bus; qui recte respondit, selvo ut suprea, attamen etc., et est actatis ennorum
56 vel circa

On 1614 February six in the afternoon.

Multum reverendus dominus don Ioannes Beptista Peragus sacerdon regu—
laris congregationis Sumaschae, hebitens in aedibus orphanorum app=llatis della
Colombina Papiae sub regimine et gubernio reverendorum patrum dictae congrega=
tionis, testis ut supra productus ac citatus per Ioannem Beptistam de Albertis
publicum servitorem dictae curise, iuratus quoque, receptus ct exmminetus su-
per contcntis in supracripta requisitione sibi ut supra lecta, assistente
praefato illustri et multum reverendo domino vicario, et i1li per eundem il-
lustrem et multum reverendum doninum vicarium delato veritetis dicendaec iura-
mentc, et qui iuravit tactis scripturis in manibus praefati illustris et mul-
tum reverendi domini vicerii iuramentum praedictum i1li defferentis, etc.
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Interrogated what he knew about whet is;éxposed,in the second chapter
described in the questionnaire, testifying with oath 'as done before, :

He answered:snd said: I don't know of any other content of said chap-
ter except what I have heard said by some fathers of our congregation and by
{ome illustrious persons of V,.nice in that same city of Venice, that is Mr.
Giovanni Battista Contarini and Mr. Antonio Correri that father Jerome Miani
Pirst founder of our congregation was of pood and holy life, when living.

fbout the second chapter as read above..
o Interropated, hé snswered and said: I say thet regarding the con=-
tent of seid chapter I still know only this: when I was still a lay end prac-
tically in the monastery of San Melolo here in Pevia of our congregation, &=
bout 40 years age, one day I.was talking with Mr. father Giovarmmi Maria who .-
then was of our conpregstion but later got out and was rector of a place celled
santa Maria della Strada Sicomaro in the diocesis of Pavia, I don't remember
his name now. Others were also present whose names skip my memory. Said Mr.
father Giovenni Maria tolked about father Miani. fmong other things he said:
"I kept this by memory for being a special thing, Said father Miani made a
miracle in this way: he took two breads, without specifying what kind, he
broke them, placed tiem on his cossack turned up and distributed such bread to
his orphans and other ministers of the house. He didn't say how many they were
nor did I ask. He :¢lso said that this bread was enough for everybody and there
was same left over,

fbout the third chapter read as above.
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sald chapter is true and thercfore I testify: Father FEvangelista Dorati named
in that chapter did exist and was member of our congregation. I wes very close
to him in the congregstion and when he was a teacher in the seminsry of Cremona
and 1 was confessor of the clerics of said seminary. Said father Evengelista
alvays was know as a man of holy and exemplar life and fearing our Tord. Be-
cause of his bounty and holiness of 1ife was msde general of the Congregation.
He demonstrated it also in visiting the orphans, as generel, he was putting on
a white cloth and used to wesh them. I say this because I saw it with my eyes
in the hospital of Santi Giovanni 11 e Paolo in Venice, when I was rector
there. I don't remember the cexact time. I also knew said father Fvangelista
as man of good and holy life as fur as it refers to me. [fter renouncing the
title of general and vicar general of our congregation in the monastery of Cre—
mona, Santa Lucls of our congregation, he wanted to end up his days in Somasca
and his body be buried close to those of sald father Mieni. In reality he died
there about ten years ago. There is no doubt thit the writings describe at the
end of said chapter and your lordship is showing me and are on the same tone of
that chapter, are written by the very hand of said don Evengelista. I can af-
firm and testify because of the knowledse T have about the characters and the
letters of said fother don Evangelista, I sow him many times write in said c
city of Cremona and monestery of Santa Lucia. I received lelters from him when
he was gencral as above. I'm sure that if the very illustrious Mr. Cardinal
Sfondrato, who was his teacher, would sce them, hc would recognize them as such.
If we want to confront his handwriting of when he was chancellor of the general
chapter of our congregation when father don Giovanni Battista Fabresco was €lcc-
ted pgeneral and is still alive and lives in Rome, we will clearly see confron-
ting them with those now kept in the archive of the congregation in thc monss-
tery of San Maiolo. /ny person can make the comparison of the two handwritings.
This is what I cen say about the content of said chapters. I knew and know
this for the reasons and causcs testified by we, as above.

Interrosated to name the fathers of the congregations from whom he
heard about the bounty and holiness of life of said father Miani, the places

Interrogated, he answered and said: I know also thet the content of




out exact time where he heard this, in whet occasions and if there was anyone
present.

He answered: I heard this from a certain Giovanni Battista da Romano,
who was one of the orphans, as he was saying, of ssid father don Jerome, who
was a lay professed of our congregation 1s said city of Cremona in the place of
the orphans called San Geroldo about 35 years ago. It was when we were making
him tell the life of said father Jerome. He said this various times also at
the presence of father don Giovanni Scotto and others which now I don!t remem-
ber. T also heard it from a certain Christoforo Chiedu, a professed lay of
the congregation and an orphans of said father Miani, as he was saying. This
happened in the city of Piacenza in our monastery of Santo Stefano, about 36
years 2go, in the same occasion when we were in the garden of the monastery.

I don't remanber of any other.

Interrogated when and where exactly, at whose end in whst occasion
said Oontarini and Ccrrera told him whst he above said to have heard from them
about said father Miani.

; He answered: Said Mr. Contarini told me this in said hospital of
8%nti Giovanni e Paolo when said father don Fvangelista wes general of our re-
ligion, but I don't remember the precise time nor if there were other people
present when he told me. He told that to me when we were talking about said
fother Miani. Mr. Contarini said thet he was very humble and & man of pood and
holy 1life. Saild Mr. Correra told in this the following year, but I don't re-
member the cxact time, when we were in the incureble hospital of which, at

that time, I was rector. I don't remember if others were present when he told
me. It happened when ve were talking about the care of the orphans which had
started from said father Miani.

Interrogated if said father Giovanni Maria seid to that witness how
he had known about said miracle of the bread, which was made, as exposed above,
by said father Miani.
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He enswered: No, Sir.

Ouibus habitis fuit licentiatus, prius interrogatus super generali-
bus; qui recte respondit, salvo ut supra, attamen etc., et est aetatis annorum
64 vel cira, et est sacerdon ut supra.

Ita est, prout scriptum reperitur, et ego loannes Baptista Beccarius
notarius et eancellarius praefatae curiae, de praemissis rogstus, pro fide in
hoc decimo folio praesenti computato me subscripsi.

Philippus Leo protonotarius apostolicus, archidiaconus Papiensis
curiaeque episcopalis Paiensis vicarius et locumtenens generalis, etc., univer-
sis et singulis praesentes inspecturis fidem facimus et attestamur praesentium
tenore suprascriptum spectabilem dominum Ioannem Baptistam Beccarium fore et
esse publicum, legalem, fidelem et authenticum notarium Papiensem, matricula=-
tum, ac praefatae curiae cancellarium, scripturique et instrumentis per eum
publice confectis et authentice subscriptis semper in iudicio et extra adhibitam
fuisse in diesque adhiberi plenam fidem. In quorum ideo etc. Datum Papiae ex
episcopali pallatio die 13 februarii 1614. Signatum Philippus Leo archidia=
conus vicarius generclis, Et subseriptum Iulius Caesar Madius notarius cancel-
larius etc. Ft sigillatum signo legalitatis.
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CRDINARY PROCESS

( 14 September 1614 )




ORDINARY PRCGESS OF CEMIO
(Scptember 14, 1614)

IDZIRQDUECTION

1. CODICES
We heve ot hand three manuscripts of this process.

The first is the manuscript D 202 of the general archive of the Somascan
fether of Genova which preserves the text of ell the ordinery processes. The
process of Cemmo occupies folios 18v - 23r., The manuscript, work of the Mi=
lanese notary Carlc Francesco Ferrano is taken from & copy formed on the ori-
ginel by the notary end cheanceller of the episcopal curia of Brescia Glovenni
Mdrea Bensglis and ligelized by the general vicar fntonio Aberi, dated Sep-
tember 18, 1614.

The second manuscript is inserted in the apostolic processess Mediolanens
canonigationis beeti Hieronymi femilisni etc., Processus remissoriales febri-
ceti Tervisil Venetils, Bergomi, Erixise et Paplsge. The process of Cemmo is
found &t f, 23v-26v of the process celebrated in Brescia. On September 22,
1628 the procurator father (iovenni Cslta asked the judges to include in the
acts the denositions of the two witnesses of the process of Cemmo: Partolo-
meo and Virgilio Cassrottis the third witness, the priest Giovenni Mertellino,
still &alive, wzs reinterrogated.

The third manuscript is found in the codex Correr 1350/3 of the Correr
Librery of Venice: Vorlie ad b. Hieronymi fAemiliani Congregationis Somaschae
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fundatoris cenonizstionem spectantie, f. 52-57r.

flso the text of the process of Cemmo has never been published. In our
edition we follow codex D 202; among the threc manuscripts we consulted there
src no differences in content, but only in the hand-writing.

2. THIL PROCFSE

The process of Ceammo happened on September 14, 1614, On request of fa-
ther Giovenni (alte the vicar general of Erescia fntonio Alberi with the let-
ter of September 11, gave charge to the archpriest end vicar forane of Cemmo
Mtonio Ricci to interrogate the witnesses of Gerda and Ponte di Legno which
would have been presented te him by the procurator, Once chosen the notery in
the person cf Gloven Pietro Balardini the same day were heard the priest Glo-
vanni Mertellino, Eertolomeo Cascrotti end Virgilio Caserobti. The next day
the text of the dipositions wes trensmitted to Erescia to the vicar general
who toock care in giving a copy to father «Lalta.

5. THE WITHECSSES

The priest Giovenni Mertellino is parish priest of (tarde, & small center
of the Volcamonica. He was born in 1557. 4t the time of the process he was
57, His fatherts name wes Daniele living in Prescaglio of Ponte di I.egno.
jround the 1564 still a child, he was accepted by his uncle priest Martino
Martellino who grew him up and directed toward the priesthood. Fe passed the
rest of his 1ife with his uncle in Pienno, Ponte di Iegno, Garda, where in
1588 tock his plece, becoming the redor of that perish church. Here, among
other things, he continued the "ecademia' which hed been started by the
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uncle in order to instruct the children of those poor villages. He will be
interrogeted a second time in the apostolic process of Brescia, on September
12, 1628: "Cptimee vocis et famae", (of great voice end feme), say the jud-
ges of the process (f. 19r - 22r). In the thirty six years passed near the
priest Martino, the uncle had often talked about the Somascans and Mieni.,

Bartolomeo Caserotti wes born in Garda eround the 1542 where he died on
December 18, 1623 at 81. Here is what his perish priest says sbout him in
the apostolic process of Brescie in 1628: "Thet Bartolomeo was my parishioner
and, as such, I know he was frequenting the sacraments and took care of the
pious works of the christian institution and govermment of the school of the
very holy Sacrament" (f. 26v). Giovenni Battista de Sisti; o 22 year old
young man, who knew him for two yeesrs when he used to frequent the school of
priest Mertellino said: "I always knew him as a good man and devout person
who was teaching the christian doctrine and exhorting people toward good"

(f. 27r). Fartolomeo Caserotti lived very familiarly with the priest Martino
Martellino and was alwsys present in the parish house of Garda; when he made
Nicolo de Rusgeri drink the water with the crumbs of the bresd blessed by

St. Jerome.

Virgilio Caserotti was born also in Gerda around the 1554, where he died
on fpril 26, 1618. Vhen a child he frequented the academy of the priest Mar-
tino Mertellino. His image remained so impressed that he kept a good memory
of him even if for many years he had been absent from Garde. Also about him,
the priest Giovenni Martellino, his parish priest, was vtestifyings "I knew
for long time Virgilio and practiced him &s one of my parishioners...l never
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heard thot he had committed eny action unworthy of & good men...end I know
dlso thet he took care of the Pawn shop" (f. 26v).

4. THE PRIEST MARTINO MARTELLINO

one day of September around the year 1570 in the parish house of Gerda
in Val Camonica Nicole de Ruggeri is present. He is from the neighboring
municipality of Malonno and was reduced in very bad shape by a fever tormen=
ting him since four or five months.

1. foout priest Martino Martellino see codex D. 202 of the general or=-
chive of Glenova, Process of Pavis, f. 9v and 10v: Process of Cemmo, which we
publish: ses also Apostolic Processes cit., process of Brescia, (f. 20r=22r) .
fMbout Bienno, Ponte di I.egno, Garda in the years between 1560 and 1580, see
V. RBonomelli, Ta Vallecamonica della contrariforma nclle visite del Vescar o
Bolleni, Rrescia 1978, in perticular psge 185, 194, 211, 220, 230, 242. Ve
wouldn't know if our Martino is to be identified with the Martino present on
June 4, 15% in Erescia to the chepter of the Compagnia of the Servant of the
poor (see Libro delle Proposte, '"Primary Somascan SOUrces, No. 4," Rome 1978,
page 15) and with the Martino to whom Jerome entrusts his letter of January
11, 1537 to bring to Bergamo on one of those to whom his sconldings are add-
ressed and the fervent exhortations included (sce lettere di San Firolamo
Miani, "Sources for the history of the Somascan, No. 3,Rome 1975, page 22-24).

The curate of Garde, Martino Mertellino of about sixty, "rather fat" wes
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famous for healing peoples with fever making them drink water containing some
crunbs of bread. This happened also with Ruggeri. The priest Martellino
took out & small wooden box in which he was keeping with great reverence a
plece of bresd as big as a chestnut. It was & brezd of mixture end fresh as
if just made. Took off some crumbs and put them in some weter, Reminding
thet that was the breesd blessed by father Mieni, who with it had obteined
also prodigious healing, he gave it to the sick. In a few days Ruggeri was
healed; certainly quick,; quicker than any other hope. Eartolomeo Caserotti;
who was ebout 20 years old end present &t the event, attributed always theat
heeling to the grace of Ged, through the power of that bread blessed by
father Miani,

* K K X X ¥ KX

Martino Martellino was born eround the 1515. He was 18 when he met Miani
and followed him. He remeined with him in Somasca and Bergamo during the last
years of the saint's 1life: even after his death he continued to dedicate him-
self to the works started by him. After seven years, eround the 1542, he left
the compagnie of the servent of the poor. He was ordeined priest and exercised
his pestoral ministry in Garda of V alcamonica,then at BPienno, Ponte di Legno
and fineglly egain in Garda where he lived his lost years of 1life. He died
around the 1600. He wes 85 years old with 55 as priest. From 1588 his nephew
fdovanni Mertellino had substituted him in the pestoral care of the parish,

Mertellino was o priest of very good life, of much prayer and great charity.
He dedicated himself, among other things, to the instruction of children in
those mounteaineous villages. Virgilio Caserotti, one of his alumni, remembered
him this way: "I knew him as a man of good so much as not to meke any exception
«oobhile I was & child, he taught me reading and left me such a good example
of himself that even if I had been sbsent for long time, 1 kept always a good
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memory of him. T always hesrd him praised by all who knew him." FEven when
0ld the priest Martellino had not forgotten the time spent with Miani, and
in his works. Fvery yesr he was sending his help to the orphans of the }id-
sericordia in Brescis. He wes a pestor and fether full of zeal.

EE T S I S

How did thet picce of bread as big as a chestnut, blessed by Miani get
in the henr's of priest Martellino? He himself was narrating it frequently,

Onc day there was a great number of people in the house, between fourty
to fifty. There was nothing to est but threec or four bresds. Miani took
them, blessed them snd sterted distributing them. Al1 had enough. Among
those people there wes also Martellino: he was exactly the one before the
lest to be served. Considering the wey things went, he decided to keep a
piece of that bread, convinced that if it was able to f111 all those people,
it would be cffective also in other necessities. In fact thst bread, pre-
served for meny yesrs with veneration and given in form of crumbs to sick
people, it had propitiated various healings.

LR S B e

Martellino had been a disciple of Mieni. He was mentioning him very
often, in the house or in the street, and everytime with devotion and teers
of tenderness.

He remembers his holy life, the praycrs, the great charity: "He wéas
gathering the orphans, helping them physically and spiritually, feeding
them and instructing them particulsrly in the spiritual life eand christien
living. e was showing a particular cherity in assisting the sick. He was
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eating only once a day: never eating meat, not drinking wine. Fveryday for
one hour snd s halfor two he wes retiring from the others company: at his
rcturn he secemed all confused® in the face, to meke people think that every

time he had disciplined himself. He was very dediceted to prayer that he
never locked to have prsyed enough.n

For Mertellino Mieni was a saints his life very exemplar.,

He used to tell another fact, of which the nephew could not say exactly
if the uncle had been a spectator or the protagonist. He was sick. Father
Miani was already dead, He went to his burial place and with great confidence
preyed fiod saying these wordss "If the 1ife of father Miani is pleasing to
you, O Lord, give me back my health." He obtained the grace,

ORDINZRY PROCFSS OF CEMMO
Receptae die 17 Ceptembris 1614

Molttillustre et reverendissimo mcnsignor signor peadron colendissimo.

Per debite e riverente essecutione delle lettere di vostra signoria
molto illustre et reverendissima, con quella maggior diligenza e severite
chtho potuto, ho essaminato tre testimonii intorno all santitd della vita et
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miracoli del quondem venersbile padre Meiani, prodotti per il reverendo padre
don Giovenni Calta, procuratore delle congregatione di Somescas et qui rin-
chiuso, sotto il mio solito sigillo duppliceto, mando a vostra signoria quento
essi testimonii hanno deposto, scritto e ridetto in questa forma euttentice
(f. 19r) per messer Giovan Pietro Balardino, notero legele e fedele. E senze
pil a vostra signoria reverendissime bascio humilissimamente le mene, pregan-
dcle ogni felicita.

De Cemmo, 1i 15 di settembre 1674.

Di vostra signoria molto illustre et reverendissima humilissimo e divotis-
simo servitore, fntonioc Riccl arciprete di Cemmo,

b tergo: A1 molttillustre e reverendissimo mensignore signore e padron
mio colendissimo monsignor il vicario genersle di Brescia. A Brescia.

In Christi nomine. fmen. AMnne a nativitate eiusdem millesimo sexcentesi-
mo decimo quarto, indictione duodecima, die decima quarta mensis septembris in
sedibus srchipraesbiteralibus loci de Cemmo vellis Cemonicae; dioecesls Bri-
xiensis, in aule superiori solitae audicntiac.

Coram edmodum reverendo domino Mmtonlq Riccle secree theologiee doctori
archipresbitero et vicerio foraneo loci praedict! de Cemmo, admodum reverendus
dominus Icennes Galta, clricus regularis congregetionels Summaschae et procu-
rator super informationibus sanctitstis vitae et miraculorum quondam venera-
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bilis patris Iieronimi fanilieni patritil Veneti praedictae congregetionis f
fundstoris, exhibuit litterss commissoriales perillustris et reverendissimi
domini domini Antonii frborel, vicarii generalis episcopatus Irixiae; pro
examinstione testium per ipswuu reverendum dominum procuratorem introducendo-
rum, (uarum litterarum tenor est ut sequitur, videlicete

Molto reverendo signore
& 3

Essendosi presentato gui da me il padre don Giovenni Celta chierico rego-
lare di Sommasca, procuratore con lettere testimoniali del molto reverendo
padre don Mauritio de Lomis, preposito generale della detts congregatione,
con ordine di far former processi et scritture, qusli possino far fede in
giuditio, della bonta della vita e miracoli del quondam venerabile pedre
lieronimo Mieni patritio Veneto e fondatore delle sudetta congregatione, e
supplicatomi che con 1tauttorite di questo offitio volessi far essaminare
quelli testimonii, che da esso fossero ypresentcti nelle terre (f. 19v) di
Gards e Ponte di Terno di Valcemonica, ciurishitione di cuestio vescovatos; e
desiderando jo sodisfare alle giuste suc dimande, né potendo cio essuquire in
persona per le molte occupationi; ho percio voluto commetter a vostra rive-
renza che con 1'auttorita mia, hevendo presso di sé un notaro fidasto, essamini
1i testimonil, quali d&). predetto procurstore le ssranno presentsti, € rico=-
noseca anco le scritture che le saranno da esso essibite, formando di tutto
processo giuridico, qual ridotto in forma auttentica et sigilleto con doi
sigili, mandara poi a me sotto sue lettere, accio sl possa vedere. Che tra
tanto per fine le prego da nostro Signore ogni contento. Di Bresciay a1l
11 settembre 1614.

Di vostre siecnoria affetionatissimo per servirla /ntonio Alberi vicario.
! tergo: /1 moto reversndo signore il signor arciprete et vicaric foraneo di
Cemmo .




Mui admodum reverendus dominus fntonius archipresbiter ut supra, pro debi-
te executione suprascriptarum litterarum, suctoritate ordineria praedicta sibi
ut supra delegateo, exaninavit infrascriptos testes per dictum procuratorem in-
ductoss quorum testium dicta et sttestationes sunt prout sequitur, videlicet,

Die suprascripta.

Multum reverendus dominus Toennes Mertellinus, rector parochielis eccle-
slee loci de Garde dictae vallis, testis inductus per dictum procuratorem, iu-
ratus in menibus praefati multum reverendi domini commissarii, corporaliter
tactis sacris litteris, et per ipsum examinatus,

Asked if he has ever known de visu father Jerome Miani
He answered g No, Sir.

Asked 1f has heard him mentioned by others
He answered : Yes, Sir, many times.

fsked by whom, how, and in whet occasion

He answered : I heerd him mentioned very often by the good memory of mis-
ter priest Martino Martellino my uncle. He lived seven
years in the congregation of Somasca, He used to tell me
of the 1life, mortificetion, fasting and particularly (f. 20r)
of his charity. He used to gather orphans and others,
helping them materielly and spiritually, that is feeding
them end instructing them in the spiritusl 1ife and living
as christisns. He was having a particular form of charity in
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helping the sick.

Asked how seid reverend father Mertino thought of seid fether Miani and
how reverently would mention him.

He answered : He was mentioning him with great tenderness of spirit and

sometimes crying. He thought of him es a saint and of very
exemplsr 1life,

Asked if said messer father Martino, besides the aforesaid general things,
narreted something particularly notr.worthy.

Ee answered ¢t He was nerrating this, but I don't know well if he was
telking of himself or of another sick person, but T think
he was talking ebout himself thet, being sick after the fa-
ther Miani's death he went to his tumb and with grest trust
he seid these words praying to God: if the 1life of father

Miani is accepteble to you, Lord, give me heslth., He ob-
tained the grace.

Asked where, who was present, in what occssion said messer priest Mertino
narrated the ebove raid things,

He answered : I heerd him many time:in Bienno Ponte di Legno and in Garda,
lauds all of this valley, where for many years I lived with
him boceuse he rose me. This hsannened st the presence of
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of verious people according to the occesion. It's elready

a long time. I didn't reelize that one day I would be re=-

quested about these things. I don't remember in perticuler
what they were.

Asked whet wes the sickness he was cured of as above end if he was hecled
immedintely.

| He answered . I don't remember if my uncle scid whet infirmity it was, and
if he told me, I don't remember. Nor do I remember 1f the
(f. 20v) hesling happened immediately or later. DPut I remem-
1 ber that he was sure thst it was obtained by the merits of
the soint, that is father Miani.

Asked when, thet is how long ago saild reverend messer priest Martino used
to narrate these things.

! He answered . TIt's about seventeen yecrs thet my uncle died in Garda where
' I was living. T had lived with him before for cbout thirty
{ years. During this *time he often was tglking not only sbout
scid fother Vioni but also of his good ness end virtue of ma- |
ny other students of his. |

fsked of what condition, cuality,age was sald reverend messer priest Mar-
tino and if we could trust whst he was telling.

He enswered . He is my uncle, so I shouldn't be the one to recommend him,

"?1-2 .h.
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but by the obligetion of my oath T will say what I think:
thst he was & priest of very good life and such that his

words would be trustworthy. Particularly he wes frequent
in prayer of great charity toward the neighbors. Wwhen he
died I think he was about 85 years old.

Ad generalia et circa personam factis etce. recte etc.y et est aetatis
annorum 57 optimae vocis, famae et conditionis et rector suprascriptae paro=

chiglis de Gerda.
Die suprascripta.

Eartholomaeus quondam Dominici de Caserottis loci de Gtarda vallis prue-
dictae, testis ut suora productus, iuratus tactis corporaliter sscris litteris

et examinatus.
fsked if he hos ever known father Jerome Miani

He answered . No, Sir, I heard him mentioned by reverend messer priest
Martino, uncle of our reverend curate of Carda.

ssked in whet occasion he heard him mentioned (f. 21r)

He answered . In the village Tacsa of the parish énd municipality of Malon-
no, was our land of Garda, there was & Nicolo de Ruggeri
with fever. Said reverend messer priest Martino, who was li-
ving and was parish priest in Garda, had a piece of bread
wrapped in paper. He gave some of it in some water to drink
to said sick saying thsat it was the bread blessed by father
Miani, thet it was making great mirscles in the hends of said

father and that even he, that is messer priest Martino, had

;;1;}-'




made the experience. IMicolo drenk the water, with seid bresd
inside, and hesled from the fever which bothered him for o-
bout four or five months and reduced him at the end.

Asked what kind of fever it wes and if said Nicolo hesled immediately

He answered ¢ fs for es I remember, I think it wes & continuous one and the
patient was reduced to e bad shepe., He healed after four or
six days, I don't remember how meny exsctly, but he hesled
500n.

Asked 1f the healing wes sttributed to the virtue of thet bread.

He enswered » I don't know what the petient believed, but I heve alweys
believed that he wes hesled by the grace of God through the
virtue of theat bread blessed by father jieni.

Asked when, where, at whose presence ssid reverend messer priest Martine {
gave that bresd to said petient.

He answered : It's more than fourty years thet thot happened, I don't re- |
member the exact year. I only remember it was around the
month of September. T didn't keep any track of it because I
didn't know that I would requested ever. PBut I kept in mind
well the substance of the fact because it seemed to me a great
miracles Regarding the place we were in the parish house in
seid land of Garda. Msybe there were other people present es-
peciolly children whom said reverend used (f. 21v) to teach.
But for the reason slready given I don't rewember sny deteil.

Isked about the quality of that bread, if it was black or white, fresh
or old. v
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He answered : It was a mixture breesd ond fresh, as if just mede.

fsked how snd where thet bresd was kept by the aforementioned priest,
le ansvered : He was keeping it wrapped in paper in & wooden box with grest
reverence. He showed it to me but he never let me touch it,
It was more or less like a common chestnut,

Asked in what occasion said messer priest Mertino hed &nd preserved szid
bread.

He enswered : The occesion for nerroting wes tids. There vas o great num-
ber of people, thot is between fourty-five to fifty, in great
need of food. They had only three or four breads. Said feo-
ther Miani took it and blessed it, end blessed this way he
distributed them to all the people who &te their part and were
setisfied. /fmong them there wes said messer priest tlartino.
He received his part ss the one before the lest.  He observed
this great miracle end preserved one Plece of said blessed
bread, believing that if such bresd so bleszsed hed the virtue
of sstisfying méterially mony people, it would be efficient
elso for other miraculcus deeds.

Asked how he wes present when said messer priest jartino gave that bread
to the ebove mentioned patient,
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He tnswered I wis going often te visit him os cur pestor end spiritual
fether full of cherity.

isked how said messer priest Mertince was nsrrating the menticned things
and what he thought of said father Miani (f. 22r).

He answered He was narrcting it with grest devotion and tears of tender-
ness showing his great devotion towards father ¥ienli. Soying
that Mianl every doy was lecving the others! compeay and re—
maining secretly retired for about one hcur and a half or
two, returning then with his face shock up. From this said
priest Martino and the others of the company were judging
that father Miani had been every time to meke the discipline.
To sum up said messer priest Mertino was having said father
as o holy man.

fsked 1if seid messer priest Martino narrsted anything about the abstinen-
ces, prayers ond vigils of seid fother Mieni.

He answered He was saying that he used to est only once & day, never eat-
P 3
ing mest nor drinking wine., He was so dedicated to prayer
that he was never secen sctisted with meking prayers.

isked if scid messer priest Mertino told him that said father ever made
mirscles or heeled miraculously some sick people.
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He enswered : He wes telling me thet he was

werds the sick, visiting them. But I don't remember him
seying any other detail, but zbout his good deeds.
was always doing with great tenderness of heart
have said, I don't remember any detall.

Asked about the guality
if he was trustworthy,

He answered + If there is a trustworthy person he is the one me

Martino deserves it because he was = very good priest and
holy soul. Ft haec dicens dictus testis emittebat; quod
saeplus etiam superius interloquendo fecit, scilicet cum
mentio fieret ipsius cuondam reverendi domini Martini,

fsked where the priest Martino ssid the mentioned blessing took place
and the distributicn by the mentioned Misni.

He answered : I don't remember in prrticular where thet was

mede but he
said it wes in the Pavese arca.
fsked where they were snd at whose presence st
narrated this blessing snd distribution.

He answered : 1e were in the parish house of Garda.

He narrated it when
he gave

that bread to the above mentioned Nicold. I don't
remenber if there were other present, besides Nicolo.

o

feked 1f Niecolo is still alive

He answered .

He died many years ago. [flso messer priest Martine is
dead, mere than twelve years ago and he was very old,

sser pric
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Isked how long this Nicold lived after been cured from the fever

He answered . about nine or ten yeirse.

o

id generclis et circe personem factis etc., recte ebe., et est esetatis

annorum 72.

Die¢ suprascripta.

Virgilius filius quondam Mbertini de Coserottil loci de Gerdas, testis
inductus ot iurstus in menibus ut supra, tactis, etc., et exeminatus ut

supra

fsked if he knew reverend messer hricst Mastino de Martellini who lived
in Garde

He enswered ¢ Yes, Sir, I knew him very well since I started knowing my
father.

reked if he knew him as & good men nd s trustworthy persor.

T knew him as & good men so much thot there was no exception

and as & sincere and truthful man. Therefore we could give
his word full and undoubteful feaith. 1 ca s&ay this because
when I was a ehild in Garda he taught me to read end gove e |
good example of self, even if he was ( f. 27r) absent for
long time. But I kept good memory of him cnd hesrd him 211
was mentioned well by those who knew him &nd where he used
to live. When he was old he returned to live 1in Garda:
where he died.more than fourteen years &go leaving a good

example of self te all.
' 18
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fd generalia et circe personam factis etec., recte. etc., et st aetatis
snnorwn 60 .

Locus signi.

Ego Toonnes Petrus filius quondam domini Gregorii de Balerdinis Paligni,
habitens Cemmni, alies imperieli auctoritate noterius et modc Veneta, dum sic
ut supra testes suprascripti eb eodam admodum reverendo domino commissario
exeminsrentur, rogetus praesto ful, eorumque dict- et atteststiones fideliter
scripsi et in herne formam redegi, mequi in preemissorum fidem solite tebellio-
netus mel rttestrotione subsceripsi.

Ioennes Arboreus secree theologice docter, protonotirius opostolicus,
cenonicus ecclesice Frixiensis, in episcopatu Rrixise vicrrius generslis, Uni-
versis et singulis proesentes inspecturis fidem facimust et cttestimur supre-
scriptum spectebilem dominum Ioonnem /ndresm Densleum fuilsse et esse publicum
et legolam notsrium sc episcopelis curise Brixiensis cencellsarium, cuius
scripturis et instrumentis, sic ut supre roborstis, hic in iudicio c¢t extra
plena fides ¢dhibetur et ubique locorum meritc cdhibends est. In quorum etc.
Datum Brixice in episcopali pallatio, die 18 septembris 1614, Subscriptums
Tulicnus Parsticus episcopalis curice noterius etc., et sigillatum signo lege-
litetis etc.
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ORDINARY PROCESS OF PADOV A
(October 1st 1614)

INTRODUCTION

1. CODICES

For this process we had of our disposition three menuscripts.

The first from which the trenseription wes taken and at whose pages it
refers, is the ususl codex D 202 of the general archive of the Somascan Fathers
of Genove: "/cta et processus sanctitatis vitee et miraculorum venercbilis
petris Hieronymi femiliani, /nno Domini MDCXV. The text of the process of
Padova occupies.f. 23v-25v. 1It's taken from the copy made by the notary Paclo
Salomone chancellor of the episcopal curia of Padova, the same who assisted to
the process; and legalized by the vicar general of Padova lMarcantonio Zaniboni
on October 2, 1614.

The second and the third are kept.in.the archive of the general procura-
tion of the Somascans in Fome and are inserted in the apostolic processes:
Mediolanensis canonizetionis beati Hieronymi femilisni. The second is the
process of Mileno, f. 424-427r. On May 6, 1628 father Giovanni Calta procura-
tor of the cause presented the judges copy of the process of Padova, ragated
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by notary Bertolomeo Sandelli and legaliged by the vicer generegl Francesco
Frenco on July 17, 1627 asking that it be included in the acts.

The third menuscript is inserted in the acts of the spostolic process of
Venice f. 124=-19r. It was trenscribed on request of the procurator Merco /n-
tonio Bonvicino who presented a copy taken from the original by the Paduan
notary Micolas Sclavo and legalized by the bishop Marco Cornelio on February

26, 1625,

The three manuscripts do not present any difference in the contents thc
diferences erc only the syntex and the handwriting.

2. PROCESS

The process of Pedova tekes only one day. On October 1st, 1614, the pro-
curator father Giovenni Calta presented himself to the vicer genersl of Pedove
Marco /ntonio Zaniboni asking that the priest Bartolomeo Crivelli be interro-
goted., Immediately followed the citetion of the witness, the nomination of the
notsry, the oasth-tcking and the deposition. The next day copy was given to
Celta,

3, BIMRTOLOMFO CRIVILII and HIS TESTIHONY.

crivelli was born around 1535, Around 1558 he was accepted in Somasca at
that fcademy where he studied toward the nriesthood. s priest we find him at
the time of the process as mensionary curete in the cathedral of Padova. He
-2-
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died here end wes buried on June 25, 1623.

The testimony of Crivelli is only about some extreordinary facts attribu-
ted to the Soint at which Cristoforo da Chiuduno and Vincenzo da Urgnano were
witnesses. The first episode of the ripe and beautiful grapes found in a
vineyard in the month of #pril, when the orphans were going from Brescia to
Eergemo and through which their thirst wes satisfied. flso Giovan Peolo da
Seriatec wes present to this faet, whoe remembers it in his interrogstory. The
narration then of the multiplication of few and small pieces of bread col-
lected is &s portrait that looks like & picture.

4. VINCENZ0 da Urgnano snd CRISTOFORO de Chiuduno.

In the years that Crivelli passed in Somesce he got to know some lay of
the Compagnia of the Servents of the poor who were orphans before and then
disciples of Misoni: among them Cristoforo of Chiuduno and Vincenzo of Urgnano.
Crivelli lived with them and heard them often talk sbout St. Jerome; they
thought he was & saint., They had kept in mind his examples and kept repeat-
ing them to each other so as to exhorted towards the virtucs and his imita~
tion. Twenty years were gone after the death of their fether but his memory
had remained vivid: "even in Scmosca and all people were believing said mister
Jerome & saint and were having & great devotion toward him.n

I collect some data regarding these two disciples of Miani.

XK K X X X ¥

Vincenzo Zenardo was born a little before the 1520 in Urgnano, between
Bergamo and BRrescia, @ feud of the fbani, in which castle will find re-
fuge st. Pious V when, inquisitor in Bergamo, had to fly from the troups
against him,




He wos zccepted by i#iani in Bergamo and then remained in the Compagnia of
the Serveants of the poor, We find his name in all the first lists of the
nbrothers of the Compagnia®: 1550, 1556, 1557, 1561, 1562. He participated
to the chapters and often elected definitor in 1560, 1565, 1567. He wes pre-
sent alsc in the chapter of 1569 when the Compagnia beceme the Congregation
of the reguler clerics of Somasce. He was the first of the lsy to emit the
vows on May 1st, 1569.

Tn 1569 he was elected definitor and destined to be pert of the first
group of Somrscens sent to Nepoli to altend to the cere of the orphans of
ganta Meris of Toreto. He was one of tbe most expert educators of the orphens
in the first fifty years of the congregation. In 1574 he took the place of
father Gicvenni Scotti, elected general, in the orphanage of Santa Mario in
Aquiro of Reme. In the chapter of 1575 he was still clected definitor. He
died in Dome the following year in the month of May and buried in the church
of &t, Riagio at Monte Citerio.

¥ X X KX XK

Fqually noteworthy is the figurc of Cristoforo of Chiuduno. He was born
around the 1520 and accepted by lMiani who cured him of his physical silments
and reised him up. Therc!'s mention of a Cristoforc in the list of partici-
pants to the chapter of Brescia on June 4, 1536. He was present at St. Jercome's
death and then remeined always in the Compagnic.

He is remembercd in the lists of brothers of the Compagnia: 1550, 1553,
1557, 1561, 1562, 1565. He participated to the chapters end was repeatedly
clected definitor in 1552, 1559, 1561, 1563, 1564, 1566, 1567. He emitted .
e the religious profession in 1574.
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fs Vincenzo of Urgneno he was dedicated to the care of the orphans., Around
the 1558 and also in 1570 he was in Somasca. He worked in Sant! fndrea of the
orphans of Lodi. In 1578 he was in the orphansge of Santo Stefano of Piacenga.

¥R X K K X A X

There are scheletical data which we hope will be enriched in the future.
Remains the judgement Crivelli expressed about them in front of the judge of
Pedova: "Good, devout, religious,integral men.n

ORDIN/RY PROCESS CF PADOVA

In nomine Tomini nostri Tesu Christi. (£.23v) fnno ab eiusdem nativiteote
millesimo sexcentesimo decimo quarto, indictione duodecima, die mercurii pri-
ma mensis octobris, pontificatus senctissimi in Christo patris et domini nos-
tri domini Pauli divina providentia papae V fnno decimc, Paduae in episcepali
cencelleria.

Coram perillustri et admodum reverendo sacrae thenlogiae magistro et iuris
utriusque dectore domino Marco frtonio Zanibono, rectore parochialis ecclesiac
Senctae Tulienae et in episcopatu Paduae illustrissimi et reverendissimi in
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Christo petris et domini domini Merci Cornelil Dei et apostolicae sedis gra-
tia episcopi Padueni comitisque Sacrensis etc. vicerio substituto generelil,
existente in loco suprascripto.

Comparuit reverendus pater dominus Ioannes Celta clericus regularis cong-
regationis Summaschae, procurator admodum reverendi patris domini Mauritii de
Domis praepositi generalis dictee congregationis, ut docuit mandato procurae
rogato die 19 martii proxime praeteriti per dominum Laelium de Fobilibus no-
tarium Brixiensem, a me noterio et cancellsrio visc et lecto, cum legslitate
perillustris et admodum reverendi domini Antonii frberel vicerii Brixicnsis
diei ¥XI eiusdem, et domino perillustri et admodum reverende dixit se habere
commissionem, prout antedicto procurse constat mandatc, ab antedicto admodum
reverendo patre praeposito generali inguirendi et testes examineari faciendi,
processusque formendi super sanctitate vitae et mortis ac miraculis venera-
bilis petris domini Hieronimi femiliani patritii Veneti et fundatoris cong-
regationis Summaschae: et cum in hac civitate reperitur testis, videlicet ad-
modum reverendus dominus Bertholomeus Cribellus, qui nonnulla scire affirmat
super miraculis praedicti venerabilis petris, ideo instetit ipsum dominum Bar-
tholomeum medio iuramento examinari et attestationem suam in scriptis redigi
per publicum et lezelem notarium et sibi exinde copiam tradi, mandari, omni
meliori modo etc.

(f. 24r) oui quidem perillustris et admodum reverendus dominus vicarius,
instantie suprascripta audita et intellecta, se parstum obtulit dictum nomi-
natum testem examinare et me cancellarium infrascriptum in scribam examinis
huiusmodi elegit et deputevit, ac exinde copiam attestationis et processus
eidem reverendo patri instanti in publicem formam tradi mandavit, omni etc.
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Fisdem die et loco.

Admodum reverendus doeminus Bartholomeus Cribellus, mansionarius curatus
in ecclesia cethedrali Paduae, testis productus per antedictum admodum reve-
rendum dominum procuratorem, monitus, et i1li deleato per antedictum admodum
reveredun deminum vicarium et per cum preestitc corporali iuramento, menu
tactis scripturis in forma de veriteste dicenda, fuit per eundem dominum vica-
rium opportune interrogotus et deposuit ut infra, videlicet.

Interrogeted if he has known the noble Venetian mister Jercome Mieni,; who

died leng years ago in Somesca and founder of the congregation of the reverend
Somascan Fathers.

He answered :+ Na, Sir,

Interrcgsted if he had eny knowledge of the actions end life of mister
Jerome, hcw, about whet, when and where.

He answered : /mong other things this I heard in Somescea when I was study-
ing there; about 56 years ago more or less, from messcor
Cristoforo of Chiuduno, Lend of Bergamo, lay of said cocngre-
gation. and from messer Vincenzo of Urgnanc equally lay of
said congregation, men of about fourty, which I believe men
of good, devout religious end integral, who wouldn't speak
false. They were going together there lay people with said
mister Jerome of Brescia towsrd Bergemo in the month of /jpril
I don't remember the day, on foot, end it was very hot, They
were tired of welking, (f. 24v) in the fields between Brescic
and Rergamo. They didn't tell me the precise place. Feeling
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very thirsty, and not finding any wey to drink for they were
far from eny house, they tcok a rest. Then suid Jerome, seeing this compa-
nions tired, being compassionste because of it, told said lsymen: "let's do
some preyer. [fter preying a little, they got up, looked toward a tree thet
' there wes in the vineysrd. They saw pending from it, very meture and becuti-
ful white grapes. They took it and ete it. It was very tosty (socave). They
| . were very consoled. Then they continued their journey.

i Interrogated if he is sure he heard said laymen thct it wes the month of

| April.
1
I He answered ': seid laymen narrated this miracle to me as & miracle and con-
H solation, therefore I'm sure thet it was the time when we
| cennot find grepes on the vine trees. 1 don't think I'm |
' wrong thst they told me and 1 elwzys believed it that it was |
| the month of fpril.
; | Interrogeted ebout what the laymen thought sbout messer Jerome, what opi-
: nion they had of him &and how they believed in him, “

|
1 He answered 3 Said laymen told me the miracle sbove nerraeted when they

l were exhorting each other towerd the virtues gnd the imitation
! of this father, becsuse they hed a grest concept of him and
believed he was a saint.

Asked what knowledge could said laeymen have ebout Jerome |

IP He answered : They were his disciples; under his obedience. They were
, following him and very devout of him. |




.on

ng e¢x se:  First of all the place of Scmesca and the inhsbitents believed
sald mister Jerome was ¢ seint and were having grest devotion

toward him.

Subdaen

@
4]

Told if he remembers where and in whose presence he heerd narrating said
miracle by seid laymen.

He answered : (f. 25r) I remamber that we were in the house of said congre-
gation., I don't remember where cxectly. There were other
people present because the sbove said things were said by
those laymen for my edificaticn and for the others. But I
don't remember who they were, as 1 den't remember the time.

hsk=d why the people of the place of Scmesce and the above mentioned lay-
men believed thot sald mister Jerone was o seint.

He answered : Because of his great charity in helping the orphans. fbout
this I actually remember that seid lzymen told me of the zood
works said mister Jerome did when he sent them locking for
bread. They found orly fow pieces, no more than five or six
s I well remember. They werc sad end said mister: Jerone
said: "give them to me." He put them in his cassock, hed the
orphan pleced in order. They were a good number, I don't
know exactly, but they couldn't be less then 25 or 30. He
was bresking the bread and distributing it until everybody
had encugh, Still there was left over, but they didn't tell
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me how much. I don't remember whe was present, 1t weas long
time ago not less then S0 cr 60 yeors. From this and cther
things I heard, I conclude that they bLllCVbd sald mister
Jerome was & holy man.

Bt factis aliis interrogationibus, respondit tentum scire, quantum supra
deposuit, fd generalia recte respondit, esse setotis amnorum 79, est sacer=—
dos et celebrat quotidie.

4 little leter less returned and said: I remember this also: that when
T was in Scmesca, [ remember of another priest, whose name I dent't recall,
who used to had & headache and I think also (f. 25v) the fever, becouse he was
sick, He went to the tomb of sald mister Jerome end prayed putting his head
cn the tomb, kissing it. Immediately the headeche disappeercd. He narre ated
this to 11 those of the house of the Scmascans, where I happened to be pre-
sent and to hear the narration of seid miracle from himself who said it with
great consclstion. I remember that before he was compleining about the head-
ache. /fter he said he miraculously was liberated, he telked happily with me
and others as healed and liberated.

The interrcgated continued: I don't remember who was the supsricr then
nor if the laymen above mentioned were alive, ner thet others would be present,
becsuse 1t was toc long &go.

Interrcgated he answered: sald reverend priest was of seid congregation
end a religicus of good name and thought of as a person of upright life.
Fverytody trusted him.
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Et haec sunt.
/d generalis, ut ante, etc.

Subscriptum cum signo tebellionsatus antepssito. Peulus Selemono curise
eplscopalis Patavice notarius et cencellerius, praesentis exeminis et proces-—
sus scriba ut ante electus, fideliter scripsit ot ex authentico nil addito
vel ninuitc exaravit manu propris et in fidem se subscripsit et subsignavit,

Marcus ‘ntonius Zanibonus sacrae theologiae et iuris utriusque doctor,
rector percchialis ecclesiae Sanctae Tulisnae et in episcopstu Paduse vica-
rius generelis, Universis etc. fidem facimus et attestamus suprascriptun
magnificwn dominum Paulum Solomonc esse notarium episcopalemaue Padurc cance-
1lerium, cui et eius scripturis per ewi receptis et suscriptis hic in iuditio
¢t extra plens dhibetur fides et ubique locorwn. In quorun fidem, et c.

Datum Paduse in episcopall psllatio die secunds octobris 1614, Subscriptumg
Meninus curiae episcopalis Patavice noterius. Bt sigilletum signo legalitetis.
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ORTINZRY PROCESS OF VENICE
(Octcber 17, 1614)

1. CODICES

We could consult four codices of the ordinary process celebrated in Ve
nice.,

The first is codex I 202 of the genersl archive of the Somsscen Fathers
of Genova: reta et processus ssnctitatis vitae et mirasculorum patris, Hlero-
nymi femilieni, jnno Domini MDCYV. It occupies f. 26r-29r. Tt's taken from
2 cepy formed by the seme notary of the process Franceseo Priori and legaliged
cn October 20, 1614 by Roberto Cusenc, vicar general of the pabtrisrch Frean-
cesco Vendramin,

Y

The second meruscript is inserted in the sposteolic process of Venices
Medicleanensis canonizationis beati Hieronyml sfemilisani., Processus remisso-
risles fabricati Tarvisii, Venetiis, Bergomi, Brixise et Papice, 1It's kept
in the archive of the general procurstion of the Somescan Fathers in Reme, It
occupies f, 55v-61r of the process of Venezia. This copy 1is tsken from the
criginal by the notery Francesco Miceno vice chencellor of the patriarchal
curie of Venice and is legalized by the patrisrch Gicveanni Tiepcle on Septem-
ber 20, 1614. It was inserted in the acts of the apostollc process on re-

e




guest of the procurator father Marco /ntonic Lonvicino so that the depositicns
weuld be read to the nuns Venler and Malipierc during thelr interrcpatory and
continued.

The other two manuscripts are found in the Codex Correr 1350 of the
rer Library of Venice: Varia ad Beagti FMieronymi stmiliani congregationis ¢
maschae fundetoris canonizationem spectentisz, The first copy is found in
1350/1, f. 43-45; the second in 1530/3, f. 5Tv-61.

Mmong the different manuscripts the content is identical. The differen-
ces pertain only to the hendwriting.

The Ordinery process of Venice has never becn edited. Our edition follows

the codex D 202 of Genova, to which refér the indicstions of page inserted in
the trenscription.

2. THE PROCFSS

The process of Venice happens in one only dey. Friday, October 17, 1614
father Giovanni Celta procurator of the cause went to the vicar generzl of
Venice Roberto Cuseno and required thst the pricress.be interrogsted and some
nuns of the agustinian monastery of St. /lvisse of Venice. On the same dsy in
the small perlor of the monsstery at the presence of the notery Francesco
Pricri were interrogated the prioress @Gorona Venier snd the nuns Sare Darbero
and Michela iltelipiero.
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5. THE WITH

Sister Corona Venier was in those years pricress of the monsstery. She
was 62 yesrs old and had entered the monastery in 1565. Her baptismal name
wes Gerondma.  She was the deughter of Deniele Venier and Modeste Michicl .

She will be reinterrogeted in the apostolic process ten yesrs later, In the
new deposition, even if brief, she will add some cther deteil to the testimony
glven in the first process (f. 105r).

Sister Sara Barbaro wsas the deughter of Zacceris Barbearo. Porn arcund
the 1540, she entered the monaster of Sant!/lvise on fpril 23, 1555 and died
on March 1620, /mong the three her testimony is the less poor becsuse she had
enjoyed mere the talks snd familierity of Sister Gregoris, niece of Miani,

Sister tichela Melipiero wes the deughter of Jerome PUelipiero. Born
around the 1543, she entered the monastery in 1557. She weas slse reinterro-
gated in tie apostolic process. She assisted as nurse sister Gregoria Miend
until she died. "Sister Gregoria wes telling me many pious and holy things
that this blessed used to do.", but her testimony deesnt't go further than
this gencric affirmetion.

A. SISTER GPTGORI A 31 ANI.

The unigue witness, which the three nuns of Sent! flvise refer to, is
the Mieni's nizce sister Gregoria, nun of the ssme monastery, daughter of
Luca Micni :nd of Cecilie Bregadin, widow of Vincenzo Minotto. After the
death of her fsther on July 21, 1519, the three children 7uen lvise, Dio-
nora end Flene still young, with the mother Cecilis were entrusted to the
uncles Merco and Jerome., Tspecially Jerome, who didn't have a femily, took
cere of then :nd of their interests. Sister Oregoria, Hlene, grew then neer
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her uncle in the same house until 1531 when he sbundoned the peternsl house
to dedicate himself totally to the works of cherity. /lsc Flenz, a little
more than twe years later, on October 21, 1533 entered the zugustinisn mones-
tery of Sent!'flvise. She was about 17 and lived 66 years in the convent., Hers
was an exemplar life. /11 her co-nuns testify it: "she died lesving good

Ey ©

example of herself to 211 the nuns of this monastery." She was deveut and el-
ways praying." "So old, about 80, she used to¢ fast the vigils of the rrdonna
on bread ond weter." She died on Jenuery 19, 1599.

1 /bout Fister Gregoris Miani see C. De Ressi, Vita del b. Girolemo Miend,
Milano 1630, p. 483 G. Landini, Sen Girclamo Mizni, Roma 1947, p. 46° C. Pelle-
grini, Per L& biografis di S. Giroleme Mieni, Testemento di Cecilia Dregadin
vedova di Tuce Miani, "Rivista dell'Ordinc del Padri Someschi" X¥YVI (1961),

p. 202-2043 C. Pellegrini, Pergemene dells famiglia Mizni, Tbhidem, YVYVIT
(1962) p. 87-89. O0On the church of St. flvise see (3. Tessini, Curiositat!Vene-
ziaene, Venezia 1970, p. 14.

Sister Gregoria kept veneration towards the uncle end to him sh: wis.
recommending herself in her needs. She had frequent ocecsion for taiking to
her cosisters alaut her "berbes santo (holy uncle)"s in the parler, in her
cell, at the fire, everywhere.

Frem remembrances of the sisters it eppears how the child Flen: saw the
uncle in these years of profound transformetion of his 1itf'e, between 1525 and
1531 when he left Venice.

The remembrance of liberation by the intervention of the mirsculous Vir-
gin of Trevisc comes cut. His young years: "He was & young who gave himself
to good time" and the expression in the modest lips of the sister is suffi-
ciently meaningful, The conversion: "But then converted he gave himself
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completely to the spirit," continuous prayer and discipline. The charity for
the poor: "He was selling all his goods and was giving it to the poor.., /]
the poor were going after him and he was doing good to all.n :

There are details which ecan derive only from a custom of life, his mania
of giving was interpreted as exaggercted by all so much thst he wes considered
carzy; even his sister~in-lew Cecilia ves. scolding him because she was afraid
the nephews wouldn't have their need. But he was encouraging them to be af-
raid because God wouldn't have faultered her; and his departure from Venice in
‘order to end his life in a hermitage.

These testimonies should be completed with those coming from the sister
of sister Gregeria, Dionora, who lived the same experience, whose memories

come to us thrsugh the depositions of Frencesco Besadonna and Luca Molino in
the apostolic process.

ORDIN/RY PROCESS OF VENICE

In nomine Domini. fmen. Cunctis j.ateat evidenter et sit notum quod anno
nativitetis eiusden millesimo sexcentesimo decimo quartc, indictione duodeci-
ma, die vero veneris decima septima mensis octobris, pontificatus autem sanc-
tissimi in Christo patriset domini nostri domini Pauli divina providentic pa-
poe quinti aino decimo, corsm illustri et admodum reverendo domino Roberto
Cusano iuris utriusque doctore, ecclesiase Sancti Bertholomei de Revoalto per-

-5~




petuo ac illustrissimi et reverendissimi in Christo patris et domini domini
Francisci Vendrsmini miseratione divina patrisrchee Venetierum Dalmatiaeque
primatis in spiritualibus vicario generali existente in domo eius solitae re-
sidentise spud Senctam Iustinam Venctiarum, comperuit reverendus pater Ican-
nes Calta clericus reguleris congregationis Sommaschae, procurator admodium
reverendi potris domini Meuritii de Domis praepositi generalis dictae congre-
gationig,; prout de suae procurare mandzto publico constat instrumento rogeto
in sctis domini T.aelii de Nobilibus publici Brixiae notaril cum debita lega-
litate, a me notario infrascripto viso et lecto, et instetit per dictum il-
lustrem et admodum reverendum, mcdio iuramento, examineri debere reverendas
priorissam ¢t aliss monieales monssterii Sencti floisii Venetiarum de et super
vitae probitate, sanctitate ac miraculis venerabilis patris domini Hieronimi
femiliani patritii Veneti, fundetoris congregationis Sommaschae, et facto ex-
amine copiam depositionum authenticem sibi tradi manderi omni meliori modo
ete,

(F. 26v) oui illustris et edmodum reverendus dominus vicarius praefaobus,
visa et intellecta instentia suprascriptsa, se peratum obtullt dictas monieles
examinoere el me notarium infrascriptum ad effectum praemissum clegit et depu-
tavit, compismque depositionum earumdemn testium in publicem formam eidem re-
verendo domino Ioanni Celtec procuratori tradi mandovit, omni meiliori modo .

Dicta die.

In parlstorio parvo monasterii reverendarum monialium Sencti floisii Ve-
netiarum,
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Coram antedicto illustri et admodum-reverendo domino vicerio genercli
comparyit reverends soror Corona Veneries pirorissa prefeti monasterii, testis
progucta per sntedictum reverendum patrem dominum Toannem Caltam procuratorem,
monita et super infrascriptis diligenter examinata; quae testis medio eius
luramento, quod actualiter praestitit in manibus eiusdem admodum reverendi
domini vicarii, tectis scripturis ete., deposuit ut infra, vicelicet.

fsked if her reverence knew father don Jerome Mieni, noble Venetian, dead

for many yeers in Somasca, who was the founder of the Congregation of the So-
mascan Fathers,

She answered : Sir, I have not had knowledge of said father because I am 62

and I think he died long before.

Isked if she hcard mentioned in her monastery any good deed, mirzecles or
other thireo A_... Y, that father.

“ho answered : Mother sister Gregoria Miani, professed nun of this monas-

tery was niece of said father Jerome, that is the daughter
of mister Luca brother of seid father. When she was alive,
she narrated to me that she had a saint uncle (berbe santo)
who wes holy during his life., She added that when she had
some tribulations she would recur to the intercession of this
holy father her uncle and she was obtaining the graces she
wes asking. Tt's about 19 or 20 (f. 27r) years thst She

told me these things, that is four or five years before dying

becouse we were in charge of the door. I heard these things
only from her,




Interrogata de causa scientiae, loco, tempore et contestibus. Respondit
ut supra.

fsked what kind of graces inparticular seid sister Gregoria was asking
and receiving through said saint. .

T don't know in perticuler what grace she received, but only
in general, meny times, as she was saying, she received whet
she was asking.

She answered

fsked if she ever heard scid mother narrate any mirecle made by her holy
uncle,

e

She snswered : I remember that one time miraculous image of the blessed Vir-
gin was brought from Treviso to this monastery by & vendor.
’round it there were some letters narreting a miracle occur-
red to this holy father, but I don't remember what the mira=-
cle wes. I remember sister Gregoria told me that the miracle
of thet blessed Virgin happened particularly to said holy
uncle of hers, that is to father Jerome Miani.

psked what she thought of said sister Gregoria.

She answered : This nun was of good life, observant cf her religion, living
as long as to 83 years of sge. Che died lesving a good
example of herself tc &all the nuns of this monastery.

ssked if the things narrated by mother Sister Gregoria were said by her
because of & prrticular affection toward said uncle of hers or because such

was the truth,
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She answered : (f. 27v) I think there was effection, but I think slso that
) she wouldn't have said thet if it was not the truth, because,
as I said, she was a good religious.
‘1{ Interrcgated about generasl things,
18
She enswered : TWhet I deposed I said it in truth. I heard, as I said &bove,
from that mother sister Gregoria that when she asked for a
o1y grece to said saint, she had always been heerd. I use to
confess and communicate 2ot least every month and more often
. according to availebility and on the main current feasts.
Jir-
= Et subinde vocate, comparuit coram ut ante, reverenda soror Sarra Barbe-
i ro monialis prcfessa in dicto monasterio, testis ut sunra producta, monita,
ra; iurata et super infrascriptis excminata, deposuit ut infra, videlicet.
acle
| 'sked if she has known father don Jerome Miani the founder of the Somas—
can religion,
She answered =+ DNe, Sir. I did not know him, but I hesrd his niece Sister
) Gregoria Mieni thet is the doughter of e brother of said
ing fother Jerome who died about fifteen years &go, who had a
holy uncle, who gave g1l his goods and gave it to the poor
going from house to house for clms for the orphens. He used
to est, drink and sleep always dressed up with a cassock and
1§r a long sleeve shirt so thct he wes thougit to be crazy by
-9=




everybedy. TFinelly he went away from the city snd went to
the eremo living many yeers in & holy wey. He mede meny mi-
recles as she seid, but in perticular I don't recall her
telling me of any mirecle meode by him, I renember her tel-
ling me that she hopes tc be e¢ble te see him cononized.

fsked, 1f wmother sister Gregoria knew the aforementioned uncle.

She enswered 1+ (f. 28r) Yes, Sir, She seid she sew him end knew him with
thet cassock sald sbove.

!’sked if she hesrd from sister Gregoria theot her uncle used to moke dis-
cipline and pray.

She answered : Yes, Sir. She told me thot before he wes a young man who
geve himself to good time, but then, converted, he gave him-
self totelly to the spirit, preaying continuocusly day and night
with continuous disciplines. He used tc have 2 hely life.
But in particuler I remember thet she told me verious times
that a sister-in-law scolded him beceouse it wes both to give
evay 21l his possessions end he abendon his nephews poor and
mendicants. He answered her thet God would not felter them.
/ad in pronouncing these words she seid: "How much T would
be pleased 1f T had a relic of thet blessed body.

~10-
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fsked about when and where and who was present when sister Gregoria told
the witness said things.,

She answered ¢ She was telling, wherever she was, these things; in the cell,
at the fire, or elsewhere, teolking in the presence also of
other sister, like sister Michele lelipiera cnd others who
died before her. I don'trmember the year. But she repested
the aforesaid things to me many times.

/sked whet the nuns thought sbout mother sister Gregoria.

She enswered : She was devout and always in prayer therefore we cen believe
that she was telling the truth, because she was greatly es=-
teemed by the nuns and died in a holy wey.

M genecrel things she answered not having any interest of family ties or
any other business; thet she szid the truth because this is the way we arc to
acty thet she is about seventy years old end used to confess and communicate
often.

(F. 28v) Ft demum revcrenda soror Michaela Malipetrs monialis professa
in preaefato monesterio, vocete coram ut supre, testis ut ante producta, mo-
nita, iurata et super infrescriptis examinata, deposuit ut infra, videlicet.

fsked if in the monestery there is or there was 2 nun of the family of
don Jerome Miani, noble Venetian, founder of the Somescan religion.

She enswered ¢ I knew mother sister Gregoria Mieni, dead long years ago,

who was the niece of father Jerome Miani and daughter of his
brother., '




fsked if she knew or heard from the mentioned mother sister Gregoria or
other nuns of any miracle or other good deed made by the seid uncle of hers.

She answered : I don't remember anything else but thet verious times she
was telling me that her uncle was saint, that shc was recom-
mending herself to him in her tribulations and as far as she
was telling alsc the graces she requested, 1 was very young
at that time, so I didn't pay so much ettention to what she
was saying, besides not being to close to her.

Asked where and when dnd who was present when mother sister Gregoria wes
saying the aforesaid things.

She answered : The place was ot the entrance because we were incharge of
the entrance door. B« fore dying she secid this various times
at the presence of mother sister Benedetta Contarini,whc is
dead, and sister Corona Venieri who is the prioress mows.

Isked whet the nuns thought about mother sister Gregoria.

She answered : she was thoughtand was a good religicus. She wes so old, &a-
bout 80. She used to fast at the vigils of the Medonna cn
bread and water. I think we could trust what she was saying
for the bounty of her life.

Super generalibus recte; agit annos 72 et saepe confitctur ac (f. 29r)
communicatur.

Franciscus Priori notarius petriarchalis Venetierum de preemissis depo-
sitionibus rogetus pracsens sumptum, aliena menu sibi fida extractum, subs-
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cripsit in fidem, etc.

Robertus Cusanus iuris utriusque doctor, ecllcsise Sancti Eertholemei de
Rivoalto perpetuus ac illustrissimi ac reverendissimi in Christo patris ec do-
mini domini Francisci Vendremini, miseratione divins patriarcha Venetiarum Dal-
matiaeque primetis, in spiritualibus vicarius generalis, suprascriptum magnifi-
cum dominum Franciscum Priori, qui ut supra se subscripsit, fuisse et esse no-
tarium petrierchalem, eiusque subscriptionibus tealiter factis in iudicio et
extra plenariam fidem his semper adhibitam fuisse et ubique locorum merito
adhiberi testamur. In quorum fidem, ctec.

Datum Venetiis ex cancellaria patrisrchali hac die vigesima octobris 1614,

Subscriptun: presbiter Bartholomeus de Megris notarius patriarchelis vVe-
netiarum, etc. Et sigilletum signo legalitatis, etc.
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ORDINARY PROCESS

(" 20 November 1614 )




(November 20, 1614)

INTRODUCTION

Codices

There are two codicec: codex D 202 of the archives of the Maddalena in
Gencdvaand codex D 85 of the same archives,

Codrx D 202 is a transcription of one of the copies made the same day
as that of the process written by the notary Giacomo Cuneo and legalized by
the Vicar General Lelio Tasti, November 21, 16i4, The codex is from c. 29
to ¢. 33r,

It is not knowr. when codex D 85 was written because no legalization was
reported., However, it is a very old copy. It consists of four papers all
written up to the middle of ¢, 4r. TIn this codex the introduction of the
proces (held November 20) and the end are missing, However, the testimony is
complete,

e




The two codices are not noticeabl; different. 'e have followe . codex DU
202 even though codex D 85 can be read more easily on account of its linguie-
tic character.

This process was aever published, nor could any bibliography be found.

MILIEU

The process of jemo’a was held in the archepiscopal pelece November 20
and 21, 1614, befor: Abbot Lelio Tasti, = icar General of Cardinal COrezio Spi-
nola. The notary tas the same Chancellor of the Archepiscopla Curia, Giacomo
Cuneo, and the Prosurator for the Father General of the Somascans, Maurizio
de Domis, was Fether of Giulio Vo' Ino, superior of the Maddalene in Genou2
Questioning of the only witress, 71~year-old ley Somascan Brother Bernardino
Aquila, was held November 21, on five subjects previously preparcd.

BERNARDINO frcem SERIATE

Bernardino Aquila, son of Ilario and Isanella Lombardina, was born in
Ferrara about 1.3, where in 1569, he ertered the Coriregation. In about ons
year, he was sent firom there to Somasca where he remaired for nine years. In
Somasca, he had occision to speak with yarious persons who had known Miani
and from them he obtained information given at ile process. About “-~lla al-
so we have little data.
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In 1588, Bernardino Aquila was cook at the patriarchal seminary of Ve~
nice, In 1589 he went to Cremona, to the house of Santa Lucia, In 1594 we
find him in Naples at the Santa Maria di Loreto orphanage, In 1596 he was
in Brescia, In 1599 he was sent as clerk to the Colombina orphanage in Pavia
then to Vicenza, to the house of Saints Filippo and Giacomo., In 1603 he was
at the Misericordia orphanage in Brescia, in 1604, sent as elerk to the or-
phanage at Reggio Emilia., In 1605, he was at the orphanage of the Misericor-
dia in Cremona imtil 1609, when he again went to Naples as a nurse in the
Santa Maria di Loreto orphanage., In 1614, he was at the house of the Madda-
lena at the ordinary process of the cause of Saint Jerome., In 1622 Aquila
returned to the Misericordia in Brescia where he was in 1628, as 8id to the
rector of the seminary, Also, he was again called to testify at the aposto-
lic processes for the beatification of Miani. He was then 85 years old.

TESTIMONY

The examinatior of Bernardino Aquila, was an interrogation previously
prepared, consistine of five articles, It was somewhat along fixed lines.,

This is the reason why the testimony is rather poor, compared to that one of
Paolo from Seriate,

Aquila had not known the saint, but during the nine years he had spent
in Somasca, from 1570 to 1578, he had the opportunity to know and spesk with
many persons who had lived with Miani and who remembered him very vividly,
They also remembered the thirty years after his death, Furthermore, where
he had lived vas a continuous reminder of the events of his life that often

were subjects of conversation in the convent, in the countryside and the vi-
cinity,

Aquila was mainly interested in giving information about the persons
from whom he had obtained his information, TIn the convent, it was princi-
pally Battista Romano who informed him, He was a lay Brother who, as a
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child, had been taken in o cared for L, Lze Saint Jerome, His name comes
up frequently in the briefl testimony. However, he never naried Paolo from
Seriate, Ther, there were som: people from Somasca: old men among whom he
recalled Ventilsno and Ambrogic Volpe, Beltraro Ventilano, a certain Antonio,
and a woman named Marta, wiose fomily he did not know. There were also some
who, when youne boys, had besn help>d and cared for through the charivy of the
Saint: Cristoforo da Cedri (Caristoforo da Chivdil in the apostolic prooess),
Domenico da Zelo (Domenico d' Azel in the apostolic procesces) and one named
Antonio Vergalin, nemed only in ihe -postolic processes. Lastly, There was
a group of anonymous persong from the outskirts of Somasca with wihiom he had
ooken occasionally when begging for 1read. At the apostolic processes
(September 4, 1628), he gevs other inisrecting end vorthwhile detvails: with
Bottista da Romano, he was in Somasce end in Bergamoj he was with Crisioforo
da Ciuduna ir Lcdi and with Domanico ds zelo in Pavia, Maria assisted the
saint in his last illness and was consirered a saint. What he sald was subs~
tantiated by good traditions.

The facts which Bernardino Aquila told us (
tion and of not much interest) relferred to the 1
“he saint and had come from Somasca.

talen from general informa-
1st two years of the 1ife of

Aquila's testimony was specially about nis miracles: the miracle of the
bread in Valleta, the resurrcction of the young man, the woter thav gushed
from the dry vock, the healing of the badly wounded foot of a man, the pro-

ate
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mise to “he pzople of Somasca. WWhen incidants were related, he wes always
concerned about bring reassured that wicever told about them had been pro-
sent, as when he tnld about the remmroction of the young man, Battiste Ro-
mano had bsern there and he was "third pupil from the cross.” The comparison
is also interesting, specially ragarding details Loy ton our nzirecions and
the testimony given at the apostolic processes.
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Thursday evening, November 20, 1614, in the Archepi sco
The Very R verend Giulio Cesape Volpino, Pastor of St,
in Gencve and Superior of the religious community of the Somascan Congregation,
appeared before the Most Reverend Cardinal Orazio Spinola, Archbishop of Ge-
neya  He made the statement in virtue of the appointment assigned to him as
Superior by the letters of the Most Reverend Father General of the said Cong-
regation on the 9th day of this month, By formal petition he requested that
witnesses be called and examined in the begt way possible so as not to lose
trustworthy testimony, The submitted articles read as follows:

pal Curia of Gencyva
Mary Magdalen Church

There are the articles by which are to be examined the witnesses of the
life of the venerable Father Jerome

e, founder of the Congregation of Somasca,
and of the miracles that he performed,

Firgt: Father Jerome Miani was a man of great holiness,
all honors and offiecisl positicns in the Republic of Venice. Fe dedicated
himself to the care of orphans and unfortunates, guiding them with great cha-
rity, mind ul of their physical needs and curing tinea and other ailments,

having renounced

Secondly: The “ather dressed very iumbly,
his way begging and teaching Christian doetrine i
Lombardy, especially in the districts of
ing in great spiritual benefits,

To help the poor, he went
n many places throughout
Bergamo and Milan, all this result-
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Thirdly: He prayed often, spending entire nights in devotions. He fas-
everyday. did not cat meat no: drink wine, and daily left the company of
others for a geod length of time e flog himself,

Fourthlv: One day, fiading himself in the company of a large number of

~embers in his community and some poor who had nothing but three loaves of

bread, he pray=d first with ais companions, blessed the bread and with great
ronfidence distributed it., There was enocugh for them and the large number of
people there, who ware about sixty, After ail were completely sated, ther
wvags & larger cuantity of bread left than they had at first.

Fifthly: VWoen he was alive, by vrever, Father Jerome bdbrought baclk to
iife the desd son of & dow.

In sddition to these articles to which witnesses will +estify, they will
be questioned as to knowiedge, place, circumstance and time of their testimo-
ny, and finally about the entire case., At the start of the examination, the
witnesses will be aavised to %tell the truth, under oath, and they will be
questiored abous each article,

Th2 “ery Beverend Vicar sxamined the articles and advised the Reverend
Superior 1o call the follewing day at 9:00 AM, the witnesses to testify to
the pre lous ay.icles and be accepted by me, the undersigned notery public
ard chancellor.

Friday, Novimber 21s%., 1614 at 2:00 A.M,, in the Archepiscopal Curia
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of Gencya, The Very Reverend Archepiscopal Vicar ofGenova has examined Reve-
rend Bernardino Aquila, a professed Brother of the Clerics Regular of Somas~
ca, 71 years old, as he said, who was introduced by the Reverend Giylio Ce~

sare Volpino, Superior of St, Mary Magdalen Church and Convent in Ceroya ,The
witness, Reverend Bernardino, swore on the sacred Gospel of God, his hand on
the Bible,l fore the Very Roverend Vicar, that he would speak the truth, The
witness was previously warned of tne importance of the oath and of the penal-

ty in case of perjury, The witness was questioned about the first article
that was read +o him,

Answer: T have heen with this religious commmity of the Somascan Fa-
thers forty-tive years; having taken the habit in Ferrara, my native city,
About one year Jater, I was sent to Somasca, the first and the most important
house of our Crder, I remained there for rine years., During that time, T
had occasion to hear about Father Jerome Yiani, who was, as everyone said,
the founder of the Order of Somasca, and also the institutions in charge of
the orphans and converts, T remember a certain Lay Brother of this Commu-
nity named Battigta lomano, at that time about seventy years of ags, a very
robust man. He told me he had known Father Jerome Miani and that himself was
orne of those who has been educated by him., Certain other elderly men, at
that time lay members of the Somascans, were Martino Volpe, Ambrogio Volpe,
Beltrano Ventilano and fintonio, whose family name T do not know, These peole
told me they too had knowm Father Jerome who had undertaken the care of orp=
hans and poor derelicts, With deep interest he was concerned not only about
their spiritual life but also about their physical needs, These people also
said he doctored and cared for those who had tinea, At that time, T spoke
with some who told me they have been pupils under the care of Father Jerome,
who had given them medication for tinea, They praised him and said he had
been thair teacher. Those he had cured of tinea were Cristoforo from Cedri,
and Domenico from Zelo, BRergomese. They were elderly when I knew them and
they told me these things, Both these men T have named knew Father Jerome,
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They told me that h: wa: a Venetian gentleman and that he had left many pos-—
sessions and given =very-hing to the poor; renouncing horors and political
appointmerts. He deliceated himself to father poor orphans and coverts and
led them to o Chrisilan They 10ld me he had been very successful in

J_'l

chiis during his lifevime.

Concerniug the scond article whick was read to him,

Anguer: Thos» £ med vho told s thay had known Megser Jeromne also told
me that h: dressed vy porrly end thal he was 66 ted erntirely to helping
and assisting the poc, Shouldering a cross, he beg ged aTms, accompanicd by
the poor whem he gath:ived .imself. He wen® throagh Lombardy teaching Chris-

vian doctrive, princinlly in the Bevgamo, Milarn &nd Ere001a districts, He
was very suc:essiul i regayd to the spiritval tenefit of “She people, Father
Jercne wags very dev~ ., dedicating himsel? ent rely to the service of God,
halping souls and as .gting the roor, 28 I havs sald. Evervone agreed that
he was a saint ard c:J=2d him one, not oily in the countryside of Somasca
where the first house was, which at that time was not in good condition as
it is nou, but alego ir all those surrounding places whers I sometimes went
seeking Tood for the 1sor

About the third article which wag read to him.

o

Answer. Thece purils of Father Jerome told me alsc that he prayed very
¢ omoand maay, many tines, he spent the entir: night in prayer. He fasted
evaery dav, ate no msat, drenk no wine snd everyday he withdrew to lash him-
self, Leading such ar aistere and saintly life elicited the admiration of
all. Meny regarded him zs a model and did not fail to discipline themselves
nor to fast. 1 was told that with Father Jerome some people retired and a-
optnd the same spirituvel life., T recall their naming Count Federico ! Paniga~
rola, a priest whe died in Somasca, and Count Alfonso Stanga from Cremona,
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who was also dead at that time,
He was questioned about the fourth article which was read to him,

Answer: The aforementioned pupils of Father Jerome again told me about
an important case thas seemed to me to have been a miracle., Father Jerome
was once with his compagnia, about 8ixty persons, men and pupils who were in
his care, They were ‘n the Valleta near Somasca in a small house built for
the use of these revpie, The weather yas bad, a winter snowstorm, and they
had only thres loaves f bread. On account of the heavy snow no help could
be had, Father Jerome “ock the three loaves, blessed them sliced them, put
thom in a bagket and coversd them with a white cloth, WHe and his companions
prayed as he blessed the dread, He then called the younsest children telling
them to go in line and tate all the bread they wanted. They did so, eating
until they had enough, Tais lasted for three consecutive days during which
time they had no other help nor sustenance than the three loaves of bread
that haed been divided as gtated. They said the snow was so deep they could
have received no help fron outside., Vhen it finally stopped, after three
days-; the snow was plowed and they were helped. They found thay had more
bread than had been slicec at firgt, Two or three of these people told me
they had been present at the above mentioned happening, and had been among
those who had had e wugh bread during those three days in the little house,
These were Rattiste Romeno, Cristoforo da Cedri, and Domenico da Zello., I

remember these three very well and they told me they had witnessed this inci-
dent,




He was questioned about the fifth article which was read to him,

Apswer: This Battista Romano, a Brother, also told me that at that time
Tether Jerome Miani by his prayers revived a young man who had died. He was
the son of a widow from Mazano, a town about two miles from Somesca. He also
told me that this fact had not been divulged because Father Jerome did not
care to have it told and because in virtue of obedience he had commanded all
the men and boys who had been wita him not to speak of it. Battista told me
he had been the third boy from the cross, that is, he was among the smalles?t
and he was present at the miracle when Father Jerome revived the young men
who had died. He also told me that Father Jerome had curemany and diverse
illnesses by waking the sign of the cross on the forchesd ccmmanding the same
to those he had cured and exhorting them to live as Christions,

Added 1o the preceding: I will also te1l about something thet to me
seems to be & miracle., Battista Romano and others aforementioned, also men
from Somasca, old at that time, told me the following: one day, Father Jerome
was in the little house in the Valleta, where some of his pupils lived,

He noted that there was no water in the house and that it was necessary
to go far to get some when needed. TFather Jerome in the name of the God,
commanded water to gush from a rock nea: the house. He struck this stone, T
do not know whether it was with his hanl or with a rod. Suddenly, water gus—
hed out, more than enough for their neels. They said that this stone had not
any water before this, that it had been dry. At the time, T too had heard
about this miracle from those who had been present there, also {rom others,as
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as I s21id before, I went %o look =t that stone cseveral times and saw that
even then there was a little water., Tt was +his Brother Pattista Romano who
took me to the place and wio told me all these things and that after the mi-
racle, this stone gave out much more water than when he- had showed it to me,
Yhen this same Battista Romeno told me abeut the miracles performed by Father
Jerome, he also said that once a certain man from Villa was eutting wood and

ime the ax flew out of his hands ontc his foot causing a deep wound. He turned

™ to Father Jerome, who made the sign of the cross over his foot and cured it,

6 telling him to be a good man and live as a Christian, He also told me that
Battista was present at the time, saw the farmer's wounded foot and saw it

ﬁl cured by Father's sign of tae cross,

me . 1 . . 5 3

st Added 1o the preceding: At the time I went to live in Somasca working

with some old people there, as I said, there were also those who recalled
the life aned miracles of Father Jerome. They told me that when Father was
ame old and about to diz, almost everyone in that countryside went to visit him,
e told that he had willed them a remerbrance, - As they had observed the
feast days and hed given up balls and jjambling and other games and had abs..
tained from hlasphemy, profaning the name of the Lord God and of the most

e A =

- glorious Vir in, their country would never be demaged., They told me that
= L . 2l o . .

1 5 having observed this counsel for a long time they realized that if any
o storm came to the surrounding country Somasca would not be affected. But

if' there was abuse on the part of their descendents in introducing balls,
dances, and games, blasphemy and little or not observance of feast days,

ary they would find their countruside beaten more than the others surrounding
, them.
gus= To further confirm the saintliness and goodness of the life of our Fa-
not ther Tevome, there was a testimony of Pope Paul IV, at the time in minori-
rd bus, Antonio Caracciolo, Cleric Regular of the Theatine Congregation, wrote
5,88 the lire of Paul IV, published in Colonia Ubiorum 1612 by Giovanni Kinchio,
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On page 27 he mentions a letter written to the Theatine Fathers by Fope Paul
IV, who refers to our Father Jerome Miani, and his many hopcs and ezpecta-
tions.

In faith of these..., etc. Signed: Abbot Lelio Tasti, Vicar General,
etc., Post-scriptum: from the deeds which I, notary public and Chance;ior,
received and *ranscribed in quadruplicate. Giacomo Cunso, notary public and
Chancellor of th= Archepiceopal Curia of Genova,

The Abbot Lelio Tasti, Doctor of Canon ard Civil Law, Protcnotary Anos-
tolic, Vicar CGeneral in the Archdiocese of Genova. We bear witness to 241
and each examining officer and tectify that Giacomo Cureo hus accentzd the
above-uritten testimony and transcribed it in his own hani; that, as sbove
vritten, he vas and still is a legal and trustworthy mcmber of tho Hotary Tub-
lic Association of Canova, Chancellor o the Archepiscopal Curiaj; that the
publlc deeds he has composed and subscrbed were and still are fuily apﬁrovea
in Court and outsid: Court, etc. Given ir Genova at the Archeplecopal Curl
with the usual seal, the ?1qt of November, 1614. Sipned: Giovann: Antonio

Focabliata, nctary pub11c and Chancellor of the Arcbeplncopal Curia in Genova
etc..o It was sealed with the legal stamp.
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ORDINARY PROCESS OF MILANO

INTRODUCT ION

T — T U S A

1. CODICES

We could examine two manuscripts for ths ordinary process of Milano: Co-
dex D 202 of the archive of the Maddalena of Genova and a codex of the arch-
ive of the general procuration of the Somascan Fathers in Rome.

Codex D 202 is the transcription and work of the notary Francesco Ferra-
rio of Milano done on November 12, 1615 on authentic copy, of the same nota-
ry, of the process Giacomo Antonio Cerutti, legalized on September 28, 1615
by the general vicar Mario Antonio., In codex D 202 the process of Milano
occupies from folio 85r to folio 99v. The indication of the pages on the
side by our.edition refers to this manuscript which is the one we followed
in the transcription.

The second manuscript is in the archive of the general procuration of

the Somascan Fathers in Rome, The codsx in which it is contained does not
show any indicaticn of archive and is titled: Mediolanensis Canonizationis
Beati Hieronymi Acmiliani Patritii Veneti et Congregationis Somaschae Minda-
toris. Processus remissoriales fabricati Mediolani et Somaschae. D. Clear—
cus Buscus notarius., It contains the acts of the apostolic processes of the
cause of beatification of St, Jerome Miani celcbrated in Milano and in Somas—
ca, During the apostolic process of Milano on May 16, 1628, on request of
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the procurator father Giovanni Calta, the notary Cerutti gave the remissorial
judges copy of the ordinary process of 1615, because the witnesses of that
process Borroni and Novelii were already dead, The codex of the archive of
the general procuration is an anthentic copy of such apostolic process, made
by the notary of the sacred congregation of the rites Clearco Busco and le~
galized on April 2, 1629. In the manuscript the part that reports the ordi-
nary process of Milano occupies from foglio 398r to foglio 413r of the pro=
cess of Milano, There are no differences between the two codices.,

The text of this process was never integrally edited.,

_ In the periodical Il Santuario di S, Girolamo Emiliani, III (1917)n.n.
35 & 36 under the title Notizie della vita, morte a miracoli di Messer
Hieronimo Miani, have been handwritten by Father Novelli and by him given to
father Calta on August 4, 1615, These 'Notizie' coincide with the text of
the deposition given to the processes. There is missing only the part of
the questions, the one regarding the sources of the exposed news which are,
instead, indicated between parenthesis at the end of every news, The subject
is sometimes presented in a different disposition and the news are distribu-
ted in twenty small chapters. We haven't been able to see the manuscript,
but the cxaminatior and the accurate comparison of the content of the 'Noti~-
zie! and of the te timony given at the processes make us think thet the !No-
tizie! have come, with a labor work, fcom the deposition in the process, but
not viceversa, as, instead, seem to think the author of the article of the
periodieal, and G. Landini, S. Girolamo Miani, Rome 1947, page 43.




Long passages are inserted in Sacra Rituum Congregatio E., mo et Rimo D,
Cardinali De Abdua Veneta sey Mediolanen, beatificationis et canonizationis
ven, Servi Dei Hieronymi “emiliani Congregationis Somaschae Fundatoris. In-
formation superdubio virtutum heroicarum, Romae MDCCXIV, in Summarium, pages
15, 24, 31-32, 37, 45, 49-50, 52~55, 59-60, 88, 96, 101, 105.

BIBLIOGRAPHY,

There is no bibliography, cccept a few lines on Novelli's witnessing,
See 0. M. Paltrinieri, Notizie int-mo alla vita di Primo del Conte, Rome
1805, page 853 Il Santuario di 8. Girolamo, cited, n., 35; G. Landini, Sen
Girolamo Miani, cited, pages 43~44.

2. MILIEU

The process of Milano, the last of the ordinary processes in order of
tins, took place in the archbishop palace of Milano at the presence of Mario
Antonino, vicar general of archbishop cardinal Federico Borromeo, the 6 and

t 7 of July, 1615 and of the provicar general Giacomo Terzaghi on August 4,

° 1615, The procurator was father Giovanni Calta, named with special procura-
tion rogated by the notary Lelio de Nobili in March 1674, The notary of the
process was Giacomo Antonio Cerutti, notary and actuary of the episcopal

- chaicery. The guestionnaire took place regarding the same five articles al-

] reedy presented in order to build the ordinary process of Genova, On July
7 the prlest Bernardo Borroni, rector of the parochial church of Santa Maria
Assunta in Vigentino, over 31xt—f1ve was interrogated, On August 4 the Somas-
can father Girolamo Novelli, 54, residing in the religious house of Santa
Maria Segrete of Milano.




Ir |
3. BERIARDO BORRONI.

Bernardo Borroni was born around the year 1550, At 19 he had the in-
tention of entering the ecclesiasticel career, St. Carlo Borromeo sent him
to Somasce, in the seminary the cardinal had founded in 1566 and entrusted
to the Somascan Fathers, He remained for two years and a half studying hu-
manities, His rector was father Maffeo Belloni of Milano,

He was ordained priest around the year 1575 and dedicated his whole life
to the souls, For many years he was rector of the parochial church of Santa
Maria Assunta in Vigentino, then about one mile from Milano, on the road to
LOdl, in the perish of San Donato,  Here he built "that so noble church which
is the best among all the forain churches " Those who knew him, talked of
him as a trust worthy person, "rather a person of great value and worthy of
great trust and of great bounty of life,"

He died in tho month of June of 1619 and buried in his parochial church.

At the time he. lived in Somasca, Borroni had the chance to talk with
many people who knew and had to do with Miani; the fathers of the congrega-
tion and, especially, many old men of whom he doesn't remember the names
eccept Antonlo Airoldi one of the most worthy men of Somasca, who was born
around the 1510 and in his youthhad. known very well the Miani. In the memo-
ry of Borroni a picture remained well impressed, the ome on the wall of the
old refectory of Somasca on the left side where the rector and the master
were sitting, This picture is remembered also by Novelli who studied in So-

masca i.. the immediately following years.

Therefore the sources of Borroni are good and direct, even if his tes-—
timony only rarely gets down to details, eccept in the two recounts of the
grapes and of the apple. |
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But his words have the strength of evaking that atmosphere of Somasca,
of hils time when not only once but several times, in different times and pla-
ces, by infinite persons who had know him, publicly people were used to re~
peat about Mianij he was a saint,

About Borroni see Mediolanensis Canonizationis Beati Hieronymi Aemiliani,
cited, Process of Milano, pages 414V and 419r=422v, in the archive of the ge-
neral procuration of the Somascan Fathers in Rome, Documents and news about

Borroni are found also in the archiepiscopal archive of Milano, spiritusl ap-
chive, section X, San Donato VIIT,

4. GIROLAMO NOVELLTI,
Bibliographical news,

Father Girolamo Novelli was born in Vicengza on_Jénuary 15, 1557,
His father Guido was from Padova, The mother Laurs was from Verona, It seens
that he remained orphan since he was & youth: he was certainly accepted in

the orphanage of the Misericordia of Vicenza where he knew father Francesco
da Trento, who was rector there from 1563 to 1565,

tor father Giovan Battista Gonella and the Brescian Paaino as master, In 1572
he went to Milano, probably in the small seminary of Colombare . for his pro=-
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bation year, During this year he knew father Angiolmarco Gambarana, to whom
he confessed often., In the general chapter of April 20, 1573, he was admit-
ted to the religious profession, but because there were some doubts about his
suitability to emit the vows for his age, the profession was procrastinated
for one year: in fact he proifessed on May 1st 1574 in Milano in the hands of
father Giovanni Scotti.

Then he studied philosophy at Brera residing at the orphanage of San
Martino of Milano where he luckily knew Primo Conti who helped him in the stu-
dies with lessons in philosophy and teaching him Greek and Hebrew., He was
stationed in Milano several years. Probably he finished his studies there,
of theology, also. Here he found father Francesco da Trento, who received
him as child at the Misericordia of Vicenza.

Primo Conti, Francesco da Trento, Angiolmarco Gambarana all three excel-
lent men who had a great influence on his religious and intellectual forma-
tion,

Novelli dedicated a lot of time of his life to teaching.
He started with teaching humanity in San Croce of Triulzio, near Milano,
a kind of seminary-institution for orphans of San Martino who were studying

with the goal toward the priesthood. Here heknew and lived with Paolo of Se~
rizte who was one of the orphans gathered by Miani,

Here some other datas. In 1588 he was professor of Letters and Philoso-
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phy in the patriarchal Seminary of Venice, The Same year he moved to Genova
as & preacher and remained there for two years, In 1590 he was vice parish
priest of Santa Maria Sagreta of Milano, In 1593 he was residing in Vicenza
in the collegio of Santi Filippo e Giacomo where in 1594 he was nominated
praepositus. In 1596 he went to Piacenza. In 1599 to Santa Maria Piccola of
Tortona, In 1600 hewas principal master in the academy of San Benedetto of
Sald, In the same year he moved to San Maiolo of Pavia., In 1603 he returned |
to Santa Maria Segreta of Milano and moved later to Amelia as master, In 1605
he was professor of rhetoric in the Collegio Clementino of Rome, In 1606 he
returned to the church of Maddalena in Genova, From 1606 to 1609 he kept the
_ theology chair in Cremons where he was also vicepraepositus and parish priest
| of the Santa Iucia church., In 1609 he went back for the third time to Santa
Maria Segreta af Milano snd here we still find him in 1615, In Milano he was
a consultor of the holy office,

In their sketchy and fragmentarity these data furnish an indication about
the life of Novelli rather on the move,

To the . teaching activity Novelli associated always a great passion for
studying, i

He knew very well Italian and Latin and showed it as a writer, "In hig
speech he was always learned...and assiduous in studying theological subjects
and letters as well, Because of his long dedidation to study he had the beauti-

ful habit of speaking polite or polished" ; "he was a man of great science and
) & speaker!, this is what father Francesco Leone and Donato Moravi were saying,

In his last years of life he dedicated himself to compositions of rather
Spiritual character. He wrote in Latin and Ttalian, in verse and prose, A
list of his writing is given by Paltrinieri, o.c,, pages, 83-85, He is remem-
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percd among the learned men of Cremona by F. Arisi, Cremona literata, Parma

1706, Cremona 1741, C. 190 and III, c. 98, Also father Angiolgebriello of

Senta Maria, Biblioteca degli Scrittori Vicentini, VII, c. 67 and G, P, Cres~ ;
cenzi, Presidio Romano, Riacenza 1648, II, n. 24. "He was a man of good and

holy life" said of Novelli father Moroni who confessed him and communicated

him before dying. "Virtuous man,..good religious and God fearing.," This is

how father Francesco Leone defined him who lived with him many years and as-

sisted him on his death.

Various witnesses narrate what happened a few hours after his death.,
"Father Gerolamo Novelli -father Leoni narrates - professed priest of the
Somagcan congregation, virtuous man and very good religious, seventy years
0ld, being in his death bed and not being able to move, but always in his
senses and sound mind, hearing from me the . recomendation of the soul at a-
bout the end of proficiscere anima christiana etc.. threw aside the covers
opened the eyes with smiling and joyous face and very clear voice, as if he
was sound, looking to the center of the room said these words: A, blessed
Jerome Miani, what graces, what favows are these! To visit a poor sick sinner
and your disciple! ~dear father, I beg you for the Lord's sake, do not aban-
don me at this extreme point and with your intercession recommend my soul to
God, He said other similar words which I don't remember well. When he finished
saying, he returned to the same position and closed the eyes as before, When
T  finished the recommendation of the soul, I asked him if he really saw our
blessed Jerome; he said yes with the mouth confirming it with the head...".
(Mediolanensis Canonizationis Beati Hieronymi cit., Process of Milano, £. 37v).
A few hours later he died. It was October 25, 1623 in the house of Sen Pietro
in Monforce of Milano.

Knews on father Novelli can be found besides his deposition in the process
of Miani, in other texts in the apostolic processes &as fathers Francesco Leone, ﬂ
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- of Somasca, Also from documents of the archive of the Maddalena of Genova,

Donato Moroni, Carlo Antonio de Meda (see Mediolanensis Canonizationis Beati
Hieronymi cit., pages 31, 35, LA7v=-419r, A short profile is found in the At~
ti della Congregazione di Somasce, vol, I, page 107, manuscript of the archive

for ex, in the Libretti delle deputazioni, C-45,

Various authors wrote about father Novelli, but their news are scarse,
very fragmented and repeated with monotony from one to another, The most come
pleted is 0,M, Paltrinieri, Notizie intorno alla vita di Primo del Conte cit,,
pages 81-85, Here we can find other cited authors, See also A, Stoppiglia,
Relazione autentica intorno alla vita di San Girolamo Emiliani ed alla Cong~-

TESTIMONY

; The deposition of fagher Novelli is, regarding to the content, the
most extensive and the richest of all the testimonies given in the processes.

It procedss following the orders of the articles of the questions,
but it inserts often others news which are interesting the life of Miani and
for the twenty years period between 1560 and 1580,

It starts with the ‘1life of Miani in Venice and as an apposite pic-~
ture, his activity for the orphans, in particular for what related to the
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teaching of the christian doctrine.

There's then a talk about poverty and austerity, that Novelli could see
vividly reflected in the life of the Miani's companions (Primo Conti) and in-
the authoritative testimony of Pious V.,

» It widens up into his prayer, mortification, detachment from the goods
of this world: norms which remained fundamental and almost distinguishing
sign to his companions (Leone Carpani, Angiolmarco Gambarana) and to his Com~

pegnia, ; :

Novelli continues talking about the fascination exercised by Miani and
the people carried by his example: the servants of the poor, the cooperators,
the religious of other orders, It detains in particular on the principal fol-
lowers of Miani: Mario Lanzi, Agostino Barili, Vincenzo Gambarana, Angiol-
marco Garharana, Federico Panigarola, Francesco Minotti.

Following the articles of the questionnaire if passes to the miracle of
the bread, The remembrance of Somasca recalls other facts that happened there:
the penance and prayers of Misni, the water sprung from therock, the healing
of the paralitic right after his death, Somasca recalls also other episodes
the devil disturbing the rest of the orphans, the angel giving an apple to
one of them,

Novelli closes his deposition reminding some prescriptions regulating
the life of the orphans which the common testimony was making it go back to
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Miani: prayers, silence, poverty, mortification, humble service by the priests
and brothers of the Compagnia (Francesco da Trento, Angiolmarco Gambarana),

There are finally ritual questions about the person of the witness and
the people and circumstances through which he came to know what he deposed :
here also its an occasion for other news about Battista da Romano, Primo Con-
tis Freancesco da Trento, on Battistino Judge of Vercurago on customs of those
first institutions,

- The sources used by Novelli are of different nature; persons, places,
customs of life still on going and attributed in its origin to Miani,

The people knew Miani (some of them had with him a close way of life)
or entered the Compagnia immediately after his death. Come out in the words
of Novelli some amoig the most cherished names of the Compagnia of the servants
|- of the poor of those firg times: Primo Conti, Angiolmarco Gambarana, Battista
da Romano, Paolo de Seriate, Giovanni Scotti, Bernardino Castellani, Francesco
de Trento; all people very worthy of esteem and knownpersonally by Novelli,

In the packground of these figures there is a series of persons of the
rot compagnia or of Somaseca who generally remained anonymous: elders of the cong-
regation, universal voice of all elders. :

The documentary material is constituted by the fetters, handcuffs and
chains of the sanctuary of the Madonna of Treviso; by the booklet of catechism
of fra Reginaldo, by handwritten memories of Miani, from the picture in the
refectory and from such eloquent places of Somasca,

Among the traditions Novellj attributes to Miani and still observed at
his time, or at least until his youth ere: some remedies for sicknesses, some
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norms regarding prayer, and the behaviour of the orphans, the use of occupy-
ing the free time with the Rosary, the refusal of every richness, the poverty
in dressing,

It is matter, at least in regards with people, of numerous and trust-
worthy informators. The documentary material has been personally reviewed
by Novelli, In regards with places and news they are sustained by the "uni-
versal voice", collected by Novelli in Somasca about 35 years after Miani's
death. The sams for the orders of the orphans: the universal voice insures
that such customs, kept with filial and religious respect, goes back to
Miani himself, 4

Thereforc Novelli's testimony is well grounded and historically notice-
able,

If we compare it with that of other witnesses, it detaches itself imme~
diately for its own particular tone: while the untrimmed prose of the other
witnesses makes their testimony appear more simple and almost more eredible,
Novelli's makes you think about a certain elaboration.

It's certain that Novelli, man of culture, kept and transmitted the
news furnished him in a more impersonal way that the other witnesses: that
influences his selection of the news and on their interpretation,

The news are instinctively placed in a historic picture of his youth,
when he releives in his mind not without some regret, That's why they are in
his deposition relevant typically contrareformisti¢ motives as those of mi-
racles and macerations of the saints (it cennot not hit, for example, the com-
placent diffusion in narrating the translation of the corps of father Vincenzo
Gambarana ).
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Certainly it affects also his personal experience of religious life, which
seems To express itself mainly on the great love for poverty, in the austeri-
ty of life, in the intense faith in God and simplicity of those great men,

An austerity which reaches a lot higher vertices in the refusal of all
richness, in chosing an absolute poverty, in the complete dedication to the
poor, in the severe penance, in laboriosity,

A total trust in God for whom every thougHjevery move, every ection is
only directed toward God, beginning and end of every aspiration,

A simplicity which expresses itself sometimes in suggestive traits as
when we see Primo de Conti, the humanist which Erasmus was indicating as mas-
ter to the Italians, but during the Winter among the poor walls of San Marti-
no, in repeating to those young orphans and clerics the lessons he heard at
Brera; or he raises up and takes his hat off reverently every time he pro-
nounces the uncultured Miani whom he recognizes as master of life., When he
is presented Francesco da Trento of the spaur count family reknown man for
his councelling to the bishops and cardinals, who works in the garden, who
sews and cuts clothes for the orphans, who is also their barber, Or when
we observe with how much decision it is commanded Angiolmarco Gambarana, one
of the most important men of the Compagnia, to get rid of the lend of Cal eva
Nuova of Pavia or to get out of the congregation.

Father Novelli's testimony , different from the others of the ordinary
processes, was more known and used by the biographers of Miani,




Such luck was certainly due to, besides the richness and quality of the
content, also the fact that it was transcribed integrally in the apostolic
processes and to the very personality of the author. De Rossi, the first who
inserted in the biography of Miani the material of the processes, was also a
disciple of Novelli,

ORDINARY PROCESS OF MILANO

Very illustrious and very reverend Sir,

Giovanni Calta priest and regular Somascan cleric procurator about the
informations of bounty of life and miracles of the venerable father Jerome
Miani of happy memory, founder of the Somascan Congregation , beseeches your
very reverend Lordship to favor him in examining those testimonies which
will be presented by the procurator, regarding the included chapters, giving
juridic process in order to be valid juridically and also to publish themj
that besides God's honour and glory, which will result for the Lord, for the
whole said congregation and in particular for the procurator, he will feel
perpetually obliged and will pray for more glory and long life of your
very illustrious and very reverend Lordship, Quam Deus, etc,

1615 die lunac sexto mensis iulii.
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y Praesentatus fuit coram perillustri et reverendis-simo iuris utriusque
doctore domino Mario Antonino prothonotario apostolico, illustrissimi et re-
verendissimi domini Federici tituli Sanctae Mariae Angelorum sanctae Romanae
Ecclesiae praesbiteri cardinalis archiepiscopi Mediolani vicario generali,
supraedictus suplex 1< bellus per praedictum multum reverendum patrem Caltam,
debita cum instantia petentem et requirentem, quatenus praefatus reverendis-—
simaa dominus vicarius decernere ot ordinare velit et debeat, examinandos fore
et esse examinarique debere quosqumque testes, per eum uti procuratorem spe~

cialem ut supra producendos, in et super verificatione contentorum in articu-
lis de quibus supra fit mentio et quorum tenor inferius inseretur, eorumque
dicta er attestationes in scriptis redigi, moxque dictarum attestationum exem—
plum authenticem eidem edi ad hoc etc., omni meliori modo, etc.

The tenor of said articles is such, that is:

Artidles over vhich the‘witnesses are to be examined regarding the
bounty of life and miracles of the venerable father Jerome Miani founder of
the Somascan Congrezation.,

First: Father Jerome Miani was a man of great holiness: he renounced
the honour of the Venetian Republic, gave himself to the care of the orphans
and poor derelicts whom he was governing with great charity, in instructing
them in the christian living, helping them in their physical needs, medica-
ting the ringworm and other corporal infirmities,

Secord: said father dressed contemptibly, in order to help the poor
used to mendicate and teach the christian doctrine in many places of Lombardy,
particularly in the territory of Bergamo and Milano with great fruit of the
souls,
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Thirds the same used to pray frequently so that he was spending entire
nights in such exercises; he was fasting every day, did not eat meat nor
drank wine, Every day he retired from the companions for a sizable time used
to discipline himself, b iy :

Fourth: one day, finding himself with a good number of persons of the
compagnia of the poor, not having but three breads of mixture, after preying
with the companions, he blessed said breads and with great faith he disuri-
buted them: they were enough to satiate the multitude of people, who were &-
bout sixty, After everybody was satiated of that bread what was left over
was more than there was before it was distributed., Son of a widow.

Fifth: while father Jerome Miani was living with his prayers mede a
dead young man come back to life,

Besides these articles, if the witnesses will depose, they will be inte-
rrogated de causa cognitionis, laci anc co~witnesses and time, ILastly still
super generalibus. At the beginning o the examination the witnesses will
be advised de veritate dicenda under ocath, they will have to be interrogated
over said articles separated one from another,

Que praefatus reverendissimus dominus vicarius visis et auditis praedic—
tis decrevit et decernit testes ut supra, per dictum reverendum patrem Caltam
producendos, examinandos fore at esse in et super eupradictis ariteulis por
notarium actuarium curiae archiepiscopalis Mediolani cum interventu eiusdem
reverendissimi domini vicarii, moxque !l dictarum attestationum exemplum in
forms fidsm facienke edi omni meliori modo, etc. Signatum Marius Antonius vv-
carius generalis.

1615 die martis septimo mensis iulii.
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Coram praefato perillustri et reverendissimo iuris utriusque doctore Ma-
rio Antonino, prothonotario apostolico, curiae archiepiscopalis Mediolani
vicario generali, existente in aedibus suae solitae residentiae ot audientiae
sitis in pallatio archiepiscopali Mediolani,

Examinatus fuit multum reverendus dominus praesbiter Bemardi. * ~ .npus
rector parochialis ecclesiae Sanctae Mariae loci Viglentini plebis Sancti Do-
nati in strata Laudensi, testis productus super verificatione supradictorum
articulorum per admodum reverendum dominum Ioannem Caltam clericum regularem
Congregationis Summaschae, procuratorem specialem praedictae venerabilis
congregationis ad id specialiter constitutum, apparente instrumento dictae
procurae specialis rogato per Laelium de Nobilibus publicum Venetae notarium
die decimo nono mensis martii 1614 proximae prae-terito, et qui testis iura-
vit etc., tactis scripturis etc,, dicere veritatem etc., remotis removendis
etc., in manibus praedicti reverendissimi domini vicarii eidem iuramentum
defferentis, etc,

First of all an admonition was made to the witness about saying the truth.

He answered : T am a priest; it's fourty years that I work with souls and I
know what it means to testify,

Deinde lecto eidem testi supradicio primo ex articulis praedictis, sic
ut supra per praedictum reverendum patrem proouratorem praedicto reverendis—
simo domino vicario exhibitis,

Interrogated he answered : I did not know said father Jerome Miani founder
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of the congregation of the reguler clerics of Somasca, 1
heard talking sbout him fourty-six years ago when I was about
19 and was wearing the c¢leric's habit; S5t, Charles sent me
to Somasce in the seminary to learn humenities, That semi-
nary was directed and governed by the Somascan Fathers, I
remained in that seminary about two years and a half. During
that time not only I heard about said Jerome Miani from the
fathers !! of said congregetion,; but also from many seculars
by which he was kept in great veneration and thought of him
as & saint, Among those I remember I heard said the name and
think of him as a saint, I remember a certain messer Antonio
I think d'Airoldi, benefactor: of said Congregation, a person
of about fifty and very honorable. By what he told me, he
knew said father alive and with him he talked various times.
I heard from said messer Antonio and also other old seculars
who had knowyin life said father, not one time but more and
more times, in different times end places, that said father
Miani was a very noble person and of great riches, that he
had renounced all the honours of the Venetian republia, had
distributed all his properties to the poor, of which he was
having particular care materially and spiritually, teaching
them the christian way of living and helping them in their
corporal needs of sickuess or other, keeping them near him
with a lot of charity, without sparing any fatigue in caring
for them and grow them in the fear and service of God. '




Super supradicto segundo articulo eidem texti lecto

Interrogated he answered : from the above said in the place of Somasca I
have equally publicly heard say that said father Miani was
dr_seing with a contemptive cassock reaching half the leg,
with a cloth cap, After distributing his property to the
poor he used to mendicate around together with said poor whom
he was bringing processionally with the cross in front. He
was teaching the christian doctrine in all places where he
was founding pious institutiongs for the need and government
of the poor orphans. In particular T heard that he did it in
the territory of Bergamo with great fruit of those souls.

Super supradicto tertio articulo eidem testi lecto

Interrogated he answered : of the content of this article I can g8y not-~
hirg else but that said father Miani was thought in Somasca
by those people as a saint. That in such place it was said
publicly that he was Conducing a holy life with fasting and
mortifications of the body and with other good and holy deeds.

Super supradicto quarto articulo eidem testi lecto

Interrogated he answered : I heard nothing said. I only heard what in such
article is narrated these lgst days, here in Milano, by the
fathers of said congregation of Somasca because I was talking
with them. But I don't remember the place nor the time,
I think that it was the reverend father don Alessandro who
told me, then praepositus of Santa Maria Secreta and I'm sure
he told me this is coming from father Calta.
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Super supradicto quinto articulo eidem testi lacto

Interrogated he

Sudens & seipso

answered : I don't know how to answer regarding this article
but the way I answered the preceding, that is for having heard
from said reverend fathers mentioned above.

while I was in said Collegio of Somasca I heard said pub-
licly by different people that said reverend father Miani
when still living was going out with his company looking for
alms. One of those poor was very thirsty and hungry. He re-
curred to said father in order to extinguish the thirst and
the hunger, Such father, not having anything to give him,
told the poor to enter the vineyard to collect and ealt grapes.

' The poor boy did it even if it was - out of season and found

grapes in a vinetree, took it and ate it, This was taken as
a groat miracle by all those who came to know it.

Besides that I saw in the old refectory of said collegio
which I think has been demolished 'a painting of said Miani
with the compagnia of his orphans, with the cross in front,
the way he was used to go processionally looking for alms,

In the middle of the procession there was an apple tree over
which the baby Jesus seemed to be coming down with an apple

in his hand even if it was out of season. He gave that apple
to one of the orphans who, tk:n, gave it to said father Miani
who told him not to say a word to anyone., I then concluded
that said father Miani at any time by every person who knew
him (a) was publicly thought to be saint for the works he did,
alive and dead. They were saying that when alive he made many
graces. This I can testify as being true.




In causis scientiae dixit praedicta omnia per eum deposita fuisse et esse ve-
ra, publica et notoria, eaque scire, dicere rationibus et causis per eum de—
ductis,

Super generalibus recte etc, et est aetatis anno-rum sexaginta quinque
et ultra.

(a) The codex of the apostolic process adds "and those who did not know him,"
1615 die martis quarto mansisaugusti

Coram illustri et multum reverendo iuris utirusque doctore Iacobo Ter-
zagno, decano erclesiae maioris Mediolani curiaeque archiepiscopalis Mediola-
ni provicario generali, existente in loco ubi supra.

Examinatus fuit multum reverendus pater Hieronymus Novellus sacerdos
congregationis Summaschae, residens in collegio Sanctae Mariae Secretae Medio-
lani, testis productus per suprascriptum procuratorem pro verificatione con-

tentorum in suprasciptis articulis, cui delatum fuit iuramentum etc., quod
praestitit etc., tactis scripturis-ete,, in manibus praedicti illustris et
multum reverendi domini proticarii generalis et monitus de !! dicenda verita-
te., -

- Regarding the first article read to him, interrogated to say what he
knows, saw and heard from others,
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He answered s T didn't know father Jerome Miani, because before enter-
ing our congregation of Somasca he was long dead. It's
true that at the beginning of my religious life, still
young of sixteen or seventeen (a) the elders of our cong-
regation and other people who knew said father, were say-
ing publicly that father Jerome was a noble Venetian of
the Very old Emiliani Roman family as there are many other

| Venetian families from Rome that moved to Venice. He en-
' tered the army still young, became an officer of the re-
l public, which made him governor of Castelnuovu of Friuli
at the time when Massimillian, the first emperor with this
\l : name, made war to the Venetians and took the castle kill-
ing the soldiers, Father Jerome was taken and put in a
dark and strong prison in which he recommended himself to
- the Mzadonna of Treviso. She appeared to him and miracu-
| lously freed him opening the prison and the fetters, con-
| ducing him invisible through the ariny, keeping him by the
| hand all the way to the doors of Treviso, Those fetters,
| hendcuffs and chains, which were keeping him tied up in
prison, are still visible in the Church of the Madonna
Grande of Treviso, confirming this marvelous miracle. Re-
“" turned to Venice, he put in order all his things, aban-
. doned everything, lived for a while under the obedience
““ of the bishop of Chieti founder of the Theatine Fathers,
who became later Pope with the name of Paul IV, elected
spiritual father of father Jerome., He was also the firet

|
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in Lombardy and in the Venetian States who gathered children
(a) the cod, of ap. pro. instead of 16 to 17 has 15 to 16,

orphans and derelicts, provided them with a house to live in
and the things rweded to live, He was teaching with great
charity the christian life, He actually was the founder of
the christian doctrine in Italy, which was started to be re~-
cited privately and publicly by the orphans., The werk and

its exercise was appreciated and such praiseworthy and fruit-
ful custom was embraced by the bishops, cities, provinces and
generally by the whole christianism, There were some booklets
kept by our congregation, not too long ago, with the name of
Fra Reginaldo, a Dominican religious, very attached to the
congregation, In these books with very clear brevity were ex-
plained all the things belonging to the perfect instruction
of the Christian. These booklets were going around the whole
Italy and were printed in many places. Many of our fathers
even if learned, liked to learn them by heart in order to ins-
truct and teach others. I don't mind saying I was one of
them, Father Jerome was doing every most vile exercise for
the care and government of the orphans, which were by him
loved and governed with more than paternal affection. From
here the tradition of our lay and ministers, the knowledge

of curing sicknesses, fastidious and disgusting by nature,
which usually attack children.

Et eidem testi lecto secundo articulo et interrogatus ut supra

He answered : Father Jerome was basely, contemptibly dressing with thick
and rough clothingj he was living so disowned of his own
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self-love that in travelling he would not bring money nor

any food for living and sustenance. He was living with the
work of his hands, earning his food with humble jobs, work-
ing in the fields: he was not arranging for the salary,

happy as he was with what was offered, receiving it instead
of alms and praising God, From this came the saying among
the orphans that when they were receiving something for their
use they would say every time: "Praised be God!". And when
what he received for his fatigues was not enough for him and
the orphans in order to live, he was humbly mendicating.

Subdens & seipso: I will say more, Miani lived after his conversion, in a

way as to leave in the hearts of those who were approaching him
the opinion of a man not mediocrily good, but one who had al-
ready reached the peak of apostolic perfectionj because, not
being a religious of any community, he used to live in such
severity that in the observance of the essential vows, in the
contempt of self, in the poverty of dressing, in the austeri-
ty of life, in the frequence of abstinences and vigils, in the
honesty and modesty of talking, he could have been compared

to the founders of the most strict disciplines of the regulars
that ever flourished in the holy Church. Primo de Conti nar-
rated this various times to me. He was my teacher of Greek
and Hebrew. He was militating under the institution of our
father even if he was not bound by the vows of the regular
life, he showed in his behaviour and customs sovividly re-
produced the image of that father, that I can affirm with oath
that in many and many years that I lived and talked with him,
that he never was seen in the presence of others to obey the
bodily needs that require privacy.  He himself was saying
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that there was anything good in him it was due to the holy conversation of
father Jerome Miani. When he was saying his name, he used to call him his
master in the moral and christian life. So great was the affection and the
respect, even after his death to his honored memory, that any time he had to
bring it up, which was happening often, he was bending his head, taking off
the hat, if he had one,

Subdens & se ¢

Pope Pious V had the same opinion: this made it easier for
the three vows of our Congregation, when requested, We also
obtained during his pontificate, nobody in the concistor da-
red to contradict him, when he himself testified in the pre~
sence of the cardinals with his ocular testimony about the
merits and holiness of Miani which were to bring graces and
favor to the holy Church, He was so good in praising our
Founder that he didn't hesitate in calling him a secong Paul
in charity, zeal and humility, To make his words more belie-
vable he used Peter Apostle's saying:"xos manducavimus et bi-
bimus cum illo (we ate and drank with him" and of St, Johu's:
"nos audivimus, nos vidimus et manus nostrae contrectaverunt
(we heard, we saw and our hands were joined)", This was re-
ferred by the commissars to the fathers in the chapter and I
heard 1t from many fathecs.

Super tertio articulo eidem testi lecto and interrogated he answered:

The spiritual exercises of father Jerone were many and of the many
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the worthy of note are these: daily mass with particular actions of intornal
and external devotion, Very frequent and hard fasting, contented with the
little musty, derk, hard bread thet the orphans could gather in the housesj
many other very honorable fathers followed this kind of fasting up to my time,
as I could testify visually in father Francesco Trento, Angelo Merco Gambara~
na, Vincenzo de Borgo, Father wanted to hit his body very often, From this
the congregation took the tradition of making that discipline every Fridey.

Subdens a seipso : He was very patient to injuries and enemy of comforts
and riches, so as to refuse a large guantity of money
offered by Francesco Sforza, the last Duque of Milano,
answering that he who had abandoned his own was not to
look for other's. The negligence and contempt of rich-
es was so loved by the first fathers of the Congrega-
tion that not even the gentlemen were bringing the pat-
rimony or any goods of theirs, Because of this Leone
Carpani, once coverted to God by the example and life
of father Jerome, even if he had great patrimony, he did
not leave any to the Congregation, no matter how much
he insisted; depository of all his goods was Primo de
Conti, mentioned before by me: ., who at his time was be-

licved to be & chizstian Socrates for his excellent ver-
satility in letters and goodness,
He received full permission to alienate those goods as

was best fit by our fathers who were firm in the in-
tention of living in poverty. For this reason Primo
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gave the investituse and possession to the Company of Jesus,
In this way the institution of Como came to be. From the in-
come of Carpmni's and the Merone property, which were that
fathers patrimony, came the sustenance. Following the ins-
tructions of father Miani they denounced father Angiol Marco
Gambarana the abandonmcat of the Congregation, had he in g
certain number of days not renour-2d his place of Caneva Nuo-
ve of Pavia, which he could still dispose of. In order not
to be separated from the Compagnia, he renounced in favor of
the Barnabite fathers., I heard personally various times some
fathers worthy of trust accepted &11 that was offered then by
the friends and devotees of the Cempagnia, the Compagnia would
not alienate now temporal goods to any other community of re-
gulars, I can testify myself partly how many gardens, fields
and houses, in Milano and outside, that were renounced or re-
fused with generous contmpt,

Subdens a seipso: Father Miani was the greatest enemy of self, denying his
senses not only excessive pleasures, but taking away ffom the
flesh even the neczssary, He was avoiding banfuets as lavish
and sumptuousj; he cherished hbstinznce in such a way that his
way of living could have been called a perpetual abstinence,

He was of such humility that, even if he had the government of
the whole Congregation, he would give the most wanted honour to
a priest subjected to him.

Many gentlemen of different towns were sweetly attracted by
the good example of Miani and the good odor of his virtues,a-
bandoned the world and a good part of them followed him under
a strict way of commorn and poor life in which they firmly con-
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tinued and closed their eyes with manifest signs of perfect
imitation., Some helped in caring for the orphans with clo-
thes, work, counseling and lived under the obedience of fa—
ther Jerome and other rectors. They were frequenting the
holy secraments administered them by ours in our churches,
humbling themselves and asking at their feet in certain days
punishment and pardon for their mistakes. This custom is w
worthy of praise, I saw it when I came and became religious
in Milano. These gentlemen were called cooperators of the
fathers, not messer as they call them now, They were also
honorable people which by the virtue of some indults of apos—
tolic delegates were following the steps of father Miani, were
helping him with sermons, spiritual talks for the reformation
of the christian people. They were coming to the chapters
that he was making from time to time, living with the brothers
of the same congregation among whom we find father Reginaldo,
very known preacher of the Dominicans.

Among the disciples of this father the most know by family,
studies and holiness was Marco Lanzi, a Bergamese gentlemen;
Agostino Barili, Bergamese gentleman of marvelous abstinence.
He was rector of the orphans of San Martino. He was fasting
on bread and water most of the time, eating very small pieces
of bread left over by the family, as I heard sometimes from
Bernardo Barili his nephew and Battista da Ramano,

The third Vincenzo, one of the Counts of Gambarana of whom I
heard things very worthy to remember. First that he was a
man of great charity toward the poor.

~28~

1




One winter day he was on a trip; ice and snow were cover-
ing the earth, He gave his socks to a poor with plagues on
his legs who asked him in the name of God; as the poor recei-
ved them, father moved aheed and the poor was seen no more,
The same after death he was honored as a saint by the Domini-
can fathers by whom he was buried reverently in their church
graciously and by christian charity, At his death the bells
of St, Geroldo of Cremona rang by themselves., The converted
women of Bergamo heard a voice lamenting his loss, because
the father who was governing them with great zeal and charity
was missing. The body of said father was moved from San Do~
menico to san AMlessandro because the church of San Domenico
was to be destroyed together with its monastery by order of
the Venetian Senate, The bearers were arguing with each other
and didn't want to carry the body thst was already rottening
and meleodorant, They were insisted upon and given promises,
8o they cerried on with the burisl, From the casquet was
flowing out a viscous fluid like balsam, so fragrant that was
stronger than any other odor or.liquor among us, The bearers
were astonished by the newness and grandeur of the miracle.

They wevecompeting with each other on how better they could colour
their clothes, the eyes and the face with those Precious drops,
The corps was passing through the street and a sick woifn, an
admirer of father when he was alive, raised a prayer to him,
touched and kissed the casquet, wet the "rosary with the flow-
ing blood, brought it close to the eyes and her sight was res-
tored. That rosary fell in the hands of father Scotti who
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became and died genersl of our Congregation, They say that even after many
years it smelled and was giving the same odor.

The fourth father was Angelo Marco Gambarana, cousin of the above named
man, full of singular humility and of very holy life. When he was rector of
San Martiho of Milano, He was dressed with vile and rough clothing, as the
orphans use., When old and sick, he hated to have any servant around him and
in his room, When blind he celebrated mass until the day before dying. He
predicted his death to the ministers of his house, The last night when he
died he made his bed, put in order the room as if in good healthj; he said the
divine office, went out of the room to the major altar of the church, where
stopping for a while, he cried, sobbed, prayed to heaven and earth to receive
his tired frail body and his spirit. Then he retired to a small chapel,knelt
on the floor in front of the altar of the crucifix, He prayed there for a
while, then he lied face down on the reclinatory, rose and placed his head on
the shouldey of ayoung man who was his guardian on that last night after a
very soave breath, accompanied by & lovable salute, he died. We think he went
to a better life. After desth even if he was consumed by the age and many
pysical indispositions for long years, his face was seen soft and purple or
vermilion colour of fresh roses. Gaspare, very honorable priest of Santo
Seplocro and his devotee, came the following day for confession., He saw him
in the coffin, smiled for joy and ordered him  dressed up with an ornament
very rich in gold, not wanting him to be dressed in lugubrious dress, whose
soul was happily dressing a very white stole in heaven, His body was buried
by the illustrious chapter of La Scala. The parish priest was wearing the
mitre and staff, crying a lot for he was very affectionate to the bounty and
known virtue of the father. At that time I was out of the Colombara and wettt
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many times to that father for confession.

The gentleman Leone Carpani was also s protegee from whom, almost by
miracle, he had the beginning of his spiritual life., Leone was all of the
wrld, sensual, dedicated to arms and contentions, When Miani visited him
simply at his villa, singing the litanies and psalms with the orphans, he was
suddenly converted into another man, He abandoned the world, changed customs,
renounced his properties, as I said above. Leone grew in such humility and
self’ contempt that he refused to be archbishop of Naples. The offer was made
by Pious V to whom father was so dear for the holiness of 1life and customs,
The Pope visited him privately at his death bed recommending his soul end ad-
ministering personally the anointing of the sick, Federico Panigarola, apos~
tolic protonotary, was also one of the first perfect followers of Miani, I
saw his portrait in the old facristy of Somasca, A certain Bartolomeo Manze-—
nelli, secretary of Francesco Sforza second Duque of Milano, Francesco Minotti,
a gentleman from Ferrara: excellent men in every virtue and perfect imitators
of Miani,

Subdens a se : Francesco Second Sforza had a peculiar experience of the sin~
cere bounty of Miani whose very exemplary life and pious ing-
titutions for caring for children deprived of every help and
human aid, induced that prince to offer him a great amount of
money, trying with that gift to see if he was armed against
the desire and hunger of gold. He found him invincible and
remained so much impressed by the magnamimity of such man that
he gave greater favors than he would ask for the orphans, in
giving the church and house of San Martino, bought with his mo-
ney from the Ospedale Maggiore the immunity of the millstone,
which is a great exemption,
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Super quarto articulo eidem lecto et interrogatus ut supra

He answered :

Subdens a se

Not far from Somasca, over a rocky hill, a very old rock is
built and is half destroyed, in which there are a few houses
along which there is a quite long yeard. Here one evening
father did not have enough provisions for the orphans. He
rose the eyes to heaven, sighed and prayed for a while. Then
keeping the brim of his poor cassock and placing in his busom
the bread he had in the house, he blessed it. Then he gave
order to the orphans starting from the youngest, to take the
bread from his apron as much as he needed. After the distri-
bution father found the same amount there was before, I heard
this from Bettista da Romano who was present and was one who
ate such bread, He told me also that the bread was multiplied
by father various times when it was really needed.

In the mortification of the senses and of the flesh we cannot
say the austerity and the marvelous rigor father Miani used

to have., Without talking the daily disciplines, the continuous
and very severe fasting on bread and water, the bed and place
alone where he was resting at night, could better be called
instrument of penance, the amusement of quiet and relief of the
body afflicted by the daily fatigues. When father was in So~
masca, he used to go, for the soul's quiet and for attending
more at ease to the meditation of the divine things, under the
cave of a hill where, with his own hands, he had made a small
habitat enough for a man. . Sometimes he was passing the night
and sleep on a small bed of rough and sharp stones one over the
other not kept together with cement., I saw it many times and
considered the roughness and it seemed to me that the name her-—
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witage is eppropniate, as father was end is called now, Not
far from this place Migni had built a small church, that I
also saw, called San Francesco of whom he was a very great
imitator., Over the !! eremo there is the rocea already named,
1 on which those first disciples of father built small and poor
rooms whose partitions were made of intertwined reeds, tied
together with osiers of willow and on the outside encrusted
and covered with white plaster. They also built on the same

d . rocca a small church in honour of the blessed Virgin and St.
. Ambrose where they were gathering for their devotions and the
d : divine office, Miani had there his room and bed certainly not

better or more delicate than at the eremo., The Toom Was poor
and narrow, The pillow was made of dried leaved of chestnut

. tree or stmaw or of the same reeds the rooms were made of,

The most important of them was sleeping and resting worse than
us the others, !
’ Subdens & se : between the above said roccs and another high rock there are
he 9till some remains of a house in which place father Miani used

. to go for retreat and very useful for prayer., One day as usual
he retired to contemplate the things of paradise. Over the

e lever where father was praying there is a rocky c¢liff. From

L there that day, while father, hands and eyes raised up to the

5 sky more warmed up than usual in that religious posture, here

the suddenly spring up a laud and linmfid gush of very pure water

1 which, bouncing on those tops, sprinkling this and that part

ST of the mountain, finally collected was falling sweetly to the
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feet of father, Father and his orphans had great need of it,
That spring lasted until father lived, All those passing by
for any business were drinking of it and sprinkling their feet
for devotion., It served the needs of the orphans for the time
they've been there. When father died the water ceased to flow,

The village and municipality of Somasca complained va—~
rious timee for the lack of priests and masses. Father Jerome,
who hadn't started the congregation yet, in one vccasion con-
soled the municipel authorities telling them to keep heart
that instead of a priest they were missing or locking for,
they would be having a congregation of exemplar people of holy
life serving them., I heard this from Antonio Airoldo, father
of George, our neighbor and benefactor in Somasca.

Super quinto articulo eidem testi lecto et interrogr’us etc...ut supra

He answered

About what your Lordship just told, I cannot help, I remem-
ber well that when I was in Somasca I heard from Battistino,
judge of Vercurago, far from Somasca about an arguebus shot
or a little more, that in Calolzio, Bergamese village about
a mile from Somasca, there was a man of honest condition for
the quality of the village, born in that place, He was crip-
pled for many years both of arms and legs. He could not walk
nor stand without crutches or "scanze" as some call them and
even with these he could hardly move, When the father died
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he was placed in the church of Somasca called San Bartolomeo,
The previous said sick person asked to be brought to Somasca,
He prayed our Lord that if that was his good servant to de-
monstrate it in his person curing him of that sickness which
humanly could not he healed, As he finished these words he
was perfectly sound, He left the crutches as testimony of
the miracle.

Subdens a se ipso: What I'm going to say will be a clear testimony of how
much the works of father Jerome were pleasing to God hecause

ta da Romano told me many times because he was present; also
father Guglielmo Tonso and others. The devil was showing him-
self often to the orphans in horrible and monstruous ways, He
was often I! turning off the light which was continuously on

* all night ldng in the dormitory, he was denuding the children
and bitting them often times; to some he left the shape of an
open hand with separated fingers. In order to free themselves
from this toil, by order of father, at the time of going to bed
and when going to rest, they would sing the anteéphone of the
Blessed Virgin, Salve Regina, They were freed. There is more:
In the refectory of Somasca, in the time when I was attending
studies of humanity under the rector Glovanni Battista Gonellio
and the master Pasio Bressiano, on the wall at the left side
where the rector and the master were sitting, there was a paint-
ing of the history of an angel who, elevated by his wings, was
giving an apple to a child, This child was heading & good num-
ber of other children who, two by two, were walking on the
mountainous way toward the rock, I did not know the meaning of
the story, so I asked those who knew and T was told: "The angel
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Subdens a se ipso: I don't want to leave apart in this deposiion of mine

appeated to one of those children of father Miani, offering
the apple. He refused it, excusing himself that he couldn't
take it without the permission of father Jerome with whom he
was living. After the permission of father Jerome he reve-
rently received it. In the act of extending the hand and gi-
ving the fruit, the angel said: "take, child, the fruit of
obedience," After taking it, he brought it immediately to
the superior father Miani.

gome very good orders made by father for the maintenance of
the institution which he founded, Regarding prayer he found
a brief, clear, distinct form in very beautiful chapters but
short for praying to our Lord for every grade, state, condi~-
tion of persons, where we discover the very excellent charity ‘f\
which was in him toward the common welfare of all men, .t ,
prayer was made ‘twice a day by the orphans assisted by the
rectors and others in charge: in the morning getting up and

at night !! going to bed. This tradition is still in use in
the pious places living under the discipline and care of our
fathers, in many seminaries and schools or academies of the
congregation: actually in the academy it is said in Latin, The
daily office of the blessed Virgin, the Rosary of the Madonna,
mental prayer morning and evening, the singing of psalms and
praising God almost all day long is a rule made by him in all

* ygpitals and houses for orphans, because while he was alive
the congregation did not have any other place, He ordered a
silence like the Carthusians at night, during the day at table;
in the workshops, except at the hours of praying and recrcation
which in those days was very short; none was allowing himself

<36




to talk without asking permission from whom could or used to
give it, The breaker of silence was severely punished,

He ordered that each accuse his faults once a week pub-
licly. The accusation was made with such submission of heart
and promptiless of will that the one who was accusing himself
better and submitting to the censures and corrections of the
superior was considered happy.

Besides silence he ordered to keep the eyes under good
guard and custody, When the orphans were at table, the reader
before reading, was intoning in aloud voice the prayer. All
were executing the order so well that robody knew what his
companions were eating.

He gave order that on the table be put those things col-
lected by alms, So much rigor was kept that meat wag never
bought, If by chance it was given and it was not enough for
everybody, it was to be given to the sick and old. The less
old and in good health were to be contented with only bread
and water,

The rectors, even if priests, were to live with what the
orphens had, and put on the same kind of clothes, They had
to earn their food with the sweat of their brow and the work
of their hands, I saw this order obeyed when I was young by
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Father don Francesco di Trento, who, later, was superior ge- .
neral and dying as a parish priest of San Biagio di Monte Ci-
torio in Rome, where he left a certain odor of meekness, kind-
ness and patience, This father was serving, making clothes
for the children, working in the garden and as a barber, as

I saw it in Vicenza and Milano.

Angelo Merco Gembarana, mentioned above by me, being al-
ready old, actually decrepit, used to complain about living
without dignity because he had to eat the bread earned by
others. Even if he was so old, he was writing, counseling,
teaching the children in the house, earning more than any
others, young and in good heglth, He was dressing as a poor,
using the vile cotton used by the children at funerals, He
used to live simply with extreme sobriety. With the gifts
and the alms he could feed himself and others, too.

He gave order that in the trips no horse, nor carriage
or any other commodity be used. All, except the sick and
aged, had to use their own feet, He was a living example of
this: he never travelled but by foot.

Deinde interrogatus de causa cognitionis eorum quae de=-
posuit, et primo: When, at what time, by whom and at whose
presence he heard that father Jerome was a Venetian noble who
went to war, was castellan, was captured and miraculously free.
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He answered : The first time I heard about what I'm interrogated now was in
5 Somasca, I was about 17 or 18 years old, T heard this in
many places where I went in our congregation, because these
things were said publicly by everybody, The one who told me
was Battista da Romano disciple of Miani in Somasca, There
were there !l also many clerics of St. Charles Seminary, which
was then in Somasca, who knew the previously said things and
were narrated at their presence. ;

/ AN ;

; Interrogated about the names of those who were {present when
¢ ’!} said Romano w narrating said things and about the place in
particular

He answered : There were many witnesses but I don't remember any one in par-
ticular for it was many years ago, Still I remember don Gio-
vanl Maria Corrali, Bernardino Aquila who are still alive
professed of the congregation, The place was where we were
having recreation and familiar conversations particularly when
we were going to see the eremo, the rocca, the valletta and
the woods with said Romano, It was during the chestnut collect-
ion the harvest of grapes or wood or other occasion,

Interrogated 'what kind of man Battista da Romano was; if he was a trugt-
worthy person

He answered : He was a lay professed of the congregation about 40 or 50 years
old, simple, devout and God-fearing person, He was fatiguing
very gladly, very practical about the things I depose for being
a student of father Jerome. He told me also that father was

. curing the ring-worms, scables, sickness of the feet of those

“sv Al poor kinds with his own hands, with great charity.
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| Interrogated if he believes that what said Romano says is all tr@

j He answered” : I believe that he said the truth because it matches witw

- , others say from Somasca, Triulzio, San Martino in Milanoyhat
J most known of them were Angelo Marco Gambarana, Giovanni Eﬁe
to and Bernardino Castellano, %

ﬂi Interrogated how he knows that father Jerome was the fifst founder of
the christian doctrine !

l He answered : From the universal voice of all the elders of my time; from
bl the institutions of the orphans who were taught with great

diligence in this doctrine; from a particular booklet order-d
| for this purpose by father Jerome, as I said aoove,

|u Interrogated from whom he heard about the way of dressing and earning
' his living with the work in the fields of father Jerome and of his mendicancy

1 He answered : From the named above Romano, from Mr, Antonio Airoldo of So-
masca, grave and trustworthy person, who attested that various

Hi times father Jerome worked in his fields and refused the offered

(] salary for the work. The same for the information about the

1 way of the base dressing habits we used to have when we were
young and about the mendicancy not only in the pious places of
orphans but also in Somasca, even if it was then seminary and

| school. Regarding the vile habit I can testify seeing father
Angelo Marco Gambarana, father Francesco Trento, father Bernar~
dino Castellani, father Giovanni Scoto keeping the same rough
and vile dress as they took from father Jerome,




Interrogated in which occasion Primo Conti narrated the things narrated
about the life and customs of father Miani

ol

He answered : Said don Primo was elected superintendent of the govermnment
of San Martino in Milano because of the integrity of life,
the close friendship with the other fathers and the help he
was giving to the youngs who were studying letters, During
the Winter evenings together with father Cesare Bottone, re-

{ gular cleric of our congregation, of good memory, and with
the gentleman canon of Lorena, living in San Martino, by fee
repeating the lessons he was frequenting at Brera regarding
Socrates and Cleander, he was taking the occasion of talking
abotit the bounty and holiness of father Jerome, known, very
loved and revered by him, His testimony is very trustworthy
for his great bounty, for the excellence of letters and the
esteem of St. Charles, of holy memory, always had of him,

ed Interrogated from whom and in what occasion he heard the statement Pious
V made in the public concistory regarding the bounty of 1life of father Jerome

He answered : I am sure I heard it from Primo Conti himself at the time and
occesion already said,

- Interrogated how he knows about the spiritual exercises, the prayer and
discipline of father Jerome and whom he heard it from




He answered

I heard about the tradition passed “lowly from his time to
mine from father Francesco Trento who was the admiration and
on the mouth of every elder as a very thorough imitator of the
piety and frequent prayer, in vhich I affirm I have seen him
so warm. sometimes as to cry, sigh and moan that he was ‘moving
even the others into crying and sighing with him, It was com-
mon knowledge at our times that it was mandatory to hear mass
every day and an order left by father Jerome to the whole
congregation, I remember that the superiors were keeping note
strictly about the orphans, tiae ministers of the congregation
listening to the mass daily,

Interrogated in what occasion the dugue of Milano Francesco Sforza offe-
red Miani the said quantity of money, from whom he heard it and in what occa-

sion

He answered

It was Paolo da Seriate, student of said father. He told me
this among other things when I was teaching humanities in the
Acedemy of Triulzio, T remember hearing it also from father
Bernardino Castellani, who became our general. It was when I
went to visit some churches, among which San Marco's in Mila-
no, for our spiritual rccreation., He showed me a very beauti-
ful vineyard and a spacious place where wool clothes were dried
up., He told me that al.. that was generously refused by the
elder fathers even if they could have had it as a gift, I
tried to know from that father the rwason why our elders were
despising riches so much. He answered that that was an
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irrefragable statute of father Jerome, guarded by him and
left to the congregation,

_Interrogated how he knows about Jerome's disciples and if he knew them,
in what Place, circumstance and particularly of father Vincenzo Gambarana,

He answered : of these I knew father don Angelo Gambarana first general of
our congregation to whom I confessed many times, What I de~
posed regarding his life and death, I testify having seen it
for a good part with my own.eyes, partly from many and serious
witnesses, What I saw was the kindness, humility, charity,
patience, baseness of dressing, contempt of every temporal
convenience, the religiosity and daily use of celebrating, the
blindness, the assistance by the priests Pietro Stella of Bres-
cia and Pietro Cavalline of Padova both of the congregation
while he was sacrificing, The way of dying, the preparation
he did and what happensd after, T heard from father Matteo of
Se..ona, very excellent doctor and theologian, who, as doctor
together with the happy memory of Mr. Giovan Angelo Cerri,
protophysician at that time and doctor of the house, had him
put the "strentori" in order *o clarify if he was in coma or
deads from Giovan Antonio, gold artisan from Milano, "ecommesso"
and mein minister of that house; from Antomio Milanese who was
present at father's death and from many others of which some
are dead and some alive,

Regarding father Leone Carparl I heard different things from - *ferent
people which are summarized above, I heard it from Primo de Conti, above named,
who knew father very well because he had the power of alienating and disposing
of the goods of Merone, This don Primo used to talk often about father Jerome,
of'tten also was he refreshing father Leone's memory. The other witness Battista
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da Romano was professed minister of our congregatlon. He used to retell us
young often times the virtue of that father making us happy. From Primo Con-
ti in Milano st San Mertino, from Romano in Somasca at the times I said before,
I also knew father don Francesgo de Trento who was also my superior in Vicen~
za and Milano. The above named T knew them if not by fame and universel fame,
passed from the elders to us. Regarding father Vincenzo Gambarana's marvelous
life end the things said before I heard from Fother Guglielmo Tonso Pavese in
our house in Bergamo various timee with great pleasure of my heart. I trust
it because the person is serious and he was one of the first of the congrega-
tion at his time and present to what I have said,

Interrogated when he heard from Battista da Romano about the multiplica-
tion of bread and at whose presence

He answered : Among other times I par*icularly remember that it was grapes
harvest., In the eveninz I went with Romano to the rocca, by
me named various times, where he showed me the place of the
miracle and explained it the way I said it.

Interrogated about the quality of the bread and the number of people who
were satiated

He answered : Regarding the quality it's clear that because father was living
only on the bread that the orphans were mendicating for God in
those villages of San Martino Valley and the hills of Brianza,
it was of different mixtures as the poor used to eat. Regarding
the number there were some small pieces which were not enough
for the humber of mouths, so we had to recommend ourselves to
God in this need. I wouldn't remember exactly the number, but
there weré many persons. .
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. Interrogated what news he had about the bed and the room for the prayer
of father Jerome

He answered, : In the Collegio and in our house of Somasca at the time when
I was a !! Student there wasn't any major youngster of the
Shi Chﬂrles' seminary or. any of our fathers and brothers which
wouldn't celebrate those above said places as sanctified by
the room and the quiet of father Jerome, They were talking
about them as of famous and known by everybody.

Interrogated about the water that sprung from the rock by the prayer of
father Jerome,

He enswered : Thislfant wes of pv’ .jc domain and common knowledge,not only
in our house but in the whole territory of Somasca, The same
is abou% what I said regarding the eremo and the other rooms
of father. Battista da Romano especially many times talked
about it in the occasion of the harvest of .hestnuts near the
place where the water was flowing,

Interrogated wkzn Bat+1stino, nemed witness, narrated about the sick who
was healed in the church of Sen Bartolomeo,

He answered : Tha: good old man Battistino was one day working in that part
of the gardnn where the fish tank was. It was about noon and
it was hot. I had gone with a book in my hands under the tree
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which was over the fish tank at the side of the road, I star-
ted talking with the above said inviting him to rest with me' -
under the shade, I knew that Battistino was fully informesd
about the beginning of the institution of our congregation,

I started asking many things, He came incidentally to talk
about father Jerome. I noticed that he bent the head and
called him with the title of saint., I asked him the reason

of such reverence and tile, He said that it was because of
the holiness of life and the miraculous works made after deathj
he was thinking that he deserved to be called thet way and
revered, I was curious to know what he knew about the mira-
cles. Among others which I don't remember because it was '
long time ago, there was the one of the crippled man, I kept
memory of this miracle for it's importance.!! ‘

Interrogated what kind of man this Battistino was and if he sald that
he was present when the crippled was cured and if he touched the body of the
defunc®t father,

He znawered : Battistino who was nicknamed judge, was a man of simple na=
ture and good manners, an old worket of our house since the
days of blessed Jerome. In the above mentioned occagion not
only once but various times he narrated good part of thé a-
bovo said things., 'Besides his kindness I think he is worthy
of faith for his age.. He was then very old. He told me that
he saw the miracle of the cripple with his own eyes, adding,
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besides the prayer of the sick, that he tried to get closer
to the coffin., When he got there he said the over said words
touching the father's body with great. devotion. He was cured
as above said,

Interrogated how he got the news of the orders testified by him and how
much time it wag since he heard all these things he narrated

He enswered : T believe all the things I said because I saw written memories
by the harnd of father Jerome, because in my youth I observed
with great rigour a good part of these orders and also because
of the way of living since my entrance in religion which is
publicly believed that it was started by the very founder of
the congregation,

Quac omnia per eum depsita dixit esse vera, publica et noto-
ria, eaque scire, dicerc rationibus et causis per eum deduc-
tis,

Super generalibus recte etc., salvo ut supra, non tamen etc.,
et est aetatis annorum quinquaginta novem vel cira.

Subscriptum Iaccbus Antonius Cerrutus notarius actuarius cancellariae
archiepiscopalis Mediolani recepit et pro fide subscripsit.

Marius Antonius iuris utriisque doctor, prothonotarius apostolicus, cu-
riae archiepiscopalis Mediolani vicarius generalis. Universis etc., fidem
facimus et attestamur supracsiptum f! Iacobum Antonium Cerrutum fuisse et
~sse publicum, legalem et auttenticum notarium actuarium, prout se subscrip-
sit, eiusque instrumentis et scripturis publicis per eum cobfectis et aubsc—

riptis, plenam et idubitatam semper adhibitam fuisse et esse fidem, in dies-
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quo sohiberi in iuditio et extrs, In quorum etc,, Datum Mediolani ex palla-
tio avchiepiscopelisdie lunae vigesime octava mensis septembris 1615, indi-
tiore decima quarta, Signatum: Marius Antoninus vicarius generalis. Et subs-

crivtnm: Dominicus regretus coadiutor cancellariae archiepiscopalis Mediola~
ni

gubscripeit ete,, cum signo logalitatis anteposito etc,










